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The GPT Group
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File No 34819

GPT RE Limited GPT Management Holdings Level 52 T-+81 28239 3585
ABN 27 107 426 504 Limitad MLC Centre F: 461292253318
a3 Responsible Entity of ABN 67 113 510 188 19 Martin Place E: gpt@gpt.com.au
General Property Trust Sydney NSW 2000 waww.gpt.com.au
AFSL 250128 Australia

The Manager

Companles Section

Austrafian Stock Exchange Limited {Sydney)

20 Bridge Street

SYDNEY NSW 2000

By electronic lodgement

GPT Group

24 February 2006

Dear Sir,

1. Full Year Results for period to 31 December 2005

Pleass find atieched stalement regarding GPT's results for the twelve months fo 31 December 2005, Also
attached are GPT's audited financiat statements for the twelve months to 31 December 2005, ASX Appendix
4E and the financial statements for GPT Management Holdings Limited.

2. December Quarter Distribution

GPT advises the income distribution for the quarter ended 31 December 2005 will be 6.6 cents per stapled
security. This comprises:

Trust Distribution 6.6 cents
Company Dividend Nil
Total Amount Distributed 6.6 cenls

{a} Trust Distribution

A distribution for the three manths ended 31 December 2005 of 6.8 cents per security will be paid on 24 March
2006 {the disribution for the three months ended 31 December 2004 was 5.6 cenis per security and the
distribution for the three months ended 30 September 2005 was 8.4 cents per security).

{b} Income Tax Deferred Component

The distribution advice for the December quarter will advise that no component of the distribution is tax
deferred.

{c) Company Dividend

No dividend will be paid for this period.

{d} Baoks Closing Date

In accordance with Listing Rele 3A(5), we give formal nofice that the register of security holders will close at

5.00 pm, 7 March 20086 for the purpose of determining those security holders entifled fo participate in the
distribution for the quarter ended 31 December 2005, payabis on 24 March 2008.




SORpAUY - Ul ke Limited
File No 34819

Documents will be accepted for registration until 5.00 pm on the books closing date al the Sydney Register
only:

Securifies Registration Services
Link Market Services Limited
Level 12, 680 George Street
SYDNEY NSW 2000

Yours faithfully,

James A Coyne
Company Secretary
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THE GPT GROUP ANNOUNCES

2005 Annual Results

The GPT Group 24 February 2006

The GPT Group delivers underlying earnings growth of 14.5%

GPT today announced a full year result in line with the Group’s forecast contained in the May
2005 Notice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum (EM), reflecting the initial benefits of the
successful internalisation and returns from the Group’s Joint Venture with Babcock & Brown
(JV). Whilst the benefit of the internalisation of management and investment in the JV only
impacted financial performance in the second haif, ongoing robust performance from GPT's
established domestic portfolio was also achieved, contributing to this positive resuit.

Consequently, the Group is well positioned to achieve the significant increases in income to
investors forecast over 2006.

Whilst reported profit after tax under the new International Financial Reporting Standards (A-
IFRS) is $566.8 million, a more accurate reflection of GPT's underlying performance is the
distribution paid to Securityholders which is comparable to the previous reported profit. This
figure (representing GPT's realised operafing income) increased by 11.4% on the previous
period, to $492.3 million (up from $442.0 million in 2004) and in line with the EM forecast of
$492.0 million.

A payment to Securityholders of 8.6 cenis per security (cps) for the December quarter was
announced, taking the distribution for the 2005 calendar year to 24 .4 cps, up from 22.0 cps in
2004. This represents an increase of 10.9%, in line with the forecast for the peried.

Underlying earnings per security increased by 14.5% {compared to the previous corresponding
period)’, representing growth from the core portfolio, the initial impacts of the saving in

management fees previously paid to Lend Lease and the contribution from the JV.

" Exciudes the impact of performance fee paid in 2004, costs associated with the Stockland takeover offer and internalisation
proposal. Also excludes the impact of the adoption of A-IFRS on the financial statements. Eamings per security is before fair value
adjustments, recognition of rent frees, amortisation of lease incentives, profit on disposat of properties, costs associated with
internalisation and finance costs o Securifyholders.

Page 1



The JV remains on track to be fully invested by the end of 2008, having already completed $2.4
billioen in acquisitions at 31 December 2005, with another $1.1 billien in acquisitions completed or
under confract since.

CEO of the GPT Group, Mr Nic Lyons, said he was pleased to report an excellent result from
GPT's property portfolio and the pesitive impact of recent changes in the Group’s structure and
strategy.

*As GPT is now an independent stapled entity reperiing under A-IFRS, our financial
performance is presented in a format that is different from previous years. This result delivers on
our earnings and distribution growth forecasts and demonstrates the initial benefits of GPT's

new structure and expanded operations.

“This result effectively positions GPT to deiiver an increase in distributions this year (with a
forecast of 27.5 cps) and substantial distribution growth in the years ahead. With the
internalisation now complete we have a strong team committed to delivering results for our
investors.

“GPT's $9.3 billion core Australian portfolio has benefited from focused active management and
development in this period, iflusirated by an increase in income. These results reflected not only
the quality of existing assets but the benefit of recent developments and acquisitions,” Mr Lyons

said.

Internalisation Update

The internalisation of management was completed over the period, with GPT operating from
new premises in the MLC Centre since 6 June 2005 and the full transfer of staff and systems

completed in August 2005,

Final transition costs were in line with the forecast outlined in the EM. In addition, a payment fo

Lend Lease, of $16.5 million, was well below the $45 million originally contemplated in the EM.
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GPT's management team now undertakes the propesty management of GPT’s 10 fully owned
shopping centres and 10 Homemaker City assets and has established resources in the US and
Europe to provide asset management for the shopping centre assets in the JV.

“We have an outstanding team of committed property professionals who are experienced with

GPT's assets and focused on delivering strong investment returns.” Mr Lyons said.

On 1 July 2005, GPT announced impiementation of the Penrith and Woden Plaza transactions
outlined in the EM. Westfield has replaced Lend Lease as manager of these assets and GPT
continues as a 50% owner in each of these centres. The option agreement with Westfield in

respect of Sunshine Plaza has now lapsed and GPT retains its 50% interest in the Centre®.

The JV has made great progress over the period, having now acquired $2.4 billion in assets
across its Portfolios of German Office, German Residential, European Retail, European Light
Industrial and US Retail assets. A further $1.1 billion of acquisitions are currently progressed.
The pipeline of acquisitions, a key determinant of the future success of the JV, is strong, with
additional assets currenily under negotiation and a range of opportunities progressively being

reviewed.

GPT's current investment in the JV represents just over 8% of the Group's total property
invesiments.

“We continue to be impressed with the quality of the opportunities available to the JV and are
confident in the ability of the JV to deliver long-term value to GPT investors. We have an
excellent working relationship with Babcock & Brown and now have our own dedicated team in

place, with staff in Europe and the US as well as in Australia.

“We remain confident of having the JV fully invested in line with our target of December 2006,
and our current level of assets acquired and under contract represents 84% of this target,” Mr

Lyons said.

Mr Lyons said GPT was in great shape to deliver on the forecast for a distribution of 27.5 cps for
the year ending 31 December 2008, as outlined in GPT's EM.

*Lend Lease are currently appealing a decision in relation to the pre-emptive righls associaled with this asset.
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‘In addifion to performance from GPT's quality core portfolio, we have a number of
developments due to commence over the year which will further enhance long-term performance
from the investment portfolio. A full year of fee savings as a result of the internalisation and the
benefit of the JV investment will assist in driving returns to investors in 20C8. Investors will aiso
benefit in the medium term from the opportunity to recycle capital and the broader range of
opportunities available to GPT as a stapled entity.”

“‘With the JV and internaiisation now established, we are beginning to focus on the next
opportunities for GPT to enhance returns, including the establishment of the JV's funds
management business,” Mr Lyons said.

As outlined in the EM, cost savings have been achieved as a result of the internalisation and
GPT's management expense ratio, previously a range of 45-80 basis points under Lend Lease’s
management, has now been reduced to approximately 28 basis points.

Australian Property Portfolio Performance

GPT's core portfolio is a major driver of performance. A number of opportunities that will
contribute to medium-term earnings growth from the core portiolio were identified and
implemented over 2005.

GPT's large scale retail development pipeline made considerable progress during the period.

The $280 million Meibourne Central redevelopment was completed in September and the
refurbished Centre is trading well.

A major expansion of Penrith Plaza (renamed Westfield Penrith) opened on schedule and fully
leased in November. At Macarthur Square, the first stage of the redevelopment opened in
November, with the second stage expected to be finalised, as planned, in the first half of 20086.
Future developments, including the creation of the Rouse Hill Town Centre, and expansions of
Chariestown Square and Wollongong Central, also achieved key milestones during the period.
GPT will commence construction on the $470 million Rouse Hill Town Centre, a major greenfield
development located in a strong trade area, in March 2006.
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In the Office Portfolio, the third and final stage of the Darling Park Compiex in Sydney was
completed ahead of schedule, and only three floors remain to be leased. GPT agreed to sell 120
King Street, Melbourne, a smali non-core asset originally acquired with the adjacent 530 Collins
Street, in December for $9.3 million.

The Industrial/Business Park Portfolio achieved additional growth with a major lease
commitment to Coles Myer for a new 74,700 sgm national distribution centre at the Austrak
Business Park in Somerton, Victoria and acquisitions at Homebush Bay in NSW and
Yeerongpilly in Queensland. Construction on the final stage of the Quad at Homebush Bay has

also commenced and in February 2008 the addition of a further six assets was announced.

GPT's hotel/tourism assets benefited from improved inbound tourism in 2005, with strong
increases in income at the Portfolio’s two major assets — Ayers Rock Resort and the Four Points
by Sheraton in Sydney.

Operationally, the Group's property porifolios continue to deliver sofid retums and income
growth, with each portfolio increasing income over the previous corresponding period. High
productivity levels, reasonable occupancy costs and almost full occupancy across the Retail
Portfolio, position it for continued growth. Income from the Hotel/Tourism Portfolio increased (up
almost 9% on a like for like basis) despite weaker than expected domaestic travel, due largely to

the positive impact of increased inbound tourism.

Whilst demand across the office sector has been inconsistent, there are clearly early signs of
improving conditions and GPT’'s Office Portfolio maintained income, with occupancy of 95%
(excluding Darling Park 3). The industrial/Business Park Portfolio delivered sclid income growth
and recent acquisitions have expanded the development pipeline in this sector, and will
contribute to increased income in 2006.

Capital Management
GPT maintains its strong balance sheet. As at 31 December 2005, GPT had total assets of

$10.4 billion and borrowings of $3.8 billion, or 35% of total assets. This level of borrowing
remains below the LPT sector average of 39%.

The current weighted average interest rate of GPT's debt is 5.45% (after fees and margins).
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Yield

The yield on the closing price yesterday of $4.14 was 6.6% (based on forecast 20086
distributions).

NTA

Net Tangible Asset Backing (NTA) per security increased to $3.16, an increase of
14 cents on the 31 December 2004 NTA. The allocation of NTA between the Trust Unit and GPT
Management Holdings Limited Share is $3.02 and $0.14, respectively.

Security Price
GPT Securities closed at $4.10 on 31 December 2005, up from $3.74 at 31 December 2004.

The price performance of GPT Securities since the internalisation has been consistently strong.

GPT's full year accumulation (security price movement and income) return for the year to 31
December 2005 was 18.7%, well above the S&P/ASX Preoperty 200 Accumulation Index return
of 12.5%.

Qutlook

Mr Lyons said he remained confident in the ability of the Group to deliver the forecasts outlined
inthe EM.

“We have a clear strategy and direction and an energetic and committed team. We remain
focused on delivering the significant growth forecast for 2006 and on further improving future
returns,” Mr Lyons said.

ENDS

For further information contact:

Nic Lyons Michael O’'Brien

CEO Chietf Operating Officer

02 8239 3565 02 8239 3544

0401 719 899 0417 691 028

Kieran Pryke Donna Byrne

CFO Head of Investor Relations &
02 8239 3547 Corporate Affairs

0413 882 524 02 8239 3815

0401 711 642
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

JV

The JV is well on track to be fully invested by December 2008, with a total of $3.5 billion in
assets now secured. The JV's $28.2 million income (before funding costs) for the pericd
included a $5.8 million contribution from Babcock & Brown.

Neil Tobin, General Manager, JV for GPT said the Portfolio had already achieved significant
diversity and scale.

“We have already made solid progress in aggregating portfolios of significant scale and diversity,
in line with our strategy, with retail portfolios in Europe and the US, a portfolic of European Light

Industrial and portfolios of German Residential and Office forming a solid base for future growth.

“The original $1.1 billion of seed assets were supplemented with the announcement of a further
$1.3 billion in assets in October and since then a further $1.1 billion of assets have been
secured. Initial trading profits were achieved through remixing the German Residential portfolio,
with the sale of portions of the Salzgitter and AMB Generali portfolios for $246 million generating
a profit of $8 million.

‘GPT has now been appointed as the asset manager for the European and US shopping centre
assets. The relocation of two of GPT’s senior refail managers to the US and Europe should
assist in maximising the performance of these assets and evaluating future shopping centre

investment opportunities in these markets.”

“The current Fund has scale, is well diversified and gives the JV access to a range of markets

and sectors,” Mr Tobin said.

The JV assets include:
» A S0% interest in a portfolio of six shopping centres located in the south east of the US.

« A portfolio of light industrial assets located in the European markets of the Netherlands,
Germany and France. To date, 26 assets, with a value of $538 million, have been

secured.
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» A range of retail formats located across Germany, characterised by long leases and
strong tenant covenants and shopping centres in Poland and the Czech Republic with a
value of 3865 million.

+ Residential assets in a number of locations throughout Germany, with a value of $1.3

billion.

Retail Portfolio
Head of Retail for GPT, Mr Mark Fockes, said GPT’s Retail Portfolic had delivered strong
performance over 2005, with income growth of 4.3% on a comparable basis and GPT's

shopping centres continuing to trade above industry sales productivity benchmarks.

Regional speciaity sales of $9,083 per sgm across GPT's shopping centres remain above the
industry average and regional specialty occupancy costs, at 14.7%, provide prospects for
continued good rental income growth. Comparable centre sales growth across GPT's shopping
centres was 3.6% and comparable specialty sales growth was 3.3% in the year to 31 December
2008.

Across GPT's managed shopping centre portfolio, tess than 0.5% of gross lettable area {GLA) is
vacant, and arrears remain very low with debtors representing less than 0.1% of annual billings.

Transactions

Construction of the 16,000 sqm second stage of Fortitude Valley Homemaker City, in Brisbane,
at a cost of $53 million, was completed in July 2005. The remaining component of the first stage
of the Centre, strategically located between the ftwo stages of the development already owned
by GPT, was acquired in March 2005 for $35.6 million. GPT now has a $126 million bulky goods

centre of significant scale at Fortitude Valley.

GPT continued to rationalise the Homemaker City Portfolio with the sale of Homemaker City
centres at Underwood and Castle Hill. The assets, which were considered non-core assets, had
been acquired with the original homemaker portfolic in November 2001 and were sold for a total

of $48 million, $8.7 million above GPT's fair value for the assets.
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Development Update

A number of major developments achieved completion over 2005. The major redevelopment of
Melbourne Central (at a cost of $260 million) was completed in September 2005. Almost all of
the 305 tenancies are open and trading, including Hoyts Cinemas and mini-major retailers such
as Borders, Coles Central, Freedom and BaySwiss. The project is forecast to achieve an 8%

yield.

GPT's retail team also completed the $70 million expansion of Westfield Penrith (GPT's 50%
share) in November 2005. The expansion was completed on schedule and fully leased and is on

track to achieve a 8% yield, in excess of the targeted 8%.

The $109 million {(GPT’'s 50% share) expansion of Macarthur Square is also progressing well
with income 92% committed. The first stage opened in November 2005 and the second stage of
the development, which includes the Town Square precinct, will open in March 2006. An 8%

yield is anticipated on cost.

Across the Retail Portfolio, projects with a potential value of over $1 billion over the next four

years will be a key driver of growth in future years.

Construction of GPT's Rouse Hill Town Centre, in Sydney’s north west, is due to commence in
the first half of 2008. The Town Centre is one of the last major greenfield regional retail
opportunities within the Sydney metropolitan area and represents a unique oppoertunity for the
Group to develop a hew retail precinct as part of a planned community. GPT will deveiop and
own the Town Centre and is in joint venture with Lend Lease to develop the remaining facilities
and the residential component of this large-scale project. The Town Centre is expected to cost
approximately $470 million to develop, and to deliver a strong return due to the strength of the

trade area and its future growth potential.

At Charlestown Square, masterplanning is advanced for a proposed expansion of the 47,000
sgm Centre to approximately 80,000 sgm. An extensive community and authority engagement
program has already been conducted and GPT is in the process of acquiring land from Lake

Macquarie Council to faciiitate the development.
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“‘Cur Retail assets have benefited from intensive management and prudent ongoing
development. in 2008, we will see the benefit of redevelopments at Penrith, Macarthur Square
and Melbourne Central. These, combined with developments such as the expansion of
Charlestown Square and the creation of a major retail, leisure and community centre at Rouse
Hill, which will be underway over the next 12 months, will deliver further income growth in the
medium term,” Mr Fookes said.

GPT's retail team transitioned in August 2005 and is now entirely focused on delivering value for
investors. The development and property management teams have put in place appropriate
processes and systems to maximise the value and performance of GPT's retail assets.

“‘Opportunities to extract further investment performance through active management and
development of existing assets will be a key focus of the retail team and we remain confident the
Portfolio can continue to deliver strong results,” Mr Fookes said.

Subseqguent to year-end, GPT announced the Group had been selected as the successful bidder
for a 50% interest in Highpeoint Shopping Centre in Melbourne, one of Australia's leading
regional assets. The acquisition, which includes the management rights to the Centre, remains
subject to Myer Limited not exercising its first right of refusal to acquire this interest in the asset.
It is anticipated the outcome of this process will be known by the end of March 2006. Highpoint
is an exceptional asset, located in a strong trade area and with significant opportunities for future
growth. The Centre will make a strong addition to GPT's Retail Portfolio and future returns to

investors.

Office Portfolio

Despite challenging market conditions, characterised by soft demand in the major market of

Sydney, GPT’s Cffice Portfolio performed well, maintaining income and increasing occupancy.

Across GPT's $3.5 billion Office Portfolio, over 108,000 sqgm was leased in the 12 months to
December 2005, resulting in an overall occupancy of 94.9% for the Portfolio (excluding Darling
Park Stage 3). This represented an increase in occupancy at December 2004 and is above
market occupancy of 92.9%.
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Mr Tony Cope, GPT's Office Portfolio Manager, said GPT coniinued to expect income growth in
the medium term from the Office Portfolio and was clearly seeing signs of improving market
conditions, particularly in the Sydney market. GPT retains a long average lease term of 6.2
years and limited short-term expiry across the Portfolio, with only 5% of space across the
500,000 sqm Portfolio expiring over 20086.

“Our success in continuing to lease space across our assets and to undertake lease renewals
well in advance of expiry underpinned solid performance from the Porifolio. Economic
fundamentals are positive and are supporting a return to more favourable conditions across the
markets, with commensurate uplift expected in the returns from GPT’s Office Portfolio over the
medium term,” Mr Cope said.

Acquisitions and developments

The third stage of the Darling Park Complex in Sydney, acquired by GPT in April 2004, was
completed ahead of schedule in November 2005. The development, anticipated to provide g first
year yield of 7.2%, consists of an 18 level (28,700 sqm) office tower and 160 car spaces. In
August 2005, GPT agreed terms over 8,000 sgm of high rise space to Rabobank, leaving only
three floors to be leased.

Contracts were exchanged for the sale of 120 King Street Melbourne in December 2005 for $2.3
million, representing a profit on the sale of this asset. The 3,700 sgm asset was a non-core
asset originally acquired in 1898 with the larger 530 Collins Street.

Leasing
Over 108,000 sqm was leased or renewed across GPT’s office assets over 2005 and terms

were agreed for a further 36,400 sgm in the last quarter of 2005. This leasing, undertaken
across a range of assets within the Portfolio, included:

s« At Australia Square, in Sydney, occupancy increased to 88.3%, up from 85.2% at
December 2004 with almost 14,000 sgm ieased or renewed, including leases to Abbott
Tout, Thomson Playford Services and Quinion Investments Pty Lid.

« Alsoc in Sydney, leasing at 179 Elizabeth Street increased occupancy at this asset to over
80%, while 8,700 sqm was leased and terms agreed over a further 8,500 sgqm at the
MLC Centre.
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e At Melbourne Central, leases over 17,100 sgm to a range of tenants, including Telstra,

the ACCC and Financial Synergy. The asset is now 100% occupied.

s Strong leasing at the Riverside Centre in Brisbane, where over 16,000 sqm was leased

or renewed over the year, contributed to full occupancy at this asset.

“We are continuing to focus on expiry across our assets to maintain a balanced expiry profile.
Overall, we are pleased with the performance and position of the Portfolio, although future
performance will depend on improvements in demand over 20086.

“Positive leading indicators in terms of job advertisements, employment gains and heightened
business investment continue to point in the right direction, so we are optimistic. The
performance of the Portfolio in the medium term is expected to improve as office markets
strengthen, supply abates - particularly in Sydney - and we benefit from the first period of
income from Darling Park Stage 3,” said Mr Cope.

Hotel/Tourism Porifolic

Mr Bruce Morris, GPT's Hotel/Tourism Portfolio Manager, said that increased inbound tourism
and improved room rates had assisted GPT's Porifolio to achieve comparable income growth of
8.9%.

Our major assets Ayers Rock Resort and Four Points increased income by 8.2% and 8.1%
respectively.

“Solid growth in inbound tourism to Australia was the principal driver of increased revenue at
Ayers Rock Resort, whilst the Four Points by Sheraton and Brisbane Holiday Inn’s occupancy
and room rate were supported by positive corporate and leisure demand. We are anticipating
these improvements in performance to continue as we move into 2008,” Mr Mortis said.

The performance of Voyages Lodges was impacied by a relatively soft domestic tourism market,
in part a function of increased outbound travel by Australians. The Lodges portfolio has now
been fully integrated into Voyages’ operations, delivering on forecast cost savings and providing
a platform to market the Lodges resorts to key inbound markets in conjunction with Ayers Rock
Resort.
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On July 2005, the Lodges portfolio was expanded with the acquisition of El Questro Resort in
Western Australia. The Resort was acquired for $17.4 million and is anticipated to deliver a year
one yield of approximately 10%.

The long-term outlook for inbound tourism to Australia remains positive, with growth of 5-6% pa
forecast to 2014. Domestic demand conditions, however, are expected to be relatively flat this
year.

“The prospects for GPT’s Hotel/Tourism Portfolio, which has an unrivalled position in the nature-
based tourism sector and a range of quality assets in major Australian tourism locations, remain

strong,” Mr Morris said.

Industrial/Business Park Portfolio
GPT's Industrial/Business Park Portfolio grew to $418 million at 31 December 2005, with

acquisitions at Homebush Bay and Yeerongpilly and the benefit of significant leasing at the

Austrak Business Park in Somerton, Victoria. Since the close of 2005, the Portfolio has
announced the acquisition of a further $84 miflion in assets, further enhancing the scale,

diversity and development potential of this Portiolio.

Mr Victor Georos, Industrial/Business Park Portfolio Manager, said the Portfclio was delivering
on its strategy of poesitioning for growth through development, with significant income growth
secured through recent leasing precommitments. During 2005, over 347,000 sgm was leased or
renewed at GPT's assets. This included major leases to P&O Ports Ltd (of the terminal at the
Austrak Business Park in Somerton on a 10 year term) and a precommitment by Coles Myer,
announced in July, for the construction of a new 74,700 sqm naticnal distribution facility, also at

Somerton, on a 20 year term.

Across the Portfolio, occupancy is currently at 98.4% (including land leases) and the average

lease term is 6.1 years (by income).

GPT's presence at Homebush Bay in NSW has been further extended with the Quad 4
development commencing in December 2005 and due to be complete at the end of 2006.
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GPT acquired 5 Figtree Drive at Homebush Bay, enhancing the long-term expansion potential of
this precinet in July 2005, at a cost of $18 million {excluding acquisition costs) on an initial yield
of 7.5%. GPT has now consoclidated three adjoining sites at Olympic Park which have the
potential for a major business park development.

In December 2005, GPT acquired 973 Fairfield Road, Yeerongpilly (Queensland), an 8 level
building with over 3,400 sgm of warehouse space. The acquisition, at a cost of $12.4 million,

{excluding acquisition costs), has an initial yield of 8%.

On 17 February 2008, GPT announced the exchange of contracts for the purchase of six
industrial assets located in key industrial markets across Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane and
Canberra. The acquisitions significantly expand the secale and diversity and also enhance the
long-term development potential of the Industrial/Business Park Portfolic. These assets, at a
cost of $84.4 million (excluding acquisition costs), will provide an initial yield of 8.4% and have a
weighted average lease expiry profile in excess of 9 years. The majority of the assets have long-
term leases in place with major corporate and government tenants, including the National

Archives, Smorgon Steel and Vodafone, and provide growth through structured rental increases.

“We have expanded the Portfolio’s scale and diversity over the year and into 2006. The Portfolio
retains further expansion land across a range of assets, which will facilitate medium-term growth
with over 500,000 sqm of expansion land available across GPT's assets. Investors will also
benefit from income growth in the medium term as new facilities at Somerton and Homebush

Bay are completed over the next 18 months,” Mr Georos said.

Urban Communities

Further progress was made on both the Rouse Hill Regional Centre (NSW) and the Twin Waters
development (Queensland) over 2005.

The precinct masterplan for Rouse Hill Town Centre, which includes the retail Town Centre and

associated infrastructure, was approved in July 2005, paving the way for commencement of the
project in early 20086.
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At the Twin Waters development, in Mudjimba, Queensland, both the resort and golf course
were sold during the year. The sale of the goif course delivered a significant profit and the sale
of the Resort, which is due fo settle in the first half of 2006, will also realise a strong profit, with

the sale price reflecting an internal rate of return in excess of 20% (pre-tax).

Construction on Stage 1 of the development, which consists of 84 residential lots, is anticipated
to commence this year.
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Financial Summary

Distributions

Earnings {(cents per security)
Distribution (cents per security)
Tax advantaged

Total Income

Retail

Office

Hotel/Tourism
Industrial/Business Park
Urban Communities
Joint Venture

Assets

Total assets

Borrowings

Debt to total assets
Securities on issue ('000)
Net asset backing/security
Security price

Retail
Total value
Portfolio allocation (by value)

Office
Total vaiue
Portfolio allocation (by value)

Hotel/Tourism
Total value
Portfolio allocation (by value)

Industrial/Business Park
Total value
Portfolio allocation (by value)

Urban Communities
Total value

Equity Investment in JV
Allocation

12 months to December
2004

21.3
220
44 9%

$287.5m**
$225.0m

$61.7m

$23.0m

$2.8m

na

At 31 December
2004

$9,097.0m
$2,698.6m
30%
2,016,717
$3.02
$3.74

$4,749.5m™
53%

$3,078.9m
34%

$776.6m
9%

$327.8m
4%

$36.1m

na

1 UM IO D501 Y

12 months to December
2005

24.4
24.4
18.4%*

$304.5m
$228.9m

$76.8m

$26.4m

$4.7m

$20.2m

At 31 December
2005

$10,431.7m
$3,628.2m
35%
2,018,717
$3.16
$4.10

$4,485.8m
44%

$3,480.7m
34%

$876.3m
9%

$418.3
4%

$40.2m
<1%
$843.8m
8%

Includes the impact of the sale of interests in Woden Plaza and Penrith Plaza which realised a significant capilaf

gain.

Income includes ground rent and income from deposits under retail property JVIA (Sunshine Plaza).
Includes deposits under retail property JVIA (Sunshine Plaza)
Note: At balance date AUD/USD 0.7344 and AUD/EUR 0.6198.

ENDS
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Appendix 4E

Preliminary final report

Tniroduced 31/12/2003,

Name of entity

entities

The GPT Group (GPT) comprising. of General Property Trust and its controlted

ABN or equivalent company
reference

58 071 755 609

Results for announcement to the market

Full year ended {*cunvent perjod’)

31 December 2005

SA'm

Revenues from ordinary activities {1) down 58% o 1,183.1
Explanation - Refer Directors’ Report
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities afler (ax attributable to wp ot o 566.8
equity holders
Expianation - Refer Directors® Report
Net profit (loss) for the peried attributable to equity holders  up w9% o 5890
Explanation — Refer Directors’ Report
Distributions Amount per seourity | Iranked amonut per

security
Final distributions (December quarter} 6.6 N/A
Interim distributions (nine months) 17.8 N/A
Record date for determining entitlements to the December | 7 March 2006
quarter distribution
Date on which the December quarter digtribution is payable | 23 March 2006
Distribution Reinvestment Programme
The Distribution Reinvestment Programme does not cumnﬂ y apply.

(1) Plcase note that the share of net profits from associates has been excluded from Revenues from ordinary

activities.

31/12/2005
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Appendix 4E

Preliminary final report
NTA backing Current period Previous

corresponding

period
Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security 33.16 $3.02

Control gained or lost over entities during period

Name of entity {or group of entiiies)

Date of gain or loss of control

Interests in entities which are not confrolled entities

Name of entity Percentage of ownership Contribution to net profit (Joss)
interest held at end of period or
date of disposal
Equity accounted Current Previous Current period Previous
aﬁsocia tes and joint period cor{espondiug 3A'm corgespondi’ng
venture enfities period period - $A'm
Roma Street Trust 30% . S50% 115 9.1
Erina Property Trust 50% 50% 7.5 245
Horton Trust 30% 50% 1.7 4.9
Darling Park Trust 50% 50% 25.3 16.5
Darling Park Property 50% 50% 23.0 10.5
Trust
2 Park Street Trust 50% 50% 478 20.1
161 Sussex Street 40% 40% 0.8 0.5
Pty Lid
1 Farrer Place Trust 50% 50% 354 12.2
Lend Lease GPT (Rouse | 49% 49% 0.3 -
Hill) Pty Limited
Lend Lease (Twin 49% 49% 24 1.2
Water) Pty Limited
BGP Invesunent 8.a.r.] 50% 0% 205 -
Babcock & Brown GPT 08 -
REIT Inc.
Total 179.0 99.5

Details of aggregate share of profits (losses) of associates and joint

venture entities

Group’s share of associates’ and joint

venture entities’:

Share of net profit (loss) of associates and joint

ventures entities,

Current peried Previous
ASm corresponding
period - A§ m
178.0 99.5

To be read in conjunction with the most recent annual financial report.

31/12/2005
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Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report

Condensed consolidated statement of financial performance

Current pericd ~ Previous
A$m corresponding pericd
- A$m
1.1 Revenues from ordinary activities (see items | 1,183.1 1,256.5
1.16.1.18)
1.2  Expenses from ordinary actlivities (see ilems | {434.6) (203.8)
1.19 & 1.20)
1.3  Borrowing costs (361.1) (1.152.2)
1.4  Share of net profits (losses) of associates
and joint venfure entities 172.0 99.5
1.5 Profit {loss) from ordinary activities 566.4 -
before tax
1.6 Income tax on ordinary aclivities {see note 4} | (0.4) .
1.7 Profit (loss) from ordinary activities after 566.8 -
tax
1.8  Profit {loss) from extraordinary items afier {ax _ _
{see item 2.5)
1.9  Net profit (loss) 566.8 -
1.10 Net profit {loss) attributable to other stapled (22.2) .
entities
111 Net profit (loss) for the period attributable | 589.0 -
to equity holders
Earnings per security (EPS) Current period Previous
corresponding
period
1.12 Basic and diluled earnings per equily 28.2¢ N/A
holder of the Trust
Basic and diluted eamings per equity
hoider of the Trust before financing costs 39.4¢ 50.3¢
attributable to GPT unit holders
3171212005 Appendix 4E Page 3




Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report
Notes to the condensed consolidated statement of financial performance
Profit (loss) from ordinary activities attributable to members i
Current period — Previous
A$m corresponding period ;
-Afm
113 Profit {loss) from ordinary activities after
tax (item 1.7) 566.8 -
1.14 Less (plus) profit attributable to other | (22.2) -
stapled entities
115 Profit {loss) from ordinary activities
after tax, attributable to equity holders 589.0 -
Revenue and expenses from ordinary activities
Current periad — Previous
A$m corresponding period
-A¥m
1.16  Revenue from sales or services
1.17  Interest revenue 21.3 1.4
1.18 Other relevant revenue
Rent 689.5 646.9
Share of net profits from associates 178.0 88.5
Revenue from holel operalions 125.7 - :
Proceeds on disposal of properties 10.0 0.9 |
Fair value adjustments fo investment }
properties
Other income 33_6'6 59_7'3 !
1.18 Details of relevant expenses
Rates, taxes & other property outgoings 160.5 146.4 ;
Repairs and maintenance 174 11.0
Provision for doubtful debts 05 0.1 ;
Audit and accounting fees 1.3 0.8
Borrowing costs: '
- to financial institutions 155.6 142.8
- to security holders 205.5 1,009.4 ;
Net gain on re-measurement of detivatives
to fair value {8.4) {3.8)
Net receipt on derivatives {7.5) (8.5)
Net exchange loss on foreign currency
borrowings 0.8 -
Responsible Entity’s fee 15.4 355
Management and other administrative
costs 12.2 - 5
impairment of investments 63.7 -
Expenses from hotel operations 4.5 -
Other 5.7 58
Costs Asscciated with merger proposals 82.3 16.5
1.20 Depreciation and amortisation excluding | 7.2 - :
amortisation of intangibles (see item 2.3)
31/12/2005 Appendix 4E Page 4
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Preliminary final report

Capitalised outlays

1.21

1.22 OQutlays capitalised in intangibles {unless
arising from an *acquisition of a business)

Interest costs capitalised in asset values

235

20.3

Consolidated retained profits

1.23

1.24

1.25
1.26
1.27

Retained profits {accumulated losses) at
the beginning of the financiat period

Transfer from net assets attributable {o

security holders

Net profit for the year

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve

Dividends and other equity distributions

paid or payable

Current period —
A m

Previous
corresponding period

-ASm

1,566.5

189.7

1.28

Retained profits {accumulated losses)
at end of financial period {see items

4.24 & 4.28)

1,766.2

Intangible and extraordinary items

Consolidated - current period
Before tax Related tax Related Amount (after
A m A$ m outside tax}
*equity atiributable to
interests members
A$ m A m
(@ {b) () (d)
2.1 Amortisation of goodwill
2.2 Amaortisation of other {0.5) - - (0.5)
intangibles
2.3 Total amortisation of (0.5) N/A N/A (0.5)
intangibles
2.4  Extraordinary items
(details)
2.5 Total extraordinary N/A N/A NIA N/A
items

31712720605
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Comparison of half year profits

31 Consolidated profit (foss) from ordinary

aclivities after tax attributable to equity
holders reported for the 7st half year (item
1.22 in the half yearly report)

3.2 Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary
activities after tax attributable to equity
holders for the 2nd half year

Current period — Previous year —
A§m A% m
66.2 -
500.6 -

31/12/2003
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Preliminary final report

ensed consolidated statement

Cond At end of current As shown in last
y : e eriod annual report
of financial position ‘j\$ o AS mp
Current assets
441 Cash 837 50.9
4.2 Recelvables 136.5 58.9
43 Other (provide details if material) 49.5 156.9
4.4 Total current assets 279.7 125.7
Non-current assets
4.5 Investments (equity accounted) 1,456.7 1,215.0
4.8 Intangible assets 35.6 -
4.7 Tax assets 7.4 -
4.8 Other investmenis 8,652.3 7,758.7
4.9 Total non-current assets 10,152.0 8,973.7
410  Total assets 10,4317 9,099.4
Current liabilities
411  Payables 248.0 182.1
412  Interest bearing liabilities 1,588.6 1,068.0
413  Provisions exc. tax liabilities 178.4 139.5
414  Total current liabilities 2,015.0 1,399.6
Non-current labllities
415 inlerast bearing liabilities 2,038.6 1,625.3
416 Provisions 36 -
417  Taxliabilities 0.2 -
418  Total non-current liabilities | 2,043.4 1,825.3
419  Total liabilities 4,058.4 3,024.9
Net assets attributable to security
4.20 holders ) 6,074.5
421  Netassets 6,373.3 -
Equity
422  Capitalicontributed equity 4.296.0 -
423 Reserves 16.2 -
424 Retained profits {accumulated losses) 1,778.4 -
4,25 Equity attributable to the equity 6,090.6 -
holders of the parent entity
4.26  Capitalicontributed equity 302.5
4.27 Reserves 24
428 Retained profits (accumulated losses) (22.2)
4.28  Equity attributable to equity holders of
other entities stapled 1o GPT 2827 -
4.30 Tofal equity 6,373.3 -
431 Preference capital included as part of - -
items 4.22 & 4.26
31/12/2008 Appendix 4E Page 7
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Condensed consolidated statement of cash flows
Current period Previous
A3 m carresponding
period - Af m
Cash flows related to operating activities
5.1 Receipts from customers : 796.5 690.0
5.2 Payments to suppliers and employees {422.6) {276.2)
5.3 Distributions received from associates 118.4 80.9
5.4 Interest and other items of similar nature 224 9.4
received
55 Net receipts from derivatives 75 8.5
5.6 Interest and other costs of finance paid (172.3} (132.5)
5.7 Net operating cash flows 350,9 390.1
Cash flows related to investing activities
58 Payment for purchases of property, plant| (583.2) {748.5)
and equipment
59 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and | 674.5 951
equipment
5.10 _ (Increase) in other financial assets (849.1) {65.7)
511  Netinvesting cash flows (757.8) (719.1}
Cash flows related to financing activities
5.12 Proceeds from borrowings 921.8 771.9
513 Repayment of borrowings
544 Dividends paid . (471.9) (436.0)
515 _ Net financing cash flows 449.7 335.9
5.16 Net increase {decrease) in cash held 428 6.9
5.17 Cash at beginning of period 50.8 44.0
(see Reconciliation of cash)
5.18 Exchange rate adjustments
519 Cash at end of period 93.7 50.9
{see Reconciligtion of cash)
Reconciliation of cash
Reconciliation of cash at the end of the period (as Current peried Previous
shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows) to Ajm corresponding
the related items in the accounts is as follows. period -A$ m
8.1 Cash on hand and at bank 76.4 292
6.2 Deposits at call 17.3 21.7
6.3 Bank overdraft
8.4 QOther (provide details)
6.5 Total cash at end of period (item 5.18) 93.7 50.9

31/12/2005
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Other notes to the condensed financial statements

Ratios Current period Previous
correspanding
Period
Profit before tax / revenue
7.1 Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary 47 9% 0%
activities before tax (ffem 7.5) as a
percentage of revenue {item 1.1
Profit after tax/ *equity interests 8.9% 0%
72 Consolidated net profit {loss) from
ordinary actlivities after tax (item 7.09) as
a percentage of equity (simiarly
attributable) at the end of the period (iftem
4.30)
Dividends (in the case of a trust, distributions)
8.1 Date the dividend (distribution) is payable 23 March 2006
8.2 *Record date to determine entillements to the dividend | 7 March 2006
{distribution} {ie, on the basis of proper instruments of
transfer received by 5.00 pm if tsecurities are not
*CHESS approved, or security holding balances
established by 5.00 pm or such later time permitied by
SCH Business Rules if *securities are *CHESS
approved)
Amount per security
Amount per Franked Amount per
security amount per security of
security at foreign
%o tax source
dividend
{Prefiminary final report only)
9.1 Final dividend:  Current year (Dec gir) 6.6c N/A N/A
9.2 Previous year 11.1c N/A N/A
(Half yearly and preliminary final reports)
9.3 Interim dividend: Currerit year (9 mths) 17.8¢c N/A N/A
94 Previous ysar 10.9¢c NIA N/A
31/12/2005 Appendix 4E Pagce 9
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Total dividend (distribution) per security {(interim plus final)

{Preliminary final report only}

Current year

Previous year

10.1 +Ordinary securities 24.4¢ 22.0c
10.2 Preference securities N/A N/A
Issued and quoted securities at end of current period
Issue Amount
Category of *securities Total number Number quoted ! price per | paid up
. security | per
' security
*Ordinary securities 2,016,716,610 | 2,016,716,610
NiA N/A
31/12/2003 Appendix 4E Page 10
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Compliance statement

1 This report has been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to IFRS
(AIFRS), AASB Standards, other AASB authoritative pronouncements and Urgent
Issues Group Consensus Views or other standards acceptable to ASX (see note 12).

[dentify other standards used | N/A

2 This report, and the "accounts upon which the report is based (if separate), use the
same accounting policies.

3 This report does give a true and fair view of the matters disclosed (see note 2).
4 This report is based on "accounts to which one of the following applies.
(Tick one}
V/ The "accounts have been [ The ‘accounts have been
audited. subject o review.
3 The "accounts are in the The *accounts have not yet
process of being audited been audited or reviewed.

or subject to review.

5 The entity has a formally constituted audit commitiee.

— ’_F’ ................ Date: ’23/2/04

Sign here: RO oA
_ABirestor/Company Secretary)
= James Anthony Coyne

Print name:

311272005 Appendix 4E Page 11
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This financial report includes separate financial statements for General Property Trust as an individual entity {the 'Trust’) and the consolidated
entity consisting of General Property Trust and its controlled entities, including GPT Management Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries,
together referred to as the GPT Group ('GPT'). The financial report is presented in the Australian currency.

General Property Trust is a registered scheme, registered and domiciled in Australia. GPFT Management Holdings Limited is a company
limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

GPT RE Limited is the Responsible Entity of General Property Trust GPT RE Limited Is a wholly owned subsidiary of GPT Management
Holdings Limited.

Their registered office and principal place of business is:

The GPT Group
MLC Centre

Level 52

19 Martin Piace
Sydney NSW 2000

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of operations and
activities on page 1 in the Directors’ Report, which is not part of this financial report.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 23 February 2008. The Trust has the power to amend and re-issue the
financial report.

Through our internet site, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, comptete and available globally at minimum cost o the
Trust. All press releases, financial reports and other information are available on our website: www.apt.com au.




Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

The Directors of GPT RE Limited, the Responsible Entity of General Property Trust, present their report together with the financial report of
General Property Trust for the financlal year ended 31 December 2005 and the Audit Report thereon.
Directors

The Directors of GPT Management Holdings Limited and GPT RE Limited, the responsible entity of General Property Trust (‘the Responsible
Entity’), at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Peter Joseph (Chairman)*
falcolm Latham?*

an Martin {appointed 2 June 2005)
Brian Norris*

Eric Goodwin®

Nic Lyons {appointed 2 June 2005)
Ken Moss®

Elizabeth Nosworthy*

* These persons were also Directors of GPT Management Limited (now called Lend Lease Funds Management Limited), the Respensible
Entity of General Property Trust unti GPT RE Limited replaced GPT Management Limited on 6 June 2008.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of General Property Trust (GPT) during the financial year were:

- investmentin income producing retail, commercial, hotel, industrial, and office park properties;
- development of retaif, commercial, industrial and office park properties:

- residential property development;

- property trust management;

- properly management; and

- hotel management.

GPT operates in Australia, Eurcpe and the United States of America.
There has been no other significant change in the nature of the activities of GPT during the year.
Review of Operations and Changes in the State of Affairs

First Financial Report under the Austrafian equivalents to Infernational Financial Reporting Stendards (AIFRSs)

This financial report is the first GPT full year financial report to be prepared in accordance with AIFRSs. AASB 1 First-time Adoption of
Austratian Equivalents fo International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing these financial statements. When
preparing the GPT financial report for the year ended 31 December 2005, management has amended certain accounting and valuation
methods applied in the previous AGAAP financial statements to comply with AIFRS. The comparative figures were restated to reflect these
adjustments. Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRS on GPT's equity and net profit are set
out in Note 34,

Financial Results

On the implementation of AIFRS, securityholder inferests were required to be accounted for as liabilities. Following a change in the constitution
on 2 June 2005, securityholder interests are now classified as equity. As a consequence, amounts accruing {0 securityholders until 2 June
2005 were accounted for as finance costs. Since 2 June 2005, amounts accruing to securityholders are accounted for as profit or movements
in reserves. Therefore, the total amount accruing to securityholders recognised in the Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2005
is $566.8 million. This comprises profit after tax of $772.3 million and finance costs of $205.5 miliion. The year ended 31 December 2004
comprised entirely of finance costs of $1,009.4 million.

2005 2004

M M

Profit after tax for the stapled entity 566.8 -
Finance cost/distribution paid and payable 492.4 443.6

Finance cost/distribution per security 24.4 22.0




Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Review of Operations and Changes in the State of Affairs (continued)
The GPT Group {GPT)

Following unitholders approval on 2 June 2005, a stapled entity (the GPT Group (GPT)) was formed on 6 June 2005 by sfapling together the
units in General Property Trust (the Trust) to the shares in GPT Management Holdings Limited (the Company). The Trust and the Company
entered into the Stapling Deed {(on 2 June 2005} which sets out the terms of the relationship between the entities with respect fo the stapled
securities. The Stapling Deed ensures that the entities must operate on a co-operative basis for the benefit of holders of Stapled Securities as
a whole. The consolidated results reflect the performance of the Trust and its subsidiaries frem 1 January 2005 and the addition of the
Company and its subsidiaries from the date of consolidation, 2 June 2005 to 31 December 2005.

in conjunction with the stapling, the Company acquired GPT RE Limited to act as the responsible entity of the Trust, following GPT
Management Limited being replaced by GPT RE Limited as the responsible entity of the Trust.

Summary of other financial highlights

- distribution per security increased by 11% to 24 4 cents;

- tofal assets increased by 4% to $10,431.7 miltion;

- nettangible assetls per security increased by 5% to $3.18; and
- gearing ratio at 34.8%

Operational highlights

The profit result was underpinned by growth in all of GPT's divisions driven by strong leasing results from the commercial, industrial and retail
properties and the benefits of recent acquisitions and developments. GPT has again delivered on its strategy, delivering on recent Explanatory
Memorandum forecasts whilst maintaining a strong balance sheet and cost savings achieved with the recent internalisation.

Retail portfolio

During the year, GPT acquired Homemaker City Fortitude Valiey Stage 3, in Queensland. In additicn, Homemaker City Underwood, a parcel of
surplus fand at Macarthur Square and a surplus property in Little Lonsdale Street at Melbourne were divested. On 1 July 2005, GPT divested
its 50% interest in Penrith Plaza and Woden Plaza for $352.4 million and $242.4 million respectively.

Babcock & Brown jeint venture

On 30 June 2005, GPT invested into BGP Investment S.a.rl, a joint venture with Babcoek & Brown Limited. The joint venture seeks to identify
and invest in real estate opportunities which offer superior risk adjusted returns and establish and manage third party funds. GPT made an
initial contribution of $438.4 million and subsequent contributions of $221.9 million and $100.7 million to bring the total invested to date to
§762.0 million. GPT has made a further investment in Babcock & Brown GPT REIT Inc of $110.2 million acquiring a group of 8 shopping
centres in the United States of America.

Commercial portfotio

in April 2004, GPT purchased the Darling Park 3 leasehold and entered into a development agreement with Lend Lease Development to
develop the 29,800 sqm final tower of the Darfing Park complex. The tower reached Practical Completion in December 2005 and is 85% leased
o Marsh Mercer and Rabobank.

Industrial portfolio

Construction commenced in August 2005 on the $100 million Coles Myer National Distritrution centre (GPT's share: $50 million) and the $20
million Labelmakers facility {GPT share: $10m) at the Austrak Business Park, Somerton. Labelmakers is due for completion in the first quarter
of 2006 and Coles Myer in early 2007,

Hote! porifolio

Consistent with the original acquisition structure, GPT acquired Brampton and Lizard Islands from Voyages Hotels and Resorts Pty Ltd in June
2005 and Voyages repaid its acquisition toan to GPT. In addition, GPT acquired El Questro Resort in Western Australia for $17.4 million in July
2005. El Questro maintains GPT's strong presence in the eco tourism market.

Masterplanning division

A Masterplan Development Application was approved in March 2004 for the Rouse Hill Regional Centre. Construction on the town centre
component is expected to commence in early 2006 and is programmed for completion late 2007 /early 2008.

Finance Costs and Distributions

The Responsible Entity of the Trust has determined the payment of finance costs and distributions for the year ended 31 December 2005 of
24.4 cents per security (Dec 2004: 22.0 cents).

State of Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of GPT that occurred during the financial year under
review other than those detailed above.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

Further informatien on fikely developments in the operation of the GPT Group and the expected results of those operations have not been
included in this report as it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the GPT Group.




Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Review of Operations and Changes in the State of Affairs (continued)

Environmental Regqulation

The Direclors are satisfied that there are no significant issues thaf currently have an impact on the Company.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance occurring since the end of the financial year not otherwise deait with in this report or
accounts that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of GPT, the results of their operations or the state of affairs of GPT in
subsequent financial years. In making this statement in respect of events subsequent 1o balance date the conflicted directors have relied upon
assurances provided by non conflicted directors.

Information about the Trust

There has not been any movement in the number of securities on issue during the year (2004: 67, 000,000) with securities on issue at year end
at 2,016.716,610 (2004: 2,016,715.610).

The value of the Trusis assets as at 31 December 2005 is $10,431.7 million (2004: $9,089.4 million} derived on the basis set out in note 1 to

the financial statements.

Fees paid to the Responsible Entity during the financial year are disclosed in note 4,
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Information on Directors

Peter Joseph OAM, B Comm, MBA, FAICD (Chairman}

Mr Joseph is a career investment banker and an experienced company director who has had a close involvement with the BT Financial Group
for 30 years. Mr Joseph was a Director of the responsible entities of a number of BT funds including some of the BT property trusts. Mr
Joseph was also a Director of the Peter Kurts Properties Group for 12 years. Mr Joseph is currently the Chairman of Dominion Mining Limited.
Mr Joseph is alse Chairman of the St James Ethics Centre and the Black Dog Institute and, until September 2004, was Chairman of the St
Vincent's and Mater Hospitals in Sydney. in 2000, Mr Joseph was awarded & Medal in the Order of Australia. Mr Joseph holds a Bachelor of
Commerce degree and a Masters degree in Business Administration. Mr Joseph is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
My Joseph is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Commitiee.

Eric Goodwin B.E. MIE Aust CP Eng

Mr Goodwin is & Non-Executive Director of Eureka Funds Management Limited, Lend Lease Global Properties SICAF, Diversified Utilities and
Energy Trust and AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No 2 Limited. Mr Goodwin joined Lend Lease in 1963 as a cadel engineer and
during his 42 year career with Lend Lease held a number of senfor executive and subsidiary board positions in the Australian operation and he
was the inaugural manager of the group’s Asian operations in 1973. Mr Goodwin has extensive experience in design, construction and project
management, and his experience includes fund management of the MLC Property Portfolic during the 1980's and he was the founding Fund
Manager of the Australian Prime Property Fund. Mr Goodwin is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Malcolm Latham AM B.Arch, Dip TP

Mr Latham is currently a director of the Hornery Institute which undertakes projects in several stales, skilling people for work and helping
communities improve the places in which they live and work. Prior to this Mr Latham was Chairman of the South Sydney Development
Corporation and Chairman of a joint venture for the redevelopment of the Auckland Harbour waterfront. He has extensive international
experience in urban development. Mr Latham holds degrees in Architectyre and Urban Planning and was awarded the Order of Australia in
1990 for his work as Executive Chairman of the National Capital Development Commission, Canberra. Prior to joining the GPT Board, Mr
tatham was a senior executive in Lend Lease Corporation. Mr Latham is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Commitiee.

Ken Moss B.E. (Hons), PhD, Hon FiEAust, CPEng, FAICD

Dr Moss is a Non-Executive Director of Adsteam Marine Limited and a Director of Macquarie Capital Alliance Group. Dr Moss is Chairman of
Boral Limited and Centennial Coal Company Limited and is a board member of the Australian Maritime Safety Autherity. Prior to August 2000,
Dr Moss was Managing Director of Howard Smith Limited. Dr Moss is the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Comrnittee.

Brian Norris B Ec, LLB

Mr Norris is currently @ director of Lend Lease Global Properties SICAF, Chairman of Lend Lease Real Estate Investments Lid, Asia Pacific
invesiment Company Lid and Asia Pacific invesiment Company No. 2 Lid. Mr Norris has had a long association with the Lend Lease group,
including assisting in the establishment and development of Australian, US and Asian-based property investment funds. Mr Norris is a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and holds a degree from the University of Sydney. He previously was a director of a chartered
accounting firm specialising in revenue faw. Mr Norris is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Elizabeth Nosworthy AO, BA, LLB, LLM

Ms Nosworthy is currently Deputy Chairman of Babcock & Brown Limited and the Chairman of Commander Communications Limited and
Stanwell Corporation Limited. Ms Nosworthy is a Director of Ventracor Limited and is an Adjunct Professor of Law at the University of
Queensland and a Councll Member of the National Gallery of Australia. Previously, Ms Nosworthy was a commercial partner in a nationsl law
firm where she specialised in financing work including infrastructure financing. Ms Nosworthy is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors and has held a wide range of directorships in both the private and the public sectors. Mg Nosworthy is a member of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee.

lan Martin B Ec (Hons), FAICD

Mr Martin is currently a Nen-Executive Director of Babcock & Brown Limited, Argo lavestments Limited and St Vincent's, and Mater Health
Sydney Limited. Mr Martin is a former Chief Executive Officer of the BT Financial Group and Global Head of Investment Management and
member of the Management Committee of Bankers Trust Corporation. Mr Martin spent eight years as an economist with the Australian
Treasury, Canberra, and was the inaugural Chairman of the Investment and Financial Services Association. My Martin is the Chairman of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Nic Lyons B Comm

Mr Lyons was appointed CEO of GPT in October 2000 and has more than 25 years experience in the property and property funds
management industries in Australia and overseas. His long career in the property industry has included roles with entities such as ING, where
he was General Manager of Listed Property Trusts, and Lend Lease Real Estate investiments where he was CEO ~ Real Estate Investments.
Mr Lyons is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee,

Company Secretary - James Coyne BA, LLB (Hons}

Mr Coyne was appointed the General Counsel/Company Secretary of GPT in 2004. Prior to this Mr Coyne held various roles at Lend Lease
initially with the construction, infrastructure and development groups before moving on to the Real Estate Investments Group in 2000, where he
held Senior Legal and Company Secretarial roles in both the listed and unlisted sectors.
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Changes to the Board following Internalisation of GPT

In the period between 1 January 2005 and 8 June 2005, GPT Management Limited (GPTML) was the responsible entity of the Trust. GPTML
{now called Lend Lease Funds Management Limited) is a subsidiary of Lend Lease Corporation. The Board of GPTML during this period
comprised Peter Joseph (Chairman), Eric Goodwin, Malcolm Latham, Ken Moss, Brian Norris and Elizabeth Nosworthy. Following the decision
of unithoiders to internalise management of the Trust, replacing GPTML with GPTRE, the Board of GPTRE was constituted with the Board of
GPTML. lan Martin and Nic Lyons alsa joined the Board at this time.

The Board comprised of its Independent Directors prior to Internalisation of GPT

On 8 November 2004, the Board of GPTML was advised of a proposal from Stockiand Corpoeration and Stockiand Trust to acquire all of the
units in GPT (Stockland Offer}. For the purposes of evaluating the Stockland Offer on behalf of GPT Unitholders, the Board of GPTML initially
comprised the Independent Directors: Peter Joseph (Chairman), Malcolm Latham, Ken Moss and Elizabeth Nosworthy.

in January 2005, the Board of GPTML commenced discussions with Babcock and Brown Limited with a-view to entering into a joint venture to
pursue a broad range of property-related investments (Joint Venture). These discussions cuiminated in a package of proposals that included
the internalisation of the Trust by replacing GPTML with a new company owned by the unitholders in the Trust (intemalisation Proposal). At this
time, Elizabeth Nosworthy declared a conflict of interest and stood aside. From this time until the meeting of unitholders on 2 June 2005, Peter
Joseph (Chairman), Malcolm Latham and Ken Moss comprised the Board of Independent Directors for the purpose of the Board's
consideration of the Stockland Offer and the Internalisation Proposal.

During the period between 1 January 2005 and 2 June 2005, the Board, comprised of its Independent Directors, met on sevenieen occasions
in connection with the Stockland Offer and the Internalisation Proposal.

Audit and Risk Nomination and
Board Management Committee Remuneraticn Commitiee
Meetings Meetings Meetings
Attended Meetings Held" Attended Meetings Held” Attended Meetings
Held?
Peter Joseph 14 147 3 3 3 3
Eric Goodwin® 14 14 2 2 NA NA
Malcolm Latham 13 14° NA NA 3 3
Nic Lyons * 5 5 NA NA 3 3
fan Martin * 5 5 NA NA 3 3
Ken Moss 14 14”7 5 5 NA NA
Brian Norris 14 14 5 5 NA NA
Elizabeth Nosworthy 13 14 5 5 NA NA

4 Includes meetings of the Board and Committees of GPTML (as previous responsible entity of the Trust) in the period between 1 January

20085 and 8 June 2605 and meetings of the Board and Committees of GPTRE/GPTMHL in the pericd between 8 June 2005 and 31

December 2005.

Not including meetings of the Board of GPTML comprised of its independent Directors.

1 Peter Joseph stepped down as a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 18 September 2005. Prior to 15 September
2005 Mr Joseph was Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

2 Eric Goodwin was appointed as a mermber of the Audit and Risk Management Commitiee on 18 September 2005,

3 Nic Lyons was appointed as an Executive Director effective on 2 June 2005 and as a member of the Nominaticn and Remuneration
Commitiee on 16 September 2005.

4 lan Martin was appointed as a Non-Executive Director effective on 2 June 2005 and Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee on 16 September 2005.
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Oirectorships of Other Listed Companies and Directors Interests in GPT

The following tabie shows for each Director:

1 All directorships of other entities that were listed on the Australian Stock Exchange, other than GPT since 31 December 2002 and the
periad for which each directorship has been held.

Interests held in GPT as at the commencement of the period and at the end of the period.

Interests in GPT at

Interests in GPT at

Director Directorship of Listed Entity Pericd held beginning of the period end of the pericd
Peter Joseph Dominion Mining Limited 1880 to present 50,000 50,000
Eric Goodwin Diversified Utilities and Energy Trust NA Nit 10,000
Malcolm Latham Nil NA 13,195 13,185
Nic Lyons Nil NA Nit 50,600
lan Martin Babeock & Brown Limited 2004 to present Nit 50,000

Argo investments Limited 2004 to present
Ken Moss Adsteam Marine Limited 2001 to present 25,000 25,600

Macquarie Capital Alliance Group 2005 to present

{including Macquarie Capital Alliance

Limited, Macquarie Capital Alliance

Management Limited and Macquarie

Capital Alliance Bermuda Limited

Boral Limited 1999 {0 present

Centennial Coal Company Limited 2000 to present

National Australia Bank Limited 2000 to 2004.
Brian Norris Nil NA 4,097 4,097
Elizabeth Babcock & Brown Limited 2004 to present 5,000 5,000
Nosworthy Commander Communications Limited 2003 to present

Stanwell Corporation Limited

Ventracor Limited

Prime Infrastucture Management Limited
David Jones Limited

Queensland Treasury Corporation

2001 to present
2002 to present
2002 to 2004
1965 to 2003
1891 10 2003
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Remuneration Report

The Directors of GPT present the Remuneration Report for GPT and its consolidated entities prepared in accordance with Section 300A of the
Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 31 December 2005.

Background

Following Unitholder approval on 2 June 2005, the General Property Trust (the ‘Trust) internalised its management and GPT RE Limited
replaced GPT Management Limited (now Lend Lease Funds Management Limited (LLFM)) as Responsible Entity of the Trust on 6 June 2005
Prior to that date Lend Lease Corporation Limited (Lend Lease) set the applicable remuneration policies and paid all the directors, executives
and employees of the responsible entity of the Trust.

This report sets out the remuneration policies that apply to all employees of the GPT Group that have been adopted by the Board following
GPT's internalisation, unless otherwise indicated. Disclosure is also made in respect of GPT pricr to its internalisation when the Trust was
managed by GPTML. As a consequence, the specific remuneration details set out in this report comprise:

1. Amounts paid by Lend Lease in respect of the period when GPTML was the Responsible Entity of the Trust.
2. Amounts paid by GPT following the internalisation of management.

The specific remuneration arrangements described in this report apply to the Chief Executive Officer and the key management personnel as
defined in AASB 124 and to the five named executives as defined in section 300A of the Corporations Act. The composition of the group of key
management personnel changed during the year following the internalisation of GPT when a number of executives engaged by Lend Lease
became key management personne! of GPT.

The Nomination And Remuneration Committee:
GPT's Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for.

1. Reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the compensation pelicies (including performance and incentive schemes)
applicable to GPFT employees.

2. Reviewing the Chief Executive Officer's performance and remuneration annually, and making recemmendations to the Board thereen.
3. Making recommendations to the Board on remuneration policies and packages applicable to Board members.

Further information about the role and responsibility of the Commiltee is set out in its Charter. The Charter is available on GPT's website
(www.gpt.com au). Details concerning the membership of the Committee and attendance at its meetings are set out earlier in this report.

The Chief Executive Officer in turn reviews the performance and compensation of the Senior Executives and makes recommendations on
these o the Committee. The Chisf Executive Officer's recommendations recognise the differing responsibilities and skifis of executives as well
as different market influences that may affect their total compensation packages. if endorsed by the Committee, the total compensation
packages for these executives are recommended to the Board for approval.

Since 2 June 2005, the Board, through the Nemination and Remunegration Committee, has been reviewing GPT's policies and practices in
relation to its compensation framework. The aim has been to create a remuneration system that:

- lIstransparent

- Is fair and market competitive

- Encourages superior performance by aligning rewards with the interests of all stakeholders

- Atftracts, motivates, retains and rewards talented and skilled directors, executives and employees

- Rewards employees who demonstrate the core values and culture of GPT.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Remuneration - Executives

GPT's Compensation Policy
GPT's compensation framework is designed to:

- Satisfy the interests of all stakeholders by afigning remuneration with the achievement of strategic objectives — including the achievement
of superior returns for Securityholders.

- Atfract, align, retain and motivate superior talent at all levels by adequately rewarding contribution to value creation and the execution of
GPT's business strategy.

GPT's Compensaticn Strateqy
GPT aims to pay market competitive Total Compensation packages made up of the following components:

- Base salary (fixed) ~ This includes cash, superannuation, leave loading, other salary sacrifice items and fringe benefits tax (FBT), and is
generally positioned at market median against comparable industry peers on the basis of annual benchmarking. Base salaries are
reviewed annually, although they may also be reviewed on promotion.

- Short Term Incentives (variable} ~ Opportunities for short-term incentives are expressed as a percentage of Base salary and determined
by annual performance against agreed financial and non-financial key performance indicatoers (KP1's).

- Long Term Incentives —~ (variable) — Opportunities for long-term incentives are determined by performance against KPP’'s and measured
aver three years.

Individuals can receive Total Compensation in the top quartile of the market in a particular year only if various financial and non-financiat KPI's
are achieved in their Short and Long Term Incentives.

For the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel the variable component of this mix is greater than at other levels of the
business. The following chart shows percentage mix of the fixed and variable components of Total Compensation for the Chief Executive
Officer and other key management personnel (assuming target performance is met and assuming that Securityholders approve the Long Term
Incentive Scheme for GPT at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2008).

Fixad Remuneration Parformance based Remuneration
§TH LT
Nic Lyons
Chief Executive Officer 44 % 22% 34 %
Michaal O’Brien
Chief Operating Officer 50 % 25% 25 %
Kieran Pryke
Chief Financial Cfficer 50 % 25% 25%
Neil Tobin
General Manager Joint Venture 53 % 26 % 21 %
Mark Fookes
General Manager Retail 53% 26 % 21%
Bruce Morris
Pertfolioc Manager Hotels 53 % 26 % 21 %
James Coyne
General Counsel/Company Secretary 58 % 22 % 22 %
External Benchmarking of Tots! Compensation

in this context, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is mindful to ensure that market data used to set execulive remuneration
considers GPT's competitors in the LPT sector as well as GPT's peers on the ASX 200, with the greatest weighting being apptied to LPT's
sector based comparisens.

For guidance, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and various business-based executives draw on the following data to benchmark
pay:

- Specific external benchmarking conducted by expert, extemal advisers. The Nomination & Remuneration Committee has appointed
Godfrey Remuneration Group Pty Limited to assist in this regard.

- Information available in published job matched surveys of industry peers including the Avdiev Property Industry Remuneration Report and
the Hamilton Partners Remuneration Survey.

- Cornmissioned surveys to supplement the published information.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Performance Measures
Performance is evaluated against both financial and non-financial KPI's.

Performance against financial KPl's is a key driver of reward outcomes in both Short Term and Long Term Incentives, Financial KPl's that
apply may be a mixture of.

- Financial performance of GPT as a whole against predetermined targets and its industry peers.
- Financial performance of the individual’s portfolio, division, or business unit.

For the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel, the proportion of their Short Term and Long Term Incentive potential
that is weighted towards financial KPI's is high {for the CEO - 80% of the Short Term Incentive potential and 100% of the Long Term Incentive
potential).

For Short Term Incentives there is also a weighting to non-financial measures that vary between posilions but include matters such as
achieving strategic outcomes, operational improvement, performance enhancement and personat & staff development. The Board believes that
these performance measures best align executive reward with that of consistently superior Securityholder retums and the promotion of GPT's
values and culiure.

GPT's Performance Management System

A uniform performance management system is used across the GPT Group which provides all employees with clear financial and personal
performance objectives. Although the performance criteria are different for each executive, the principles are simifar and involve assessment of
performance across the following areas:

- Financial (in relation to the individual’s business unit and the Group) — achievernent of earnings, return on equily and other relevant
financial targets;

- Personal - achievement of personal objectives related to specific non-financial business targets such as achieving strategic outcomes,
operational improvement and performance enhancement and personal & staff development; and

- Values — achievement of performance consistent with the GPT Values ingrained as part of the GPT Group Culture. Failure to perform
consistently with Group Values will remove eligibility for bonus.

To ensure that the appropriate performance objectives are being set and that there is an alignment of effort with key deliverables of the GPT
Group's business strategy, the Chief Executive Officer's performance objectives are set by the Board annually and from there are cascaded
info the businesses via the performance objectives of all executives and employees.

Short Term Incentives (STis){variable component}

A potential ST, calculated as percentage of base salary, is available 1o all executives. The potential ST is, in turn, allocated between financial
and personal goals. The STi percentage, and its allocation between financial and personal goals depends upon each executive’s ability to
determine particular outcomes of the Group's objectives as well as the executive's seniority and accountability.

The actual STI award for an executive is determined by assessment of the executive’s performance against specific objectives. The executive's
performance is assessed refative to various measurement levels (threshold, target and siretch in the case of financial goals). Expressed as a
percantage of the executive's base salary, their STi patential may range from 0% to 100% for stretch performance. No ST1 award is made for a
particular goatl if performance falls below a minimum threshold level of performance. For Senior Executives in FY08, no STl award will be
available should the target level of performance ~ which equals delivery of the earnings for the Group as sef out in the 2 May 2005 Explanatory
Mernorandurm — not be achieved.

Once an entiflement is calculated, the award may be received in a number of ways:

- Cash

- Salary sacrificed to superannuation

- Securities issued under GPT's Securities Employee Incentive Scheme (discussed in more detail below).

The table an page 17 shows STi payments made for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 to the Chief Executive Officer and other key
management personnel. Amounts shown are broken down to show amounts paid by Lend Lease and amounts paid by GPT.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Long Term Incentives (L.T1s) (variable component]

Subject to Securityholder approval at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 20086, the Beard intends implementing a long term
incentive (LT1) scheme for Senior Executives under the GPT Employee Incentive Scheme. The GPT Employee Incentive Scheme is discussed
in more detail on page 11.

The LT1 scheme is designed ta:

- Provide Senior Executives with a long-term incentive to create value for Securityholders, thereby aligning their interests more closely
- Provide a means through which Senior Executives can participate, over the longer term, in the ongeing suceess of GPT

- Assistin the attraction and retention of key Serior Executives.

The Fringe Benefits Tax concessional provisions that would be applicable if shares in the company component of GPT were acquired as part of
an employee share scheme, do not apply to the acquisition of units in the trust component of GPT. This means that, unlike mest companies, a
fringe benefits tax liability would arise for GPT if GPT Securities were provided to GPT employees as part of an employee incentive scheme. In
this regard, GPT is in the same position as other stapled entities that comprise shares in a cormpany and units in a trust. GPT's advice was that
as consequence of this, a plan involving loans to acquire GPT Securities would be required.

It is proposed that GPT's LT1 scheme will include a loan to enable nominated employees to acquire GPT Securities under GPT's Employee
Incentive Scheme. The Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, will determine those Senior
Executives eligible to participate in the LT] Scheme and, for each participating executive, their potential LTI and foan arnount, calculated by
reference to a percentage of their base salary. Subject to performance aover a 3 year period, the LTI award will be applied against the
outstanding loan (after deductions for FBT). The performance measures that will give rise to a LTI award will be determined annually and will
be disclosed in GPT's remuneration report to the fullest extent possible.

The loan will be of no fixed term. After deducting amounts for tax on the employee’s income, distributions on the GPT Securities will be applied
against the loan. The loan will not be interest free. interest will be calcutated at GPT's funding cost. While the loan remains outstanding, the
GPT Securities will be held subject to a holding lock and will not be able to be transferred or otherwise dealt with.

LTI awards will be made subject to satisfying specified financial performance measures set annually at the time the LT! is granted, and that are
tested over a three year period. For each of the financial performance measures, performance criteria also will be determined at the time the
LTI is granted. {f below threshaold performance for a paricular performance measure is achieved at the end of the three-year period, no amount
of the LT1 allocated to that performance measure would be awarded. Above threshold level of performance, pro rata awards will occur up to
stretch outcomes. Where an LT1 award is made, the cost of the loan {equivalent to interest) will first be deducted from that amount. if the LTI
award is insufficient to cover the loan cost, that part of the remaining loan cost will be capitalised and added to the loan amount. Where the LTI
award is greater than the cost of the loan, GPT will waive an amount of the loan equal to the remainder after deducting the amount payable by
GPT for the fringe benefits tax (FBT). Based on the current levels of FBT, 51.5% would be applied to reduce the loan amount and 48.5% to
pay FBT.

Except in defined circumstances, the lean under the LTI Scheme is full recourse. |If the employee leaves GPT, the loan must be repaid (either
by the sale of securities or some other source of funds). in determining any shortfali, profits on each tranche of GPT Securities and associated
loans will be offset against losses on cother GPT Securities and their associated loans. At the discretion of the Board the loan and outstanding
interest may be waived in the following circumstances;

- onretirement of the employee;

- death or total permanent disability of the employee;
- redundancy without cause of the employee; or

- takeover

In designing the LTI performance measures, the Board determined that, given the nature of GPT, it was important to devise measures which
provided a direct link to GPT's distributions and their rate of growth which in tum are the perfarmance drivers of total Securityholder return. The
Board also considered that some element of external benchmarking was also required. The Board believes that these requirements have been
met through the mix of performance measures that have been adopted for the initial LTI grant.

10
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Remuneration Report {continued)

Subject to Securityholder approval, for the first LT propesed {with performance to be reviewed based on the 2006, 2007 and 2008 financial
years) the performance measures approved by the GPT Board are as follows:

- Growth in Earnings per Stapled Security (E£S Growth) — 50% of the potential LTI. Growth in Earnings per Stapled Security will be
measured as the percentage increase in earnings per GPT Securily. For the initial LTI this will be measured for the financial years 2006,
2007 and 2008. EPS is the base earnings per GPT Security adjusted for significant items and other items determined by the GPT Board
and as disclosed in GPT's Statement of Financial Performance for the financial years ended 31 December 2006, 31 December 2007 and
31 December 2008. if EPS growth is below 6.2% on average over the three-year period, no part of LTI available for this performance
measure will be awarded. If EPS growth is above 6.2%, pro rata awards will occur up to stretch outcomes (7.5%).

- Return on Contributed Equity (RoE) - 30% of the potential LTI Return on Contributed Equity measures the total return on equity
employed and takes into account both capital appreciation of the assets of the GPT Group and cash distributions of income. If RoE is
below 8.5% on average over the three-year period, no part of the LTI available for this performance measure will be awarded. If RoE is
above 8.5%, pro rata awards will occur up to stretch outcomes (12.5%}).

- Performance relative to Listed Property Trust Index (LPT Index). ~ 20% of the potential LTI, A LPT Index award may be granted if GPT
outperforms against the S&P ASX 200 Listed Property Trust Index. Due to the size of GPT within this index, GPT and its performance is
excluded for the purpose of calcufating the LPT Index and its performance. Below index performance, no part of the fotal LTI available for
this performance measure will be awarded. Above index performance, pro rata awards will cccur up fo stretch outcomes (2% out
performance). The Board may substitute another index if there is a matenal change in the composition of the LPT Index during the
measurement period.

Subject to Securityholder approval at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2006 it is proposed that  loan be made to the Chief
Executive Officer and other key management personnel for the purpose of acquiring GPT Securities under the LT! scheme. Further information
on these LTI's is set out in more detail in the Notice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum.

GPT's Employee Incentive Scheme

Subject to Securityholder approval at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2008, the Board intends implementing the GPT
Employee Incentive Scheme (Scheme). The Scheme operates at two levels:

o aGeneral Scheme for all employees (other than Senior Executives who receive a Long Term Incentive); and
* Long Tem Incentive (LTI) Scheme for certain Senior Executives - which is discussed above on page 10.
Under the Generat Scheme, employees will be offered the ability to participate up to a nominated percentage of their Base Saiary (20%).

it is proposed that the Scheme will comprise a loan to enable employees to acquire GPT Securities. The reasons for making a loan rather than .

issuing GPT Securities to employees is discussed above on page 10 The Loan will be of no fixed term. The Loan will be interest free ~ the net
cost of the interest component is a cost to the business of implementing the scheme. The total cost to GPT to service these loans is not
significant (approximately $200,000). The Loan must be used o acquire GPT Securities that will be acquired on employees’ behalf by the
Scheme Administrator. Securities in respect of which a loan is outstanding cannot be sold or transferred. Net distributions (deducting amounts
required 1o pay tax) must be applied to reduce the loan. if an employee leaves GPT, the Loan must be repaid (either by the sale of the
securities or by some other source). The Loan will be non-recourse, however, it is anticipated that under normal market conditions the value of
securities held by employees would exceed the value of outstanding loans by approximately 15% to 20% within 2 years.

Further information in ralation to the Scheme is set out in the Notice of Meeting and Explanatery Memorandum.

Service Agreements

Service agreements have been entered into with all employees who transferred from Lend Lease to the internalised GPT and for all persons
employed since that time.

Notice periods of one {1} month apply to all these service agreements although the Board has an intention to increase the standard notice
period for a group of the most Senior Executives to a minimum of 3 months. No notice provisions apply where termination occurs as a result of
misconduct or serious or persistent breach of agreement.

Compensation Arrangements for early termination of an executive’'s contract for reasons outside the control of the individual or where the
executive is made redundant may give rise to a severance payment at law. In the absence of any express entitlement, these payments would
vary between individuals. The Board has approved a policy with respect to severance entitlements and intends clarifying the position for key
management personnel within the GPT Group by establishment of a policy specifically capping the maximum severance payment that would
be made o 12 months base safary. In addition the employee may be entitled to any short-term and long-term incentive at the end of the
relevant period (subject to the achievement of key performance indicators that had been set).

Under the existing service agreements there are no entitlements to payments on resignation, on termination by the Company for poor
performance or for termination for cause.

11
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the terms of the service agreements for the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel.

Nic Lyons Michael Kieran Pryke Neil Tobin Mark Fookes Bruce Morris James Coyne
O'Brien
Chief Chief Chief General General Portfolio General
Executive Operating Financial Manager JV Manager Manager Counsel/
Officer Officer Officer Retail Hotels Company
Secretary
Date of 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005
Agreement
Term of Open-gnded Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended
Agreement
Non- 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months
solicitation of
other
personnel
Retention Yes see table  Yesseetable Yesseetable VYesseetable Yessecetable Yesseetable  Yes see table
payable June  on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15
07
Commitment Yes see table  Yesseetable Yesseetiable Yesseetable Yesseetable Yesseetable Yes seetable
payment on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15 on page 15
Termination 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month
Notice

ther Awerds - G

since Internalisation

Prior to the internalisation proposal being put to Unitholders, the Board of GPTML (comprised of its Independent Directors) identified certain
individuals who were either critical to the internalisation process itself or were critical to ensure that business as usual was maintained for those
parts of GPT's business that were significantly impacted by the internalisation and for the ongoing success of the business as part of a newly
formed independent GPT. In relation to these employees, the Board (comprised of its Independent Directors) agreed to:

- Aone-off commitment payment made in June 2005 to the individuals concerned.

- Avretention payment te be made in June 2007 should the employee remains with GPT untii that time. This payment will not be made if the
individual's employment is terminated prior to 1 July 2007 for misconduct, gross negligence, material breach of contract, failure to carry out
a reasonable direction or any other circumstances justifying immediate termination.

For key management personne! details of:

- The commitment payment has been included in Table 2 on page 15 under the heading "Short Term Employee Benefits ~ Commitment
Bonus”.

- Amounts allocated to the retention referred to above have been included in Table 2 on page 15 under the heading "Other Long Term
Benefits - Retention”.

12
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Other Awards — Lend Lease prior to Internglisation

(a) Retention Amounts

Lend Lease made retention awards from time to time if it wished to provide an incentive to certain employees, who were responsible for the
management of GPT, to remain with the Lend Lease Group. These awards were provided by Lend Lease and not by Unitholders. During
2004, following the announcement of the GPT/Lend Lease merger propcsal, Lend Lease granted retention awards to a number of key
executives. These awards were not linked to the success ar otherwise of the GPT/Lend Lease merger proposal (that did nat ultimately
proceed) but would be payable if the executives remained with the Lend Lease Group for varying periods that expired during 2005. Lend Lease
provided the funds for these awards as part of the separation arrangements that were agreed in June 2005, Details of any retention amount
referred to above for the key management personnel have been included in Table 1 on page 15 under the heading “Short Term Employee
Benefits - Retention Banus™.

(b} Lend Lease Employee Share Plan.

Part of a Lend Lease employee’s total remuneration was made up of an allocation to shares issued under Lend Lease Employee Share Plans.
The amount allccated was calculated as a percentage of base salary and capped at 5% of base salary. Details of any shares issued under
Lend Lease Employee Share Plan for the key management personnel have been included in Table 1 on page 15 under the heading ‘Equity -
ESP/Other'.

(c) Long Term [ncentive

During 2005, certain executives were eligible to receive awards issued by Lend Lease in 2002 under its Long Term incentive Scheme. Details
of any such long term incentive awards for the key management personnel have been included in Table 1 on page 15 under the heading
“Other Long Term Benefits - LT1 Bonus”.

Remuneration - Non-Executive Directors

GPT's Policy

As part of its Charter, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board conceming the remuneration
structure for Non Executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a policy to ensure that remuneration packages for Non Executive Directors are transparent and easily explained while
al the same time enabling the Board to atiract and retain the highest quality candidates. The principal features of this policy are as follows:

- Non Executive Directors are paid one director's fee for participation as a Director in all GPT Group related companies (principally GPT RE
Limited the responsibie entity of the General Property Trust and GPT Management Holdings Limited).

- Non Executive Director remuneration is composed of three main elements;
1} Main Board fees
2} Committee fees
3) Superannuation coniributions at the statutory Superannuation Guarantee Levy {SGL) rate.

- Differences in workioads of Non-Executive Directors arise mainly because of differing involvement in board commitiees, which is in
addition to main board work. This additional workioad is rewarded via committee fees in addition to main hoard fees.

- Non Executive Directors do not participate in any incentive or performance based amrangements,
- Non Executive Directors are not entitled to any retirement benefits.

- Non Executive Directors remuneration is set by reference to comparable entities listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (based on GPT's
industry sector and market capitalisation).

- External independent advice on reasonable remuneration for Non Executive Directors is sought at least every three years. Between such
reviews rernuneration will be monitored against market movements (s0 as to maintain their competitiveness) as will the time being spent
by directors in performing their duties. Any increase as a result of such review will be effective as from the 1st of January and would be
advised in the next Remuneration Report.

- The Chairman will be paid a main board fee at a higher rate than cther Non Executive Directors to reflect additional workloads and
responsibilities. The Chairman will be paid 150% more than the other Non Executive Directors but will not receive committee fees.
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Amounts payabie to Non Executive Directors to 31 December 2008

For the period from 4 January 2005 untit 2 June 2005, Non-Executive Direclors’ fees were paid by GPT Management Limited (a subsidiary of
Lend Lease Corporation) and not by GPT. Non-executive Direciors' fees were set at $60,000 per annum with the Chairman’s fees being two
times the standard fees paid to a Director ($120.000). The Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee received an additional
$20,000 per annum. Cther members of the Audit & Risk Management Committee received an additional $15,000 per annum. With the
internalisation of GPT these fees were maintained for the period to 31 December 2005, provided that the members of the newly reconstituted
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (other than the Chairman) received $15,000 per annum.

in addition, Peter Joseph, Malcolm Latham and Ken Moss received additional amounts for the period from 1 January 2005 to 2 June 2005 of
$102,000, $34,000 and $32,000 respectively for considerable additional work underiaken arising from the Stockiand Offer and the
Internalisation Proposal, which was ultimately approved by Unitholders on 2 June 2005. These payments were made by Lend Lease as part of
an arrangement that was agreed at the time of the original GPT/Lend Lease merger proposal in 2004,

Table 4 on page 16, which shows the comparative information for the period frem 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004, includes additional
amounts paid to Peter Joseph, Malcolm Latham, Ken Moss and Elizabeth Nosworthy for the work undertaken arising from the Lend Lease
Merger Proposal and the Stockland Offer. These amounts were disclosed in GPT's financial statements for the pericd ended 31 December
2004.

Amounts pavable to Non-Executive Directors commencing 1 January 2008

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee commissioned a report on Non-Executive Director remuneration from Godfrey Remuneration
Group Pty Limited ("Godfrey”) in the second half of 2005. The results of this review noted that, in light of the recent change to the structure of
the GPT Group, the increased involvement, level of commitment and responsibilities {including increased legal and regulatory liability now
imposed on directors of listed entities) being requested of the Non-Executive Directers and the competitive nature of the current market, the
remuneration levels of the Non-Executive Directors required amendment.

In this context, the Committee was mindful {o ensure that any market data should consider GPT's competitors in the LPT sector as well as
GPT's peers on the ASX 200. The Committee was also mindful that it is important for alf Securityholders in GPT for the Board to be able o
attract and maintain appropriately qualified non executive directors for a business of the size and complexity of the newly internalised and
stapted GPT (total assets approximately $10.3 billion - with a core portfolio of $9.4 billion and interests in investments across Europe and in
the US $0.9 billion).

As a result, Non-Executive Directors' fees have been increased as follows: the Chainnan's total remuneration is now $300,000 per annum plus
superannuation contributions at the statutory (SGL) rate (9% capped at $12,138). The main board fees for all other Non-Executive Directors
will be $120,000 per annum plus SGL contributions (capped at $12,138). The Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is
entitled to an additional $30.000 with members entitled to an additional $15,000. The Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee will be entitied to an additional $20,000 with members entitled to an additional $10,000. These changes took affect from 1 January
20086,

As a Director of GRTML, Brian Norris was entitled to a retirement benefit from that company equal to the total of the director's fees paid to him
during the three year period piror to his retirement. This amount $211 487 .40 was paid to Mr Norris in 2005 following the intematisation of GPT,
The amount was paid by Lend Lease not by GPT and is disclosed in Table 1 on page 15 under the heading "Retirement Benefits”.

Proposed Increase in Aggregate Fee Limit

The maximum aggregate amount payable to Non-Executive Directors may not exceed $1.3 million per annum. The aggregate amount payable
to Non-Executive Directors is currently $1,208,534. At current levels there is sufficient headroom within the maximum to provide a modest
increase amounts currently paid to Non-Executive Directors but insufficient headroom within the maximum to appoint a new director.

A resolution will be put to Securityholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2008 to increase the maximum aggregate
amount payable to Non-Executive Directors from $1.3 miilion to $1.45 miltion. The revised maximum aggregate amount will allow for the
appointment of one further director. Further details concerning this are contained in the Natice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Details of Remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of the key management personnel for the current year and for the comparative
year are set out below. They are broken inte a number of tables. Table 1 shows all amounis paid by Lend Lease for the period belwesn 1 January 2005
and 2 June 2005. Table 2 shows all amounts paid by GPT for the peried from 3 June 2005 to 31 December 2005. Table 3 shows the aggregate of Table
1 and Table 2 (i.e. the total amounts paid to the individuals for the year from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005). Table 4 shows the comparison for

the year from 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004.
Table 1 Remuneration details 1 January 2005 fo 2 Juns 2005

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Persannel of GPT RE Limited paid by Lend Lease when the Responsible Entity for the Trust was
GPT Management Limited for the period 1 January 2005 to 2 June 2005 is set out in the following table:

Share
Other fong term Based
Short term employse benefits Post Employment benefits Termination  Payment
Salary & 8Tl Retention Non Super- Retirement LTl
Fees Bonus Bonus Monetary annuation Benefits Bonus Retention Total
Key Management Personnel
N Lyons CEO &
Director appointed
2/6/05 213,858 316,984 384,327 2,738 19,236 - 31,821 - - 5,022 974,985
E Goodwin Director - - - - - - - - - - -
M Latham Director 58,000 - - - 2,250 - - - - - 61,250
K Moss Director 67,333 - - - 3,000 - - - - 70,333
B Norris Director 31,250 - - - 2,813 211,467 - - - . 245,530
E Nosworthy
Director 31,250 - - - 2,813 - - - - - 34,083
P Joseph Director 152,000 . - - 4,500 - - - - - 156,500
| Martin Direclor appointed 2/6/05 - No benefits paid in this period
M O'Brien CCO 151,888 147,095 192,201 2,73¢ 17492 - 26,354 - - 5,995 544 664
K Pryke CFC 122,954 120,868 98,463 2,739 14,273 - 85,966 - - 4,804 450,216
d Coyne Gensral
Counsel/Secretary 93,285 53,900 60,641 64 16,600 - - - - 3,635 222125
M Fockes
Refai GM - - “ - - - N - . - -
N Tobin JV GM - - - - - B - B - - -
B Morris Hotels PM - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 922,816 35,745 735,662 8,281 76,877 211,467 144,171 - - 20,546 2,759 666

There were no termination benefits earned during the period.

Table 2 Remuneration details 3 June 2005 to 31 December 2005

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Personnel of GPT RE Limited for the period 3 June 2005 to 31 December 2005 is set out

in the following table:

Share
Other tong term Based
Short term employee benefits pPost Employment benefits Termination  Paymaeant
Salary & Commitment Non Super- Retirement LT
Fees ST Bonus Bonus  Mcnetary annustion Benefits Bonus Retention Total
Key Management Personnel
NLyons CEQC &
Director
(8ppointed 2/6/05) 378,296 115,267 270,157 3.194 23,141 - - 378,219 - . 1,168,274
E Goodwin
Director 34,385 . - - 3,095 - - - - - 37,480
M Latharn Director 42,761 - . - 3,868 - - - - 46,629
K Moss Director 45,627 - “ - 4,126 - - . - - 49,753
B Notris Director 43,144 - - - 3,833 - - - - - 46,977
E Nosworthy
Director 42,981 - - - 3,868 - - - - - 46,849
P Joseph Director 88,550 - “ - 6,189 - - - - - 74,739
| Martin Director
{appointed 2/6/05) 34,385 B B . 3,005 - - - - . 37,480
M O'Brien COO 280,498 53.816 201,811 3,200 8,924 - - 282,535 - - 830,784
K Pryke CFO 228,085 43,052 164,818 3.200 8,883 - . 230,745 - - 679.683
4 Coyne General
CounselfSecretary 168,016 19,600 122,500 - 8,090 - - 171,500 - - 488,706
M Fookes
Retait GM 237,788 45,804 171,768 3,200 8,924 - - 240,473 - - 707,966
N Tobin JV GM 221,893 38,431 160,129 - 8,796 - - 224,181 - - 653,430
B Morris Holels
P 212,138 41,885 153,316 - 8,668 - - 214,842 - - 330,708
Total 2.038,608 358.765 1.244,497 12,794 103,500 - - 1,742,296 - - 5,500,459

There were no termination benefits earned during the period.

#  The amount set out in “Other Long Term Benefits - Relention” represents an accrual for part of the retention award that becomes payable on 30
June 2007. The total amounts payable in respect of this retention award (assunting that the executive remains with GPT until 30 June 2007) is as
follows: N. Lyons $1,350,783, M. O'Brien $1,009,054, K. Pryke $824,088, N. Tobin $800,647, M. Fookes $858,831, B. Morris $766,578 and J.

Coyne 5612,500.
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Directors’ Report

For the year ended 31 December 2005

Details of Remuneration (continued)

Table 3 Remuneration details 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Personnel of the stapled entity for the year ended 31 December 2005 is set out in the

following table:

Key management
Parsonnel

N Lyons CEO & Director
(appointed 2/6/05)

E Goodwin Director

M Latham Director

K Moss Director

B Norris Director

E Nosworthy Director
P Joseph Dirsclor

| Madtin Dirgcfor
(appointed 2/6/05)

M O'Brien COO

K Pryke CFO

James Coyne General
Counsel /Secretary

M Fookes Retail GM
N Tobin JV GM
B Morris Hotels PM

Total

Share

Other fong term Based

Short term employes benefits Post Employment henefits Payment

Salary & Non Super- Retirement
Fees STiBonus Bonus Monetary annuation Benefits LTI Bonus Retention Total

592,152 432,251 654 484 5,833 42,377 - 31,821 378,219 6,022 2,143,259
34,385 - - - 3,085 - - - - 37,480
101,761 - - - 6,118 . . - . 107,879
112,960 - - B 7,125 - - - - 120,086
74 394 - - - 6,646 211,467 - - - 292,507
74,231 - - - 6,681 - - - - 80,912
220,550 - - - 10,689 - - - - 231,239
34,385 - - - 3,095 - - - - 37,480
432,386 201,811 394,012 5,939 26,416 - 26,354 282,535 5895 1375448
351,039 164,818 263,311 5,939 23,156 - 85,396 230,745 4,884 1,129,899
261,30 73.500 183,141 64 18,690 - - 171,500 3,835 711,831
237,799 45.804 171,766 3,200 8,924 - - 240,473 - 707,966
221,893 38,431 180,129 - 8,796 . . 224,181 - 653,430
212,188 41,895 153,316 - 8,668 - - 214,642 B 630,709
2,961,424 993,510 1,980,159 21,075 180,477 211467 144,171 1742295 20,546 8,260,125

No termination benefits were paid during the period.

Table 4 Remuneration details 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Personnel of the

following table:

Key management
Personnel

N Lyons CEO

& Goodwin Director

M Latham Director

K Moss Director

B Norris Director

E Noswarthy Director

P Joseph Director

M O'Brien COO

K Pryke CFO

J Coyne General
Counsel/Secretary
{appoirted 1 July 2004)
Mark Fookes Retail G
Neil Tobin JV GM
Bruce Morris Hofels PM

Total

stapled entity for the year ended 31 December 2004 is set out in the

Share
Other long term Based
Short term employee benefits Post Emptoyment benefits Paymaent
Salary & Retention Non Super- Retirement
Fees STiBonus Banus Monetary annuation Benefits LTI Bonus Retention Total
455,632 377025 - 5,400 38,992 - 212,034 - 12,807 1,102,880
4,000 - - - - . - - - 4,000
132,000 - - - 5,400 - - - - 137,400
140,000 - - - 7,200 - - - - 147,200
80,000 - - ~ 7,200 - “ - - 87.200
135,000 - - - 6,750 - - - - 141,750
258,750 - - - 7,088 - - . “ 265,838
339,835 169,137 - 12,233 29,730 - 54 366 - 13,831 619,232
259,253 91,569 - 6,400 22,441 - 25,497 - 10,405 415,585
108,970 28,806 - 75 8,233 - - - 4.362 150,446
1,913 440 566,567 - 25,108 133,034 J 291,897 Q 41,505 3,071,550

No termination benefits were paid during the pericd.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Detaiis of Remuneration {continued)

Short-term emplovee benefits 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005

A reconciliation of all shori-term employee benefits made to the Chief Executive Officer and key management personnel during the financial

year to 31 December 2005 is set out below.

Nic Lyons
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
(CEO)

Michasl O'Brien
Chief Operating Cfficer (CCO)

Kieran Pryke
Chief Financiat Officer (CFO)

Neil Tobin
General Manager JV (JVGM)

Mark Fookes
General Manager Retail {Retail GM)

Bruce Morris
Portfolio Manager Hotels and Tourism (H&T PM)

James Coyne
General Counsel/Company Secretary

Nature of ST Compensation

STiPlan Lend Lease

STi Plan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Commitment Payment GPT

STi Plan Lend Lease
STiPlan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Commitrment Payment GPT
ST Plan Lend Lease

ST{ Plan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Commitment Payment GPT

STi Plan GPT
Commitment Payment GPT

STi Plan GPT
Commitment Payment GPT

STi Plan GPT
Commitment Payment GPT

STi Plan Lend Lease

STi Plan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Commitment Payment GPT

Total Value of STI payment

316,984
115,267
384,327
270,157

147,895
53,816

192,201
201,811

120,866
43,952
98,483
164,818

38,431
160,129

45,804
171,766

41,895
153,316

53,900
19,600
60,641
122,500
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For the year ended 31 December 2005

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

GPT intends entering into Deeds of Indemnity and Access in favour of each of the Directors of GPT indemnifying them to the extent permitted
by law for losses, liabilities, costs and charges incurred as a Director of GPT including, in respect of the Independent Directors, in connection
with the Explanatory Memorandum dated 2 May 2005.

During the financial year GPT paid insurance premiums to insure the Directors and Officers of the company and its subsidiary companies. The
terms of the contract prohibit the disclosure of amounts of premium paid.

The liabilities insured are for costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against Directors and
Cfficers in their capacity as Directors and Officers of GPT and its subsidiary companies and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred
by the Officers and Directors in connection with such proceedings other than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving wilful breach
of duty by the Officers or the improper use by the Officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else
or to cause detriment to GPT.

The Auditors are in no way indemnified out of the assets of the Trust.

Non-audit services

During the year PricewaterthouseCoopers, GPT's auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory duties.

The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied that, while the fees paid for Non-Audit
services compared to the fees paid for audit services was relatively high during the period, the provision of the non-audit services during the
year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporation Act 2001 for the
following reasons:

- The fact that the non-audit services related to the unique circumstances for GPT during the pericd namely the Stockland takeover offer
and the internalisation proposal following on from the Lend Lease merger proposal during the course of 2004 and 2005.

- The Audit & Risk Management Committee reviewed the non audit services at the fime of appointment to ensure that they did not impact
upon the integrity and objectivity of the Auditor.

- The Board’s own review conducted in conjunction with the Audit and Risk Committee, having regard to the Board's policy with respect to
the engagement of GPT's Auditor.

- The declaration of the independence provided by PricewaterhouseCceopers, as auditor of GPT.

- The fact that none of the non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers during the period had the characteristics of
management or decision-making self-review or advocacy.

31 Dee 200531 Dec 2004

$'c00 $'000
Assurance services
Audit services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the
Corporations Act 2001 : 1,260.8 814.2
Other Assurance Services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Audit of regulatory returns 46.2 17.2
IFRS accounting services 160.0 -
Due diligence services* 1,325.0 1,203.0
Total remuneration for other assurance services 1,631.2 1,220.2
Taxation Services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Expatriate taxation services 67.2 -

*  Other assurance services provided in 2005 were predominantly due diligence revtews on the internalisation and establishment of joint
venture with Babcock & Brown. In 2004 services were predominantly due diligence reviews on Lend Lease Corporation Limited's merger
propesal and Stockland's takeover proposal.
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Rounding of Amounts

The amounts disclosed in the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Ausiralian
Securities & Investments Commissiar, pursuant to which, unless otherwise indicated, the amounts in the Directors' Report have been roundad

1o the nearest lenth of a million dollars.
PricewaterhouseCoopers have been appeinted as auditor of GPT in accordance with section 327 of the Corparations Act, 2001.
Dated at SYDNEY this 23" day of February, 2006

Signed In accordance with a resclution of the Direclors.

Peter Joséph ’ Nic Lyom

Director . Director
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DX 77 Sydney
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, Telephone +81 2 8266 0000
Auditors’ Independence Statement Facsimile +B1 2 8266 9999

As lead auditor for the audit of General Property Trust for the year ended 31 December 2005, |
confirm that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) no contraventions of the auditer independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001

in relation to the audit for the reporting period other than a contravention covered by ASIC
Class Order 05/810, and

b) no contraventions of any applicable codes of professional conduct in relation to the audit for
the reporting period.

This statement is in respect of General Property Trust and the entities it controlled during the
reporting period.

RD Deutsch Sydney

Partner 23 February 2006
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Stendards Legislation




Income Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Revenue

Rent from investment properties

Interest - Joint venture investment arrangements

Interest - Cash and short term money market securities

Revenue from hotel operations

Distributions from controlied entities, associates and joint ventures

Fair value adjustments to investment properties

Fair value adjustments of controlled entities, associates and joint ventures
Share of net profits of associates and joint venturaes accounted for using
the equity method

Net proceeds on disposal of properties

Other income

Total income

Expenses

Rates, taxes and other property outgoings

Repairs and maintenance

Provision for doubtful debts

Audit and accounting fees

Finance costs to financial institutions

Finance costs to security holders :

Net (gain)/ioss en re-measurement of derivatives to fair value
Net {receipt)/payment on derivatives

Net exchange loss on foreign currency borrowings
Responsible Entity's fee

Management and other administration costs
Impairment of investments

Expenses from hotel operations

Other expenses

Depreciation expense

Costs associated with internalisation/merger proposals

Profit before income fax
Income tax benefit

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:

- Equity holders of the parent
- Equity holders of other stapled entities

Basic and diluted earnings per equity holder of the Trust

Basic and diluted earnings per equity holder of the Trust before financing
costs attributable to GPT unitholders

The above income statements shouid be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes

32

3z

Consolidated Parent entity
2005 2004 2005 2004
$M M SM $M
689.5 646.9 307.2 2974
18.8 4.0 14.1 4.0
2.5 74 3.7 3.8
125.7 - - -
. - 410.2 3529
836.5 658.3 735.2 658.1
336.6 597.3 1711 3922
- 2100 2101
179.0 99.5 1.3 -
10.0 0.9 - -
525.6 6977 3824 602.3
1,362.1 1,356.0 1,117.6 1,260.4
160.5 146.4 €6.6 70.8
17.4 1.0 11.1 54
0.5 0.1 0.1 (0.1
1.3 08 1.2 0.7
155.6 142.8 160.7 142.8
205.56 1,009.4 205.5 1,008.4
(8.4} {3.8) {8.4) (3.8)
(7.5} {8.5) {7.5) (8.5}
9.8 - {1.3) -
15.4 355 20.7 21.8
12.2 - - -
63.7 - 6.1 -
84.5 - - -
5.7 58 6.9 5.4
7.2 - - -
62.3 16.5 54.7 16.5
785.7 1,356.0 516.4 1,260.4
566.4 - 601.2 -
(0.4} - - -
566.8 - 601.2 -
589.0 - 601.2 -
{22.2) - - -
Cents Cents
29.2 -
38.4 50.3

See note 3 for reconciliation of operating income to realised operating income / distribution

See note 32 for basic & diluted earnings per security holder for the stapled entity before and after financing costs to unitholders
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Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2005

Consolidated Parent entity
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes £ M $M ™
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 93.7 50.8 27.7 452
Receivables 7 136.5 58.9 15.6 16.5
inventory 8 8.1 - - -
Other 2 131 4.7 3.9 1.3
Derivative financial instruments 10 27.3 11.2 27.3 11.2
278.7 125.7 745 742
Non-current Assets
Investment properties 11 7,245.1 7.491.3 3,3783 3,649.6
Investment in controlled entities 13 - - 5,114.9 45291
Investment in joint ventures 14 1,433.3 1,203.4 781.2 889.1
Investment in associates 15 23.4 11.8 - -
Property, plant & equipment 16 689.1 164.7 3.9 29
Other financial assets 17 71841 102.7 689.3 481
Deferred tax asset 18 74 - . R
intangible assels 18 358 - - -
10,152.0 89737 9,947.6 3.918.8
Total Assets 10,431.7 9,080.4 10,022.1 8,863.0
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 20 248.0 1821 156.7 87.3
Borrowings 21 1,688.6 1,068.0 1,671.7 1,066.4
Derivative financial instruments 10 34.3 26.8 343 26.6
Provisions 22 144.1 112.8 133.1 112.8
2,015.0 1,389.6 1,895.8 1,283.2
Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings 21 2,035.6 1,625.3 2,039.7 1,625.3
Provisions 22 3.8 - - -
Deferred tax liability 23 0.2 - - -
2,043.4 16253 2,039.7 16253
Liabilities (excluding amounts attributable to security holders) 4,058.4 3,0249 3,935.5 2,818.5
Net assets attributable to security holders 8,074.5 5,074.5
Net Assets 6,373.3 - 6,088.6 -
EQUITY
Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent
Contributed equity 24 4,296.0 - 4,296.0 -
Reserves 16.2 - - -
Undistributed income 24 1,778.4 - 1,780.6 -
GPT unitholders’ interest 6,090.6 - 6,086.6 -
Equity attributable to the equity holders of other entities stapled to
GPT
Contributed equity 24 625 - - -
Reserves 24 - - -
Undistributed income 24 {22.2) - - -
Gther stapled security holders’ interest 282.7 - - -
Total Equity 6,373.3 - 6,086.6 -

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Total equity at the beginning of the year

Gain on revaluation of hotel operations and joint venture
Exchange differences of foreign exchange on foreign operations
Net income recognised directly in equity

Profit for the year

Total recognised income and expense for the year

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:
Transfer of liabilities attributable to unitholders from liability to equity
Capital distribution on stapling

Distribution paid or payable

Total equity at the end of the year

Total recagnised income and expenditure atiributable to:
Members of the trust
Minority interest

The above changes in equity should be read in confunciion with the accompanying nofes.

Consolidated Parent entity
2005 2004 2005 2004
M g M $M
4.7 - - -
13.8 - . -
18.8 - - -
£66.8 - 601.2 -
585.4 - 601.2 -
6,085.4 - 6,085.4 -
- - (302.5) -
(257.5) - {297.5) -
8,373.3 - 6,086.6 -
605.2 - 601.2 -
(1%.8} - - -
585.4 - 601.2 -
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Cash Flow Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2006

Consolidated Parent entity
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes M M M ™
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts in the course of operations {inclusive of GST) 786.5 620.0 3519 316.5
Cash payments in the course of operations (inclusive of GST} ‘(422.6) (278.2) {274.3) (139.4)
Interest received 22.4 9.4 17.8 6.0
Distributions received from controlled entities - - 360.6 308.0
Distributiens received from associates and joint ventures 119.4 90.9 541 491
Net.receipt from derivatives 7.5 8.5 7.5 8.5
523.2 5226 517.6 548.7
Borrowing costs {172.3} {132.5) {185.2) {132.5)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 30 350.8 380.1 3224 416.2
Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for investment properties {310.3) {685.0) (155.5) {169.9)
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties 874.5 20.5 616.3 -
{increase)/decrease in property deposits - 74.6 - 748
Payments for property, plant and equipment {3.5) - - -
Payments for properties under construction {269.4) {63.5) (49.1) {2.8)
{Increase)/decrease in other loans 456 (55.7) 481 (48.1)
Investments in joint ventures and associates {213.1) (5.0} (24.5) -
Loan (to)/from joint ventures and associates (691.7) (5.0) {679.0) -
Investment in controlled entities - - {353.9) (575.9)
Net cash receipt on controf of subsidiary 10.1 - - -
Loan (to)/from controfied entities - - 110.5 (25.6)
Net cash outflows from investing activities (757.8} (718.1) {487.1) (747.8)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net commercial bills issued 11118 1318 1111.6 130.0
Net short and mediurn term notes issued/(paid) {180.0) 440.0 (180.0} 440.0
Proceeds from issue of securities - 200.3 - 2003
Finance costs and distributions paid to security holders {471.9) (438.0) (774.4) {436.0)
Net cash inflows from financing activities 449.7 335.9 147.2 3343
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 42.8 89 (17.58) 27
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 50.9 44.0 45.2 42.5
Cash at the end of the financial year 8 93.7 50.9 27.7 45,2

The shove cash fiow sfatements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

1.

(a)

&)

Summary of accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to ail the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial report includes separate financial statements for
General Property Trust (Trust') as an individual entity and the consolidated entity, the GPT Group ('GPT’), consisting of the Trust and its
subsidiaries,

Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with the Trust's Constitution, Australian equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRSs), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001,

Compliance with IFRSs

Austrafian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. Compliance with AIFRSs
ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes of GPT comply with International Financial Repoerting Standards (IFRSs).
The Trusts financial statements and notes also comply with IFRSs except that it has elected to apply the relief provided to parent
entities in respect of certain disclosure requirements contained in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure and
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

Application of AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

These financial statements are the first GPT financial statements to be prepared in accordance with AIFRSs. AASB 1 First-time
Adoption of Australian Equivalents to Infernational Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing these financial
statements.

Financial statements of GPT for the year ended 31 December 2004 were prepared in accordance with previous Ausiralian Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (previous AGAAP). Previous AGAAP differs in certain respects from AIFRS. When preparing the GPT
financial statements, management has amended certain accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied in previous AGAAP
financial statements to comply with AIFRS. The comparative figures in respect of 2004 were restated to reflect these adjustments.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRS on GPT's equity and net profit are set ouf in
Note 34.

Transitional exemptions

GPT elected not to apply AASB 3 Business Combinations retrospectively to all business combinations that occurred before the transition
date of 1 January 2004. GPT elected not to apply any of the other AASB 1 exemptions and has elected to prepare comparative
information that complies with all AIFRS including AASB 132 Finencial instruments: Presentation and Disciosure and AASB 139
Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting Standards issued but not effective as 31 December 2005

At 31 December 2005, standards applicable to GPT that have been issued but are not yet effective are AASB 7 Financial Instruments
and consequential amendments made by AASB 2005-10. The standards are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2007. GPT does not intend o adopt these prior to this date. The impact en the financial statements relates to disclosures
only.

Accounting for the GPT Group

On 10 June 2005, a stapled entity {the GPT Group) was formed by stapling together the units in the Trust to the shares in GPT
Management Holdings Limited ('the Company'). In accordance with AASB Interpretation 1002 Post-date of fransition stapling
Arrangements, the stapled entity reflects the consolidated entity. The parent entity and deemed acquirer in this arrangement is the Trust.
The consolidated resuits reflect the performance of the Trust and its subsidiaries from 1 January 2005 and the addition of the Company
and its subsidiaries from the date of consclidation, 2 June 2005 to 31 December 2005. Equity atiributable to other stapled entities is a
form of minority interest in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1002 and in the consolidated column, represents the contributed equity
of the Company.

The stapled securities of GPT are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange under the code GPT and comprise of one unit in the Trust
and one share in the Company. The unit and share are stapled together under the terms of the constilution and cannot be traded
separately. Each entity forming part of GPT continues as a separate legal entity in its own right under the Corporations Act 2001 and is
therefore requived to comply with the reporting and disclosure requirements under the Corporations Actf 2601 and Australian Accounting
Standards.

On implementation, the Trust unitholders received 15 cents per unit of capital distribution totalling $302.8 million, referred o as the
stapling distribution. Unitholders authorised GPT RE Limited (the new responsible entity for the Trust) to apply the stapling distribution to
subscribe for shares in the Company of $302.5 million. For each unit held in the Trust, unitholders received one share in the Company.
The amount of the stapling distribution had regard to: the funding requirements of the Company, funding requirements of the joint
venture with Babcock & Brown, the acquisition costs of the Company acquiring GPT RE Limited and Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty
Limited.

In eonjunction with the stapling, the Company acquired GPT RE Limited to act as the Responsible Entity of the Trust pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement following GPT Management Limited being replaced by GPT RE Limited as the responsible entity of the Trust.

As a result of the stapling, investors in GPT will receive payments from each component of the stapled security comprising distributions
from the Trust and dividends from the Company. GPT RE Limited, the Responsible Entity of the Trust, is a wholly owned entity of the
Company.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries as at 31 December 2005 and the results of
all subsidiaries for the year then ended. GPT and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as GPT or the
consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which GPT has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the GPT controls another
entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to GPT. They are de-consolidated from the dale that
control ceases.

The purchase methed of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by GPT (refer to note 1{n)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between GFT entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
glirninated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by GPT.

Associates

Assaciates are all entities over which GPT has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for in the Trust's financial statements using the cost method
and in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. GPT's invesiment in associates includes goodwill (net of any
accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition (refer note 15).

Under this method, GPT's share of the associates' net profit after tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement, and the share
of movements in reserves is recognised in reserves in the consolidated balance sheet. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Distributions and dividends receivable from associates are recognised in the
Trust's income statement, while in the consolidated financial statements they represent a return of GPT's investment and reduce the
carrying amount of the investment,

When GPT’s share of losses in assoclates equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, it
does not recognise any further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Acceounting policies of the associates have been changed where necessary 1o ensure consistency with the policies adopted by GPT.
All balances and effects of transactions between associates and GPT have been eliminated.

Joint ventures

Joint venture operations

The proportionate interest in the assets, liabilities and expenses of joint venture operations have been incorporated in the financial
statements under the appropriate headings. Details of the joint venture are set out in note 14.
Joint venture entities
The Trust's interests in joint venture entities are carried at fair value. Where the underying investment in the joint venture entity is
investment property, the fair value is determined on the same basis as investment property (refer Note 1(d)(i)).

The Company's investments in joint venture entities are carried at cost by the parent entity and accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements. Under this method, the Company’s share of the joint venfure entities' net profit after tax is
recognised in the consolidated income statement, and the share of movement in reserves is recognised in reserves in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Investments in joint venture entities held by GPT are canied at the lower of the equity accounted carrying amount and recoverable
amount.

Al balances and effects of transactions between joint ventures and GPT have been eliminated.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

1.

(d)
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fi)

(i)

(e)

Summary of accounting policies {continued)
Investment property

The Trust's Compliance Plan requires that all property investments he externally valued at intervals of not more than three years and
those valuations are reflected in the financial report of GPT. it is the policy of the Responsible Entity to review the fair value of each
investment property every six months. Independent valuations of the individual investments are carried out each three years in
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Trust Constitution, or earlier where the Responsible Entity believes there may be a
material change in the carrying vaiue of the property.

Expenses capitalised to properties may include the cost of acquisition, additions, refurbishments, redevelopments, borrowing costs and
fees incurred and are subsequently recorded at fair value at the next reporting date.

investment property

Property (including land and buildings) held for long-term rental yields and that is not occupied by an entity in GPT, is classified as
investment property.

Investment preperty is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset or where this is not available, an appropriate valuation method which may include discounted cashflow
projections and the capitalisation method. Discount rates and capitalisation rates are determined based upon the Trust's industry
knowledge and expertise and where possible, direct comparison to third party rates for similar assets in a3 comparable location. The fair
value reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of
current market conditions. It also reflects any cash outflows (excluding those relating to future capital expenditure) that could be
expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits assoclated with
the item wil] flow to GPT and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Land and buildings {including integral plant and equipment) that comprise invesiment property are not depreciated. The carnying amount
includes components relating to lease incentives and assets relating to fixed increases in operating lease rentals in future periods.

Changes in the fair value of an investment property are recorded in the income statement,

Some property investments are held in joint ownership arrangements (joint venture operations). The proportionate interests in the
assets, liabilities and expenses of a joint venture cperation have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate
headings.

Certain hotel investments are classified as investment property in the Trust's financial statements, and classified as owner occupied
property in the consolidated financial statements as GPT cwns and operates the hotels {refer to note 1(d)ii)). Property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as property, plant and equipment and stated at cost until
construction or development is complete, at which time it is reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment property.

Land held under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as investiment property when the definition of investment property is
met.

Investment property held for sale is classified within non-current assets held for sale, under AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations.

Owner Occupied Property

Owner occupied property is property that is held for use in supplying services by entities within GPT. The investments in certain hotels
are accounted for as owner occupied in the consolidated enfity as GPT owns and operates the hotels.

Owner occupied property is classified as property, plant and equipment (refer to nete 1(m)).
Property under construction

Properties under construction are carried at historical cost until completion. Upon compietion of construction, the assels are classified as
investment property (refer to note 1(d)(i) or property, plant and equipment (refer to note 1{m)).

Lease Incentives

Incentives may be provided to lessees to enter into an operating lease. These incentives may be in the form of cash, rent free pericds,
lessee or lessor owned fitouts. They are amortised over the termn of the lease as a reduction of rental income. The carrying amount of
the lease incentives is reflected in the fair value of investiment properties.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)

(f

{h)

(i

(ii)

i

(k)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible {0 known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafls are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the
balance sheet.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recoegnised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, tess provision for doubtful debts.
Trade receivables are due to be settied in advance of the period to which they relate.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision
for doubtfu! receivables is established when there is objective evidence that GPT will not be able to collect all amounts due accoerding to
the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the assetl's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows. The amount of the pravision is recognised in the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquisition over the fair value of GPT’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary or asseciate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on
acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill acquired in business combinations is not amortised. Instead,
goodwill is fested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired,
and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains or fosses on disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Operating fease rights

Operating lease rights have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impaired losses. Amortisation is
caleutated using the straight line method fo allocate the cost of the operating lease right over its useful life. The operating lease right
relates to the resort operation at Lizard Island Resort.

Non~current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale and are stated at the lower of fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through the sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet.
Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair vaiue on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to
their fair value.

GPT is exposed to changes in interest raies and foreign exchange rates and uses interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, cross
currency swaps, options, and forward foreign exchange contracts fo hedge these risks. Such derivative financial instruments are carried
on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Other financial assets

Other financial assets are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and arise when GPT provides money or services to a debtor with no
intention of selling the receivable.

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Under this method, fees, costs, discounts
and premiums directly related to the financial assets are spread over its expected life.
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Summary of accounting policies {continued)

(m) Property, plant & equipment

(n)

(o)

(o)

Certain hotels are owner occupied property and are stated at fair value. The basis of fair value is the same as outlined in investment
property note 1(d). At the consolidated entity level, hotel assets are classed as property, plant and equipment and are depreciated. Any
accumuiated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated
fo the revalued amount of the asset. Increments in the carrying amounts arising from revaluation on hotels are credited {o the asset
revaluation reserve in equity. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease previously recognised in the income sfatement, the
increase is first recognised in the income statement. Decreases that reverse previcus increases of the same asset are first charged
against the asset revaluation reserve directly in equity to the extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the asset: all other
decrements are recognised in the income statement.

At the Trust level, certain hotel assets are classified as investment property and are included within that balance. Any revaluation
movement is recognised in the income statement (note 1{d)}.

Office fixtures, fittings and operating equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to its acquisition. Subsequent cosls are included in the asset’s carrying amount of recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, enly when it is probable that future econemic benefits associated with the item will flow to GPT and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 1o the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their expected usefu! fives, as follows:

- Motor Vehicles 4 -7 years
- Office fixtures, fittings and operating equipment 518 years
- Buildings 40 years

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the income
statement. When revalued assets are sold, it is GPT policy to transfer the amounts included in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of
those assets to retained earnings.

Acquisition of assets

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all acquisition of assets {including business combinations) regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assels are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or
liabifities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value
of GPT's share of the net identifiable assets acquired represents goodwill (refer to Note 1{i)). if the cost of acquisition is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised direclly in the income statement, but only after a
reassessment of the identification and measurement of net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amount payable in the future is discounted to their present value as
af the dafe of exchange. The discount rate used in the entity's incremental borrowing rate is at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amertised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless GPT has unconditional right to defer settiement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to camplete
and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest applicable to
the entity’s outstanding borrowings during the year, 7.0% (2004 8.9%).
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Summary of accounting policies {continued)
Income tax
Trusts

Under current tax legisiation, Trusts are not liable for income tax, provided their texable income and taxable realised gains are fully
distributed to security holders each financial year.

Company and other taxable entities

The income fax expense and revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the national
income tax rate for each jursdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and fabilities attributable to temporary differences
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected {o apply when the assets are
recovered or liabilities are setiled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The
relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax
asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these terporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business
combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in controlled entities where the Trust is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

GPT and its wholly owned Australian controlied entities have not implemented the tax consolidation legisiation.

Segment Reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment and is subject to risks and retumns that are different from those of segments operating in other
econormic environments.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to GPT prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. The
amounis are unsecured and are usuaily paid within 30 days of recognition.

Foreign currency

Functional and presentation currency

ltemns included in the financial statements of each of the GPT entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate ('the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian Dolfars,
which is the Trust's functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and batances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assels and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Foreign cperations

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost are converted using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences of non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss,
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Exchange differences ariging on monetary items that form part of the net investment in a foreign operation are taken to the profit and
loss in the parent entity and against a foreign currency transliation reserve on consaolidation.

Where forward forgign exchange contracts are entered into to cover any anticipated excesses of revenue less expenses within foreign
joint venture entities, they are converted at the ruling rates of exchange at the reporting period. The resulting foreign exchange gains
and losses are taken to the income statement.
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Summary of accounting policies (continuedt)
Employee benefits
Wages and salaries, annusl ieave and sick feave

Liabifities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annuat leave expected to be settled within 12 months of reporting
date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts o be
expected o be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulated sick leave are recognised when leave is taken and
measured at the rates paid or payable.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected
future payments {o be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the profected unit credit
method. Consideration is given fo expect future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on naticnal government bonds with terms to maturity
and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Retirement benefit obligations

All employees of GPT are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death from the GPT Group Superannuation Plan. The GPT
Group Superannuation Plan has a defined contribution section within its plan. The defined contribution section receives fixed
contributions and GPT's legal and constructive obfigation is limited to these contributions. The employees of GPT are all members of
the defined contribution section of the GPT Group Superannuation Plan.

Contributions 1o the defined contribution fund are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are
recegnised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

GPT recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a conslructive obligation.
Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: GFT has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more
likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required fo settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are nof recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an cutflow will be required in setliernent is determined by considering
the class of the obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outfiow with respect to any one item in the

same class of obligations may be small.

Distributions and dividends

Distributions and dividends are paid o security holders each quarter. A provision for distribution or dividend for the amount of any
distribution or dividend declared, determined or publicly recommended by the directors on or before the end of the financial year is
recognised in the balance sheet in the financial year in which the payment remains cutstanding.

Contributed equity
Ordinary units and shares are classified as equity.

increase in costs directly attributable to the issue of new securities or options are shown in equily as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

On 10 June 2005, a stapled entity was formed by stapling together the units in the Trust to the shares in the Company. For the purposes
of statutory reporting, the stapled entity reflects the consolidated entity.

Revenue recognition

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term. An asset is recognised to represent the
portion of operating lease revenue in a reporting period relating to fixed increases in operating lease rentals in future periods. These
assets are recognised as a component of investment properties. When GPT provides lease incentives to tenants, the costs of the
incentives are recognised over the lease term, on a straight line basis, as a reduction of rental income.

Dividend and distribution income is recognised when declared. GPT's share of net profits from associates and joint venture entities is

included in the consolidated income statement and has been separately disclosed. Revenue not received at balance date is included ag
a receivable in the balance sheet.
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1. Summary of accounting policies {continued)
(z) Earnings per security

Basic earnings per security

Basic earnings per secunty is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to security helders of GPT, by the weighied average
number of ordinary securities (WANOS') outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary securities issued
during the financial year. For the purpose of the calculation of the WANGS outstanding during the financial year, securities are taken to
include those classified as liabilities up until 2 June 2005.

As there are no potential ordinary shares or securities, diluted earnings per security is the same as basic earnings per security.
(aa) Rounding of amounts
The financial report of GPT has been prepared in accordance with Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities &

Investments Commission, relating to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been
rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest tenth of a million dollars, unless otherwise stated.
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2. Finance costs and distributions paid and payable to security hofders
In respect of the six months ended 30 June 2005

Finance costs of 5.7 cenis per unit paid on 20 May 2005 (23 May 2004: 5.4 cents)
Distribution of 5.7 cents per unit paid on 28 Aug 2005 {23 Aug 2004 5.5 cents)

Finance costs and distributions paid for the six months ended 30 June 2005

11.4 cents per unit (30 Jun 2004: 10.9 cents)
In respect of the six months ended 31 December 2005

Distiibution of 6.4 cents per unit paid on 21 Nov 2005 (22 Nov 2004: 5.5 cents)

Distribution of 8.8 cents per unit payabie on 23 Mar 2006 (25 Feb 2005: 5.8 cents)’

Distributions paid and payable for the six months ended 31 December 2005
13.0 cents per unit {31 Dec 2004: 11.1 cents)”

Finance costs and distributions paid or payable for the year ended 31
December 2005

24.4 cents per unit (31 Dec 2004: 22.0 cents)’

Undistributed income at 31 December

Consofidated
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

Parent entity

M &M M M
115.0 108.9 115.0 108.9
1150 110.9 115.0 1108
230.0 219.8 230.0 219.8
129.0 110.9 129.0 110.9
133.1 112.9 133.4 112.8
262.1 2238 262.1 223.8
4921 44386 4921 4436

8.8 38 8.8 8.6

Prior {0 2 June 2005, retums to unitholders were classified as finance costs (refer to note 34(d)i)

On 10 June 2005, security holders also received 15 cents per unit capital distribution of $302.5 million, referred to as the stapling
distribution. Unitholders authorised GPT RE Limited {the new responsible entity for the Trust) to apply the stapling distribution to
subscribe for shares in the Company of $3302.5 million. For each unit held in the Trust unithelders received one share in the Company.

3. Reconciliation of Operating Income to Realised Operating Income / Distribution

Profit after tax

Add: finance costs to security holders

Profit after tax before finance costs to security holders
Fair value adjustments

Revenue adjustments

Net gain on disposal of properties

Costs associated with internalisation

Cther

Realised operating income

Undistributed income carried forward

Transfer from unrealised income entitiement

Transfer from security holder contributions
Distributable Realised Operating income
Distributions/finance costs paid and payable
Undistributed realised operating income at the end of the financial year

566.8 - 601.2 -
205.5 1,008.4 205.5 1,009.4
772.3 1.009.4 806.7 1,009.4
(356.9) (596.7) (394.9) (590.5)
15.2 13.7 9.0 75
{10.0) (©.9) . -
$2.3 16.5 54.7 16.5
5.4 - (0.3) (©.9)
492.3 442.0 475.2 4420
88 78 8.6 786

. - 17.1 -

- 2.6 . 26
500.9 452.2 500.9 452.2
492.1 443.6 492.1 443.8
3.8 8.6 3.8 8.6
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Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M &M M M
4. Expenses
Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
Depreciation
Buildings 3.8 - . -
Piant and equipment 3.4 - - -
7.2 - - -
Finance cosfs - net
Interest and finance charges paid/payable 186.6 1718 186.6 1716
Amount capitalised {23.5) {20.3} (23.5) (20.3)
Finance costs incurred 163.1 151.3 163.1 151.3
Net (receipt)/payment on derivatives {7.5) (8.5) (7.5) (8.5)
Interest paid on ioan o related entity - - 5.1 -
Finance costs expensed 155.6 142 8 160.7 142.8
Expenses from hotel operations
Costs of sales 204 - - .
Employee costs 42.2 - . -
Consumables used 18.1 - - -
Other expenses 13.8 - - -
94.5 - - -
Defined contribution superannuation expense 3.8 - - -
$'000 $'000 §'000 $'000
Auditors' remuneration {note 26) 2,869.2 2.034 4 2,749.2 1,884.7
Responsible Entity's fee — GPT Management Limited 15,353.0 35,5107 8,528.3 21,8408
Responsible Entity's fee — GPT RE Limited . - 12,208.8 -
Total 15,353.0 358107 20,736.9 21,8408

GPT Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Lend Lease Corporation Limited, was the Responsible Entity of General Property
Trust until replaced on 6 June 2005. The base management fee payable by GPT to GFT Management Limited was 0.40% per annum of
gross assets, with a performance component, if applicable, of 5% of GPT's outperfermance compared to the S&P/ASX Property 200
Accumulafion Index. The total fee payable each six months was capped at 0.275% of the gross assets of the Trust. GPT Management
Limited was entitled to receive all or part of the performance fee so that earnings per unit for each six month period were not less than the
eamings per unit for the previous six month period. No performance fee was payable in respect of the period to 6 June 2005.

GPT RE Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of GPT Management Holdings Limited, became the respensible entity on 6 June 2005. The
base management fee payabie by the Trust to GPT RE Limited was 0.40% per annum of gross assets, with a performance component, if
applicable, of 5% of the Trust's outperformance compared to the S&P/ASX Property 200 Accumulation Index. The foltal fee payable each
six months is capped at 0.275% of the gross assets of the Trust. GPT RE has recharged its costs incurred on a 100% recovery basis and
has waived the right to an amount up 1o the capped amount.

Management and other administration costs associated with GPT RE Limited being the Responsible Enfity for the Trust include employee
costs, rent and outgoings and cther associated costs.

Management and other administration casts 12,208.6 - - -

34




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

§. [ncome tax expense
Income tax expense

Current tax
Deferred tax

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Praofit before income tax expense

Less: profit attributed to entities not subject to tax
Profit before income tax expense subject to tax
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%

Tax effect of amounis which are not deductible {taxable) in
caleulating taxable income:

Overhead costs

Investment impairment
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method

Difference in overseas tax rates
Income tax expense

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at cafl

Cash at bank and on hand

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M SM M M

(7.4) ; . .

£0.4) ; - -

566.4 - - -
(589.0) - - -

(22.5) - - .

{6.8) - - -

0.3 - - -
12.7 - - -

(6.7} - - -

(0.5} - - -
0.4 - - -

(0.4) - - -

76.4 29.2 12.5 235
17.3 217 15.2 21.7

93.7 50.9 27.7 452

Cash at bank have floating interest rates between 4.98% and 5.38% for Austratian Dollar balances and between 1.00% and 1.25% for the
Euro balances (Dec 2004 AUD: between 4 35% and 5.13%, EUR: not applicable). These balances are at call. Cash on hand is non interest

bearing.

Deposits at call

The deposits have floating interest rates ranging between 5.15% and 5.40% (Dec 2004: between 5.00% and 5.15%) for Australian Doliar
batances and between 1.85% and 2.15% (Dec 2004: not applicable) on the Euro batances. These deposits have an average maturity of 30

days.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

7. Receivables
Trade receivables

Provision for doubtful receivables

Distributions receivable from assaciates
Distributions receivable from joint veniures

Other debtors

Leoans to controlied entities
Income tax receivable

(i} Bad and doubtful trade receivables

Consolidated

SR ATV L UL S

Parent entity

31 Dec 2065 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

$M M ™ $M
79.7 37.0 6.7 6.0
(1.7) (1.2 {0.8) {0.8)
78.0 35.8 5.9 52
4.4 58 2.6 4.2
26.1 - 7.4 -
26.7 17.5 -
- - - 7.1

1.3 - - -
136.5 58.9 16.6 16.5

The Trust has recognised a loss of $228 147 (2004: $117,321) in respect of bad and doubtful trade receivables during the year ended 31
December 2005. The loss has been included in "other expenses’ in the income statement.

B. Inventory

General supplies - af cost
Food and beverage - at cost

Retail - at cost
Other - at cost

9. Other

Prepayrnents

1.0
23
3.2
2.5

9.1

13.1

4.7 3.9

1.3
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M &M M ™

10. Derivative financial instruments
Current assets
Interest rate swap contracts {(a){i)) 20.4 11.2 20.4 11.2
Forward foreign exchange contracts ((a)(ii)) 6.9 - 6.9 -
Total current derivative financial instrument assets 27.3 11.2 27.3 11.2
Current liabilities
Interest rate swap contracts ((a)(i)) 313 266 N3 28.8
Forward foreign currency contracts ((a)ii)} 3.0 - 3.0 -
Total current derivative financial instrument liabilities 34.3 28.6 34.3 26.6

(a) Instruments used by the Group

GPT is parly to derivative finandal instruments in the nommal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in interest and
foreign exchange rates in accordance with the Group's financial risk management policies {refer to note 33).

(i) Inferest rate swap contracts

GPT's shert and medium term notes currently bear an average floating and fixed interest rate of 5.9% and 6.5% respectively. it is policy to
protect borrowings from exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly, GPT has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it
is obliged to receive interest at floating and fixed rates and o pay interest at floating and fixed rates.

Swaps currently in place cover approximately 75% {2004: 100%) ¢of the loan principal outstanding and are timed to expire as each loan
repayment falls due. The fixed interest rates range between 4.9% and 86.0% {2004: 4 8% and 6.6%) and the variable rates are between
1.67% below and 0.8% above {2004: 0.5% below and 0.8% above) the 80 day bank bill rate which at balance date was 5.6% (2004: 5.4%).

At 31 December 2005, the notional principal amounts and periods of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts are as follows:

Consolidated Parent entity

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M M M ™

Maturity
Less than 1 year 670.0 550.0 670.0 5500
1-2vyears 375.0 195.0 375.0 185.0
2-3years 710.0 700.0 710.0 700.0
3-4years - 550.0 ~ £50.0
4 -5 years 100.0 200.0 100.0 2000
Over 5 years 1,050.0 780.0 1,050.0 780.0
2,805.0 2,975.0 2,905.0 2,975.0

The contracts require seftlement of net interest receivable or payable every 80 days. The settlement dates coincide with the dates on which
interest is payable on the underlying debt.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

10. Derivative financial instruments {continued)

(ify Forward exchange contracts

The joint venture arrangement with Babcock & Brown is a global property vehicle which has invested in real estate apportunities in Europe
and US. lts key activities include selective investment, active portfolio management, investment in development projects and property funds
management. In order to protect against exchange rate movemenis, GPT has entered into forward exchange contracts to sell Euros
equivalent to expected distributions from the joint veniure. As management desires to have certainty over the Australian dollars received
once the Euros are converted, GPT has entered into the forward contracts on behslf of the Euros received quarterly from the joint venture.
As at balance date, GPT has not entered into any forward exchange contracts to protect against movements in the US dollar.

Contracts are entered into based on forecast distributions from the joint venture for the ensuing financial years. The contracts are timed to
mature at the end of each quarter when the distribution is expected to be received from the joint venture.

The cash flows are expected to accur at various dates from the balance date to the period outlined below. At 31 December 2005, the details
of outstanding contracts are: :

Sell Euros Average exchange rate
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M ¢M  AUD/EUR AUD/EUR
Maturity
Less than 1 year 39.0 - 0.5789 -
1-2years 50.2 - 0.5662 -
2 -3 years 58.6 - 0.5668 -
3 -4 years 66.1 - 0.5668 -
4 - 5 years 66.3 - 0.5645 -
Over 5 years 9.4 - 0.5480 -
Total 289.%

Amounts disclosed above represent currency sold measured af the contracied rate.
Group and Parent

At balance date these confracts were an asset $8.9 million and g liability of $3.0 million. In the year ended 31 December 2005 there was 8
gain in the income statement from the increase in fair value of the net asset of $3.9 million during the year.

(b) Credit risk exposures
GPT undertakes all of its transactions in foreign exchange and interest rate contracts with financial institutions.
{c) Interest rate risk exposures

Refer to note 33 for GPT’s exposure to interest rate risk on interest rate swaps.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

11. Investment properties

Retail

Office

Industrial

Hotel & Tourism

The mixed class of asset (as referred to in note 12) has been allocated in the table above as follows:

Consofidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M M M ™
4,345.7 4,561.2 2,219.1 2.648.2
2,362.5 18508 8326 737.2
354.8 289.7 326.6 264.2
182.1 £89.6 - -
7,245.1 7.491.3 3,378.3 3,649.6

» Melbourne Central: 84% Retail ($3488.1m) and 36% Office ($274.0m) (Dec 2004: 62% Retail and 38% Office). Due to the redevelopment
of the retail component of Melboume Central, the allocation of the value was reviewed.

Reconciliation

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of investment properties at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set

out below.

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year
Additions

Acquisitions

Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Transfer (to) property, plant and equipment
Lease Incentives

Amortisation of lease incentives

Disposals

Net gain from fair value adjustments

Other

Carrying amount at end of the financial year

7,491.3 6,183.0  3,649.6 3,024.1
244.2 264.4 100.0 65.4
85.2 3117 56.0 149.1
329.0 126.5 8.7 163
(586.5) . - -
21.3 409 11.2 11.0
(15.2) (15.9) 67 (8.5)
(666.5) (19.6) (617.2) -
336.6 597.3 1714 392.2
5.7 3.0 58 -
7,245.1 74913 3,378.3 3.649.6
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

12. Property Investments

LUHIPany = Ui L R, LUIILA

For all the properties listed in this note, GPT halds an interest directly or through investments in other entities.

Retail

Office

Industrial

Investment in foreign operations
Hotel & Tourism

Masterplanned

Retail

Office

Industrial

Hotel & Tourism
Masterplanned

File No 34819
Consolidated
31 December 2005
Interests in Investments in
Investment Hotel Property under Associates and
Properties Operations  construction Joint Ventures Total
$M ™ $M ™ M
43457 - - 150.1 44058
23625 - - 1,118.2 3,480.7
3548 - 63.5 - 418.3
- - - 1845 154.5
182.1 814.6 - 18.2 814.9
- - - 14.9 14.9
7.245.1 814.6 83.5 1.455.9 9,378.1
Consolidated
31 December 2004
Interests in Investments in
Investment Hotel Property under Associates and
Properties Operations  consfruction Joint Ventures Total

™ M $M $M $M
4,561.2 - 451 146.3 4,752.6
1,850.8 - 813 1,047.8 3,078.9
289.7 - 38.3 - 328.0
683.6 - - 12.2 7018
- - - 11.5 11.5
7.491.3 - 164.7 1.217.8 8,873.8

Prior to 30 June 2005, with the acquisition of Voyages Hotels and Resoris Pty Lid, Hotel and Tourism assets were classified as investment

properties.

Retail

Office

industrial

Investment in foreign operations

Retail
Office
Industrial

Parent entity
31 December 2005
interests in tnvestments in
investment Hotel Property under Associates and
Properties Operations  construction Joint Ventures Total
™ ™ M ™ M
2,219.1 - - 150.1 2,369.2
832.6 - - 561.5 1,424.1
3266 - 39 - 330.5
- - - 18.8 19.6
3.378.3 - 3.8 761.2 4,143 4
Parent entity
31 December 2004
Interests in Investments in
Investment Hotel Property under Associates and
Properties Operations  construction Joint Ventures Total

M ™ ™ $M M
26482 - - 146.3 2,7945
737.2 - - 542.8 1,280.0
264.2 - 29 - 2671
3,649.8 - 29 6891 4,341.6

The mixed class of assets (as referred to in table 12{a)) have been allocated in the table above as follows:
+  Melbourne Central: 84% Retail {$488.1m) and 38% Office (§274.0m) {Dec 2004: 82% Retail and 38% Office).
+  Brisbane Transit Centre : 83% Office (351.0m) and 17% Hotel & Tourlsm (310.5m} (Dec 2004: 83% Office {346.1m) and 17% Hotel &

Tourism ($9.5m)}
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

12. Property Investments

{a} Investment Properties

AU IV JTVLE S

Totat Cost
including Date of Movement
Additions Latest Latest since
Acquisition Acquisition and Lease  External independent independent Independent Fair Value
Name Ownarship Date Price incentives  Valuation Valuer Valuation Valuation 31 Dec 05
o 0 5M $M $M M $M
RETAIL
Casuarina Square 100 Oct 1973 4.5 152.1 Dec 2004 Knight Frank 330.0 200 3500
NT KL Goddard, FAPI
Charlestown Square 100 Dec 1977 7.3 188.9  Dec 2004 OB Richard Elis 385.5® 24.5 410.0
NSW J Barras, AAP!
Pacific Highway, Charlestown 100 Oct 2002 7.1 8.0 Sep 2003 Knight Frank 7.0 0.9 7.8
NSW Jui 2003 5.3 5.3 KL Goddard, FAPI - - 53
Dandenong Plaza 100 Dec 1993 60.2 183.6 Sep 2003 FPDSavills (NSW) 2050 3.1 2081
ViC Dec 1899 60.3 60.3 AD Johnston, AAPI
Erina Fair 33.3% Jun 1992 55.1 184.6 Dec 2004  Knight Frank 258.5 0.8 259.3
NSW Freehold KL Goddard, FAPI
Penrith Plaza®™® 50 Jun 1971 2127 306.5 Dec 2004  CB Richard Eliis 3524 52.7 4051
NSW M Steur, AAPY
Sunshine Plaza 50 Dec 1982 32.8 184.8 Dec 2005 Knight Frank 295.0 - 285.0
QLD Sep 2004 130.4 P Kwan, AAP|
Plaza Parade 50 Jur 1999 4.7 12.0 Dec 2005  Knight Frank 13.5 - 135
QLD P Kwan, AAP]
Woden Plaza 50 Feb 1986 420 130.0 Dec 2004  Knight Frank 2420 - 2420
ACT Leasehold KL Goddard, FAPI
Rouse Hill 100 Dec 2005 229 229 - - ~ - 22.9
NSW
Genaral Property Trust 2,219.1

1) Freghold, unless otherwise stated.
2) Valuation for Charlestown was $385m, which did not include $0.5m of land.
3) Penrith Plaza balance includes the properties previously listed out separately: Barec House, High Street Penrith, Riley Square and Penrith Cinemas.
4y  Woden halance includes Bonner House a property that was previously listed separately.

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm's

length transaction.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

12. Property Investments (continued)

(a) Investment Properties (continued)

rie No y4ely

Total Cost
including Date of Movement
Additions Latest Latest since
Acguisiion Acquisition and Lease  External Independent independent Independent Fair Value
Name Ownership Date Price Incentives _ Valuation Valuer Valuation Valuation 31 Dec 05
% $M S $M 5M $M
RETAIL
Carlingforg Court 106 Jul 1996 80.1 139.5 Dec 2004  CB Richard Eilis 158.0 1.8 159.6
NSW J Barras, AAPI
Chimside Park 100 Jul 1998 80.5 137.4 Dec 2004 Knight Frank 166.0 9.1 175.1
VIC KL Goddard. FAPI
Wollongong Central 100 Jul 1986 54.0 1224 Dec 2004  Knight Frank 200.79 3.2 203.9
NSW Qct 1098 34.8 KL Goddard, FAP!
Floreat Forum 100 Jul 1996 33.3 87.8 Mar 2004  Knight Frank 95.0 0.8 95.8
WA M Crowe, AAP
Forestway Shopping Cenire 100 Jul 1998 27.0 44.0 Sep 2004  Knight Frank 64.0 1.3 65.3
NSwW KL Goddard, FARI
Macarthur Square 50 Dec 1999 135.0 244 4 Dec 2004 CB Richard Ellis 2339 78.0 311.8
NSw M Steur, AAPI
Parkmore Shopping Centre 100 Jul 1998 120.0 1321  Dec 2004 Knight Frank 145.0 114 146.1
ViC KL Goddard, FAPI
Homemaker City Aspley 100 Nov 2001 43.2 53.2 Jun 2005 Knight Frank 60.0 B 60.0
QLD P Kwan, AAPI
Homemaker City Bankstown 100 Nov 2001 385 40.5 Sep 2003 FPDSavills 44.0 6.0 50.0
AD Johnston,
NSW AAPI
Homemaker City Cannon Hill 100 Nov 2001 13.9 148 Sep 2003  Jones Lang LaSatlie 15.7 3.3 19.0
QLD J Apted, FAPI
Homemaker City Epping 100 Aug 2003 377 38.1 - - - - 31.1
VIC
Homemaker City Fortitude
Valley @ 100 Dec 2001 7.2 122.8 Sep 2003 CB Richard Ellis 316 94 .4 126.0
QLD T Irving, AAPI
Homemaker City Jindalee 100 Nov 2001 38.7 408 Sep 2004  Jones Lang LaSalle 55.0 3.0 63.0
QLD J Apted, FAPI
Homemaker City
Maribyrnong 100 Nov 2001 355 359 Sep 2003 Knight Frank 47.3 4.3 51.8
VIC MJ Schuh, AAPL
Homemaker City Moorabbin 100 Jul 2002 333 33.4 Jun 2005 Knight Frank 34.0 - 34.0
VIC M Schuh, AAP]
Homemaker City Mt Gravatt 100 Nov 2001 17.9 19.6 Mar 2005 Knight Frank 22.2 2.8 25.0
QLD P Kwan, AAPI
Homemaker City Windsor 100 Nov 2001 20.0 20.5 Jun 2005 CB Richard Ellis 210 s} 211
QLD T Irving, AAPI
GEM Retail Property Trust 1,638.5
Retail portion of Melbourne Centrat ' 488.1
Total Retail 4,346.7

(1) Freghold, uniess otherwise stated.
(2) Valuation for Wollongong was $195m, which did not include fand of $5.7m.
(3) Homemaker Fortitude Valley includes the redevelopment stages 2 & 3.

(4) Melbourne Central: 64% Retail ($488.1m) and 36% Office ($274.0m) (Dec 2004, 62% Retaii and 38% Office).

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair valug being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged baetwean willing parties in an ann's

length transaction.
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Company - GPT RE Limited

Notes to Financial Statements {continued) File No 34819
12. Property investments (continued)
{a} [nvestment Properties (continued)
Total Cost
inctuding Movement
Additions Dale of Latest Latest since
Acquisition  Acquisition and Lease External Independent independent independent Fair Value
Name Ownership Date Price incentives Vatuation Valuer Valuation Valuation 31 Dec 05
% W M 3M M M S
OFFICE
Jones Lang
Australia Square 50 Sep 1981 42.5 154.8 Jun 2004 LaSalle 178.0 22.0 200.0
NSW J Dillon, AAPI
MLC Centre 50 Apr 1987 2335 318.3 War 2004 CB Richard Elis 284.5 17.0 3015
NSW S Fairfax, AAP!
Riverside Centre 100 Apr 1984 2507 305.7 Sep 2005 Colliers 289.0 21.0 3100
QLD W Dotierty, AAPI
indigo House (formerly Black
lnk House) 100 Apr 1984 9.1 158  Sep2005  Colliers 21.0 0.1 21.1
QLD W Doherty, AAPY
General Property Trust 832.6
179 Elizaveth Street 100 Sep 1998 59.4 58.0 Sep 2003 FPDSavills 81.0 9.0 90.0
NSw A Pannifex FAPI
Jones Lang
10 & 12 Mort Street 100 Jul 1996 586 60.5 Dec 2003 LaSalle 50.0 2.4 52.4
ACT Laagsehold RJ Lawrie, AAPI
530 Colilins Street 100 Jul 1896 301.8 313.8 Sep 2003 Urhis 311.8 13.2 325.0
RJ Serivener,
VIC FAP!
Darling Park Tower 3 100 Sep 2005 2411 241.1 Dec 2065 Colliers 250.0 - 250.0
NSW D Burgess, AAP!
HSBC Centre, 580 George St 100 Jut 1986 180.0 216.8 war 2004 CB Richard Eilis 227.0 25.0 2520
NEW S Fairfax, AAPI
Nationak@Docklands
Building 1 160 Feb 2002 74 133.1 Mar 2004 Kright Frank 140.0 18.5 158.5
Victoria Harbour, VIC MJ Schuh, AAPY
National@Docklands
Building 2 100 Fab 2002 6.3 110.2 Sep 2004 Knight Frank 115.3 12,7 11289
Victoria Harbour, VIC MJ Schuh, AAPI
GEM Commersial Property Trust 1,255.9
Office portion of Melbourne Centrat 274.0
Total Office 2.362.5
(1} Freehold, unless otherwiss stated.
(2) Meibourne Central: 64.0% Retail ($488.1m) and 38.0% Office ($§274.0m) (Dec 2004; 62.0% Retail and 38.0% Office).
MIXED
Jones Lang
Melbourne Central 160 May 1999 418.2 7342 Sep 2004 LaSatlle 677.4 84.5 762.1
B Sweeney,
vIC Mar 2001 17.1 AAFRI
{3 35
430.8
Total Mixed 7621

{3} Acqguisition costs.

The basis of valuation of invesiment properties is fair value being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm's

length transaction.
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12. Property Investments (continued)

{a) Investment Properties (continued)

Total Cost
including

Additions Date of Latest

LA AT S 7L/

Latest

Movement
since

Acquisition  Acquisition and Lease External independent Independent Independent Fair Value
Name Ownership Date Price Incentives Valuation Valuer Valuation Valuation 31 Dec 05
% ¥ SM $M SM SM M
INDUSTRIAL
Harvey Road 100 May 1993 249 249  Mar2005  Savills (NSW) 31.0 1.0 32.0
Kings Park NSW M Pisano, AAP!
Part Cifl-West Industrial
Estate 100 Aug 1994 60.0 €695 war 2003 FPDSavifls 553 7.2 625
R Bowman,
Grieve Pde & Dohertys Road AAPRIL
Altona North VIC
Castie Hill land 100 Jan 2003 8.7 8.7 Sep 2004 WK Wotton 8.7 - 87
W Wotton, FAP!
Colliers
Quad 1, Parkview Drive 100 Jun 2001 15.5 15.6 Jun 2004 international 16.6 - 166
Homebush Bay NSW Leasehold A Graham AAPRI
Colliers
Quad 2, Parkview Drive 100 Oec 2001 23 158 Jun 2004 international 18.7 0.4 181
Homebush Bay NSW Laasehold A Graham, AAP}
Quad 3, Parkview Drive 100 Mar 2003 2.7 16.0 - - - - 188
Homebush Bay NSW Leasshold
8 Herb Elliott 100 Aug 2004 85 8.5 - - - - 85
Homebush Bay NSW Leasehold
5 Figtree Drive 100 Jul 2005 20.2 20.2 - - - - 202
Homebush Bay NSW Leasehold
7 Figtrae Drive 100 Jul 2004 10.2 10.2 - - - - 10.2
Homebush Bay NSW {easehald
7 Parkview Drive 100 May 2002 16.1 16.2 May 2005 Knight Frank 18.0 0.2 18.2
Homehush Bay NSW Leasehoid TM Phetan, FAPI
11 Grand Ave, Camellia 100 May 1688 8.9 57.6 Sep 2003 Knight Frank 58.0 7.8 656
WR Retallick,
Camellia NSW FAPI
15 Berry Street 100 Nov 2000 10.0 104 Sep 2003 Knight Frank 10.8 1.9 12.7
WR Retallick,
Granville NSW FAP!
19 Berry Street 100 Dec 2000 18.8 189 Sep 2003 Knight Frank 20.5 - 20.5
WR Retallick,
Granville NSW FAPI
Yeerongpilly Park 100 Nov 2005 129 12.9 - - - - 129
Fairfield NSW
General Property Trust 328.6
Ausirak Business Park, 50 Oct 2003 25.5 255 - - - - 28.2@
Somerton VIC
Total Industrial 354.8

(1) Freehold, uhjess othenwise stated.
{2) Balance on includes land portion only.

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm's

length transaction.
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12. Property investments {continued})

{(a) Investment Properties (continued)

Company - GPT RE Limited
File No 34819

Totat Cest
in¢luding Movement
Additions Date of Latest Latest since
Acquisifion  Acquisition and Lease External Independent Independent Independent Fair Value
Name Ownership Date Price incentives  Valuation Valuer Valuation  Valuation 31 Dec05
% SM M ™ $M S
HOTEL & TOURISM
Four Points by Sheraton
Hotel 100 May 2000 146.1 1724 Mar 2005 Knight Frank 181.0 3.1 189.1
AFH Betl,
Sydney, NSW Leasehold MRICS AAPI
Security
Deposit (7.0)@
Total Hotal & Tourism 1821
Total General Property Trust 3,378.3
Total Investment Properties 7.248.1
(b) Interest in Hotei Operations
HOTEL & TOURISM
Ayers Rock Resort 100 Dec 1597 2318 362.5 Mar 2004  JLL Hotels 353.8% 53.4 407.2
MA Cooper,
NT AAP)
Colliers
Cape Tribulation Resorts 100 Mar 2002 i1.5 20.5 Mar 2005  Internationat 12.0 0.4 124
Part MD Themson,
QLD leasehold MRICS AAPI
Wildman River 100 Jun 2001 a5 1.4 Mar 2004  JLL Holels 05 8.1 0.6
Part MA Cooper,
NT leasehold AAPI
Bedarra 1sland Resort 100 Jul 2004 258 26.2 - - - - 22.0
QLD
Brampton Island Resort 160 Mar 2005 11.8 12.8 - - - - 238
QLD Legsehold
Cradie Mountain Resort 100 Jul 2004 11.2 15.7 - - B - 15.4
Part
TAS leasehold
Ounk Island Resort 100 Jut 2004 553 59.2 - - - - 52.8
Part
QLD leasehold
El Questro Resort 100 Jul 2005 17.4 18.2 PR - - 16.5
QLD
Heron Island {including 160
Wilson Island) Leasahoid Jul 2004 447 452 - - - - 398
QLD
Sitky Oaks Lodge 100 Jul 2004 18.5 18.8 - - - - 17.3
QLD
Wrotham Park 100 Jul 2004 7.3 9.2 - - ~ - 3.0
QLD L easehold
Total Owner Occupiad Hotal Property 614.8

(1) Freehold, uniess otherwise stated.
{2) Security degosit held by GPT.

(3) Valuation for Ayers Rock Resort was $360m, of which $5.2m related to plant and equipment owned by Voyages Hotels & Resorls Ply Limitad.

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value heing the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between wiiling parties in an arm's

length transaction.
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12. Property Investments {continued)

{c) Property under Construction

File No 34819

Total Cost
in¢luding Movement
Additions Date of Latest Latest since
Acquisifion  Acquisition and Lease Exiernal independent independent independent Fair Value
Name Ownership Date Price incentives Valuation Valuer Valuation Valuation 31 Dec 05
% M M M M M
PROPERTY UNDER CONSTRUCTION
INDUSTRIAL
Quad 4, Parkview Drive 100 Jun 2004 2.7 3.9 - - - 3.5
Homebush Bay NSW L easehotd
Austrak Business Park, 50 Oct 2003 223 59.4 - . - 59.6
Somerton VIC
Total Property Under Construction 63.5
(d) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
RETAIL
Erina Fair 16.7 Jun 1982 55.1 70.9 Dec 2004 Knight Frank 128.2 0.4 129.6@
Units in KL Goddard,
NSW Trust FAPI
Horton Parade 50 Jun 1998 3.8 7.7  Dec2005  Knight Frank 10.0 - 10.0@
Units in
QLD Trust P Kwan, AAPI
Marocchydore Superstore Feb 1999 55 84 Dec 2005 Knight Frank 10,54 - 10.59@
Plaza QLD 16.1 P Kwan, AAP|
General Property Trust 150.1
Total Retail 150.1
OFFICE
Citigroup Centre 50 Jul 2001 51.2 268.5 Dec 2005 Savilts (NSW)
Units in
NSW Trusts Dec 2001 2124 A Pannifex, FAP! 315.0 - 315,09
4.8 (1 ‘7)(3)
1 Farer Place 25 Dec-2003 2538 263.2 Dec2005  CB Richard Elis 273.2 . 27859
Units in
NSW Trust S Fairfax, AAP! (0.3)®
General Property Trust 591.6
Darling Park Complex 50 Jun 2000 2801 4713
Units in Colliers
NSW Trusts Mar 2001 112.0 Dec 2005 International 477.5 - 477,52
O Burgess, AAPI (1.8)®
GEM Commercial Trust 475.7
Office portion of Brisbane
Transit Centre 51.0
Total Office 1,118.2
HOTEL & TOURISM
Kings Canyon (Watarrka)
Resort Trust 46 Units Jun 2005 7.4 74 - - - - 74
NT in Trust 0.3%
Hotel portion of Brisbane
Transit Centre 10.5
Total Hotel & Tourism 18.2
Total squity accounted investmants 1,286.5
MIXED
Brisbane Transit Centre 50
Units in Jones Lang
QLD Trust Nov 1997 428 475  Jun2005  LaSalle 59.3% 2.2 815
Total Mixed J Apted, FAR 61.5

{1} Freehold. unless otherwise stated.

{2) Share of Assotiates' property assefs. The value of the Trust's interest in the Associates’ property assets is included in the valuation.
{33 Share of Associates’ other property related net assets/{liabliities) which have been included as properly {refer note 1{d}).
(4) Valuation of Maroochydore superstore was $7.5m, which did not include the land of $3m

{5) Valuation for Brisbane Transit Centre was $80m, which included $0.7m for plant and equipment owned by Roma Streat Operations Pty Limited.

The basis of valuation of investment properties is fair value being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm's

length transaction.
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12. Property investments {(continued)
{e} Additions fo existing Property Investments

During the year the following additions and lease incentives were made to existing property investments:

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
$M ™M
Retail 2588 1431
Office 2085 1455
Industrial 26.0 1338
Masterplanned 4.1 127
Hotel & Tourism 28.1 17.7
524.4 452.9

Additions to Property Investments include capitalised interest on redevelopment of $23.5 million using an interest rate of 7.0%
(Dec 2004: $20.3 million using 6.92%).

Melbourne Central
The $260 million redevelopment of Melboume Central was completed in the second half of 2005.

Macarthur Square
Construction commenced in September 2004 on the $218 million (GPT's share $109 million) expansion of Macarthur Square. The first
stage of the development opened in the second half of 2005 and the second stage is expected to be completed in early 2006,

Penrith Plaza
The $140 million expansion of Penrith Plaza was completed in the sacond half of 2005.

Rouse Hill Town Centre

A Masterplan Development Application was approved in March 2004 for the Rouse Hill Regicnal Centre. Construction on the town centre
component is expected to commence in early 2006 with the first stage expected o be completed in iate 2007, and the second stage
completed in the first half of 2008.

Homemaker City Fortitude Valley - Stage 2
In March 2004, GPT acquired a tand parcel on which Stage 2 of the Homemaker City Fortitude Valley has been developed. The centre was
completed in the second half of 2005 at a total cost of $53.0 million including acquisition costs,

Darling Park Stage 3

In April 2004, GPT purchased the Darling Park 3 leasehold and entered into a development agreement with Lend Lease Deveiopment to
develop the 28,800 sam final tower of the Darling Park complex. The towers reached Practical Completion in December 2005 and has been
85% leased to Marsh Mercer and Rabobank.

The Quad, Parkview Drive, Homebush Bay
Construction commenced in December 2005 on the fourth stage of The Quad Business Park. Quad 4 is scheduled for completion in
December 2008 at a forecast cost of $27 million, including land.

Ayers Rock Resort
The refurbishment of the 60 guest roems at Desert Gardens Hotel was completed in September 2005 with a total cost of $2.8 milfion.

Voyages Lodges

The portfolio comprises 11 resorts and 778 rooms. These include Cape Tribulation (acquired March 2002), PRO Resorls (acquired July
2004) and El Questro (acquired July 2005). The refurbishment of Cradle Mountain Lodge was completed in November 2005. The work
included a mixture of full and soft refurbishment of 83 guest rooms as well as the restaurant at a cost of approximately $3.8 million.

Austrak Business Park

Construction commenced in August 2005 on the $100 million Coles Myer National Distribution centre (GPT's share $50 million) & the $20
million Labelmakers facility (GPT share $10 million) at the Austrak Business Park, Somerton. Labelmakers is due for completion in first
quarter 2006 and Coles Myer in eary 2007,
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12. Property investments (continued)

{f} Purchase of Investments

Homemaker City Fortitude Valley - Stage 3
in March 2005, GPT acquired the remaining component of Fortitude Valley for $35.6 milion.

Fairfield Rd, Yeerongpilly
In November 2005 GPT acquired a 100% interest in Fairfield Rd, Yeerangpilly for $12.9 million. The propenty is leased to Barclay Mowlem
for 10 years.

5 Figtree Drive, Homebush

in August 2005 GPT acquired a 100% interest in 5 Figtree Drive, Sydney Olympic Park for $19 miflion. The property is leases to ACER
Computer Australia Pty Ltd until 2008.

{g) Disposal of Investments

Homemaker City Underwood
Homemaker City Underwood was divested in June 2005 for $19.C million.

Macarthur
In June 2005, GPT divested a parcel of surplus land for $2.4 million (50% interest).

Melbourne Central - Heritage Building
In June 2005, GPT divested a surplus property in Little Lonsdate St for $2.9 million.

120 King Street
in December 2005, GPT exchanged contracts unconditionaily for $3.3 million.

Homemaker City Castle Hill
In December 2005, GPT exchanged contracts unconditionally for $27.0 million.

Penrith Plaza
On 1 July 2005, GPT divested its 50% interest in Penrith Plaza for $352 .4 million.

Woden Plaza
On 1 July 2005, GPT divested its 50% interest in Woden Plaza for $242.4 million.

{h) Other information

Four Points by Sheraton Motel

The property is wholly owned by GPT. GPT also has a 40% interest in an associated company, 161 Sussex Street Pty Limited {161
Sussex') which leases and operates the hotel. Starwocd Pacific Hotels Pty Limited {'Starwood'), a wholly ewned subsidiary of Starwood
Hotels and Resorts Worldwide Inc. owns the remaining 80% interest.

In May 2000, 161 Sussex leased the hotel from GPT for ten years, with 161 Sussex having an option to extend the lease for a further term
of five years. After May 2005 the lease may be terminated by GPT i the hotel is sold. 181 Sussex has provided a security deposit of $7.0
million.

At the time of acquisition, GPT provided a loan fo 161 Sussex to fund its purchase of business assets, the payment of the security deposit

and initial working capital requirements. The loan balance at December 2005 was $2.8 million. Since acquisition GPT has investad an
additional $2.6 million in equity in 161 Sussex.
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12. Property Investments (continued)
(i} Commitments

Capital expenditure
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At balance date capital expenditure approved but not provided for in the financial report:

Due within 1 year
Due between 1 and 5 years

Operating leases

Consoclidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
i &M M M
62.5 3219 24.3 1037
32,2 70.8 - 8.7
84.7 392.5 24.3 1124

Estimated aggregate amount of operating lease expenditure agreed or contracted but not provided for in the financial report:

Due within 1 year
Due between 1 and 5 years
Due between 5 years and expiry date of leases

56 0.2 0.4 0.1
18.8 09 05 05
56.6 22 0.5 0.7
81.0 33 1.1 1.3

Of the total aperating lease commitments, $55.8 ruillion relates {o an operating lease with SEA island Holdings for the use of Lizard {stand.
The calculation is based on the current monthly rental. The rental payment increases every 2 years by the rate of CPl in Brisbane, which
has not been reflected in the above disclosure. This operating lease also requires the payment of 10% of all beverages sold and 20% of all
accommodation and meat revenue to SEA Island Holdings, payable on a half yearly basis. These amounts have not been included in the

$55.6 million commitrent.

Other commitments

Estimated aggregate amount of other commitments agreed or contracted but not provided for in the financial report:

Due within 1 year
Due between 1 and & years
Due between 5 years and expiry date of leases

200 - - -
36.4 - . -

56.4 - . -

These include medium term retention arrangemenlts for certain GPT employees as a result of the transition from being Lend Lease

employees to GPT employees.

13. Investment in controlled entities

Unlisted units in controfled trusts

- GEM Retail Property Trust

- GEM Commercial Property Trust
- GPT Hotel Trust

- GPT Industrial Trust

- GPT Residential Trust

- Melbourne Central Unit Trust

Unlisted shares in corporations
- GPT Pty Limited
- Melbourne Central Holdings Pty Limited

. - 16164 1,497.6
. - 1,7744 1,527.8
. . 849.1 700.5
. . 83.4 60.9
. . 38.4 347
. . 705.4 659.8
. - 5067.1 4,481.3
. . 0.1 0.1
. . 477 47.7
) . 47.8 47.8
- - 51149 4,529.1

49




Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

14. Investment in joint ventures

Holding Investment Property

- Erina Property Trust

- Horton Trust

- Darling Park Trust

- Darling Park Property Trust
- 1 Farrer Place Trust

- 2 Park Street Trust

- Roma Street Trust

Managing Investment Property

- Darling Park Operator
European Investrnents

- BGP investment S.arl.

US investments

- Babcock & Brown GPT REIT Inc

Total Investment in joint ventures

{a) Joint venture entity

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M &M M ™
128.6 129.2 129.6 129.2
20.5 17.1 20.5 171
285.4 2750 - -
190.3 184.4 - -
278.2 256.3 278.2 2586.3
3133 286.5 3133 286.5
81.5 549 . -
1,278.8 1,203.4 741.6 689.1
134.9 - - -
19.6 - 19.6 -
154.5 - 19.6 -
1,433.3 1,203.4 761.2 £89.1

GPT has entered into a joint venture arrangement with Babeock & Brown to identify and invest in real estate opporiunities which offer
superiar risk adjusted returns, and establish and manage third party funds. The parent entity has a 50% participating interest in a new
global property vehicle, with an initial focus on Europe and the US but encompassing other markets. its key activities will include selective
investment, active portfolic management, investment in development projects and property funds management. The parent entity interests
in the assets employed in the joint venture are included in the consolidated balance sheet, in accordance with the accounting policy

described in note 1(d), under the following classifications:

At 31 December 2005, GPT held equity of $134.2 million and a toan of $603.6 million in the European joint venture, BGP Investment S.a.rl

$19.6 million of equity and a loan of $85.7 million is held in the US joint venture Babceock & Brown GPT REIT inc.




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

15, Investments in associates

information relating to associates is set out below:

Name of entity

Unlisted

Holding investment Property

- Kings Canyon (Watarrka) Resort Trust
Managing Investment Property

- 181 Sussex St Pty Limited

Master-planned Urban Communities

- Lend Lease GPT (Rouse Hill} Pty Limited

- Lend Lease (Twin Waters) Resort Pty Limited

Cwnership Interest

2005

%

46

40

48
48

2004

%

48

40

49
49
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Each of the above asgsociate’s principal activity is property investment and is incorporated in Australia.

All Associates have a reporting period of 30 June, except for 161 Sussex St Pty Limited which have a reporting period of 31 December,

(a) Movements in carrying amounis

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year
Share of profits before income tax
Acquitsition of asscciate

Carrying amount at the end of the financial year
{b) Share of associates’ profits or losses
Profit before income tax

Income tax expense
Profit after income tax

{c) Summarised financial information of associates
31 December 2005

Kings Canyon (Watarrka) Resort Trust

161 Sussex St Pty Limited

Lend Lease (Twin Waters) Resort Pty Limited
Lend Lease GPT (Rouse Hilf) Pty Limited

31 December 2004

181 Sussex St Pty Limited
Lend Lease GPT (Rouse Hill) Pty Limited
Lend Lease (Twin Waters) Resort Pty Limited

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 200431 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
N M $M M
7.7 - . .
0.8 0.1 - -
4.3 33 - -
10.6 82 -
234 11.6 - -
11.6 6.8 - -
4.4 50 - .
7.4 - . .
23.4 11.6 - -
4.4 5.0 - .
4.4 5.0 - -

GPT's share of:

Assets Liabilities  Revenues Profit
M M §M ™
106 33 3.2 03
58 5.1 58 0.7
59 1.2 4.2 23
13.9 2.2 7.6 1.1
36.2 11.8 20.8 4.4
73 8.1 55 0.1
114 87 4.2 23
28.1 22.3 7.6 2.6
47 8 37.1 17.3 5.0
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Note
16. Property, plant and equipment

Consolidated

At 1 January 2004

- Cost or fair value®

- Accumulated depreciation
Net bock amount

Year ended 31 December 2004
Opening net book amount

Additians

Transfer from/(to) investment properties
Closing carrying value

At 31 December 2004

- Costor fair value”

- Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2005

Opening net book amount

Additions

Transfer from/(to) investment properties 12
Revaluations

Depreciation charge

Closing carrying value

At 31 December 2005

- Costor fair value®

- Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

* Property under construction is heid at cost.

Hotel Office

Property fixtures,

Property including fittings &

under fixtures & operating

Construction fittings® equipment Totat

$M M ™ M
101.2 - - 101.2
101.2 - - 101.2
101.2 - - 101.2
190.0 - - 180.0
{128.5) - - (126.5)
164.7 - - 164.7
1647 - - 1647
164.7 - - 164.7
164.7 - - 164.7
227.8 372 4.4 269.4
{329.0) 586.5 - 2575
- 4.7 - 4.7
- (7.0 (0.2) (7.2)
83.5 621.4 4.2 688.1
63.5 621.8 4.4 689.7
- (0.4) (0.2) (0.8)
63.5 621.4 4.2 689.1

# Hotel propenty is held at fair value while hotel property fixtures and fittings is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.
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16. Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Parent

Year ended 31 December 2004
Opening net book amount

Additions

Disposals

Transfer from/{to) investrent properties
Transfer from/({to) assets held for sale
Transfer from investment in associates
Revaluations

Depreciation charge

Closing carrying value

At 31 December 2004

- Cost or fair value®

- Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount

Additions

Disposals

Transfer from/{fo) investment preperiies
Transfer from/{to) assets held for sale
Transfer from investment in associates
Revaluations

Depreciation charge

Closing carrying vatue

At 31 December 2005

- Costor fair value®

- Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

* Property under construction is held at cost.

Property
under
Construction Total
M M
2.9 2.9
28 29
28 29
2.9 2.9
29 29
1.0 1.0
3.9 3.9
3.8 3.9
3.8 3.9
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17. Other financial assets

Loans to Joint Ventures and Associates

- 161 Sussex St Pty Limited

- lend Lease (Twin Waters) Pty Limited

- Lend Lease GPT (Rouse Hill) Pty Limited
- BGPInvestmentS.arl

- Babcock & Brown GPT REIT inc

Loans to Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited
- Working Capital Loan
- Acquisition Loan

Unlisted shares in corporations

- Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited
- Roma Street Operations Pty Limited

18. Deferred tax asset

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Employee benefits

Overhead costs

Depreciation and amortisation
Other accruals

Other provisions

Net deferred tax assets

Movements:

Opening balance at the beginning of the financial year
Credited/{charged) to the income statement

Transfers of employee leave entittements

Acquisition of subsidiary

Closing balance at the end of the financial year

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
M &M M M
2.8 28 - -
17.9 18.5 - -
7.4 8.1 - -
603.6 - 603.6 -
86.7 - 85.7 -
717.4 27 4 689.3 -
- 185 - -
- 48.1 48.1
- 66.6 48.1
. 8.0 - -
0.7 0.7 - -
0.7 87 - -
718.1 102.7 689.3 48.1
28 - - -
05 - - -
0.1 - - -
37 - - -
0.2 - - -
7.4 - - -
48 - -
08
2.0 - - -
7.4 - - -
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Lizard Istand
Operating
Goodwill’ Rights* Total

M $W M
19. Intangible assets
Consolidated
At 31 December 2004
- Cost or fair value - - -
- Accumulated depreciation and impairment - - -
Net book amount - - -
Year ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount - - -
Acguisttion of intangible 7.3 385 46.8
Additions - 0.4 0.4
impairment - (11.1) (11.1)
Arnortisation charge - (0.8) {0.5)
Closing net book value 73 283 3586
At 31 December 2005
- Cost or fair value 7.3 399 47.2
- Accumulated depreciation and impairment - (11.6) (11.8)
Net book amount 7.3 28.3 358

* Goodwill was recognised when GPT gained control over Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited on 30 June 2005. Goodwill was
calculated as the difference between the consideration paid to date and the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities as at
the date of control.

# Lizard Island operating rights were purchased on 30 June 2005 from Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited as part of the acquisition of
Voyages Hotels & Reserts Pty Limited by GPT. The operating right under which GPT operates Lizard Isfand Resort expires 31 August
2033. The cost of the operating right less any impairment is amortised over the life of the lease.

The Trust does not have any intangibies.
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20. Payables

Trade payables

Other payables

- other

- related party
Current tax liability
Loans fram related party
Responsible Entity's fee

21. Borrowings

Current liabilities

Unsecured

Short and Medium Term Notes {refer Note 21(b})
Commercial Bills (refer Note 21(d))

Non-current liabitities
Medium Term Notes (refer Note 21(b))
Commercial Bills and Bond (refer Note 21(c) & {d))

{a} Finance arrangements
Credit standby arrangements
Totat facilities

Unsecured bill acceptance facility

Used at balance date
Unsecured bill acceptance facility

Unused at balance date
Unsecured bill acceptance facility

Consotidated
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

~ EAEL S

Parent entity

$M $M M $M
241.2 180.8 44.9 80.2
2.7 3.0 0.8 2.1

0.4 0.1 0.4 0.1

17 - . _

. . 110.5 -

. 82 . 4.9

248.0 192.1 156.7 87.3
1,110.8 $36.4  1,110.8 936.4
477.8 1316 460.9 130.0
1,588.6 10680  1,571.7 1.066.4
1,434.4 14898  1,134.4 1,469.8
505.2 125.5 905.3 125.5
2,039.6 16253  2,039.7 1,625.3
00.0 400.0 600.0 400.0
£00.0 400.0 500.0 400.0

GPT has unused stand-by facilities of 3600 million (Dec 2004: $400 million) at balance date to provide liquidity backup for the Short
Term/Medium Term Note Programme. $400 million matures on 31 January 2008 and g further $200 million matures on 22 May 2008. It is

anticipated that it will be possible to extend all facilities.
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21. Borrowings (continued)

(b} Short Term Note / Medium Term Note Programme

The Short Term/Medium Term Note Programme ('the Programme’) is a revolving, non-underwritten, debt programme. The Programme
provides flexible short term and medium term funding to enable GPT to fund commitments and to act promptly on investment opportunities.
The Programme can be terminated af the discretion of GPT and is unsecured. The value of the notes issued under the Programme is
limited by the GPT constitution. The constitution limits the amount of debt to no more than 40% of the total assets. At 31 December 2005
the percentage of debt to total assets is 34.8% (Dec 2004: 298.6%).

In August 2004, GPT issued $250 million 18 month callable Medium Term Notes which GPT could call and cancel after 6 months or
investers could call if GPT is downgraded to a 'BBB+ or lower. In June 2005, GPT exercised the call to repay the principal and interest on
these notes in August 2005. $78.5 million of these notes were purchased with the settlement of $300 millien 3 year fixed and floating
Medium Term Notes issued in June 2005.

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 20065 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
bt $M ™ M
Maximum face value of Short Term Notes on issue during the financial year 1,052.0 790.0 1,052.0 780.0
Face value of Short Tern Notes outstanding at the end of the financial year 475.0 615.0 475.0 615.0
Maximum face value of Medium Term Notes on issue during the financial year 1,827.0 1.827.0 1,827.0 1,827.0
Face value of Medium Term Notes outstanding at the end of the financial year 1,777.8 18270 1,777.0 1,827.0

Short term and medium term notes are held at amortised cost, refer to part (f) for fair value.

{c} CPl Coupon Indexed Bond

On 10 December 1999, the Trust issued a CPI Coupon Indexed Bond totalling $125 million. The securitiy will expire on 10 December 2029
and has a current coupon of 7.16%. The coupon compounds quarterly at the increase in CPI.

{d) Commercial Bills

GPT converted a $500 milfion Bridging Finance Facility to an $850 million Multi Option Facility which will expire on 30 April 2008. Under this
facility as GPT's rating has been downgraded to BBB+, the bank has a right to reduce the Facility to $500 million with 120 days notice. At
the date of this report, the Bank has not exercised this right. As at 31 December 2005, $350 million has been drawn down.

tn June 2005, GPT obtained a $500 million Short Term Note Facility that expires on 1 June 2006, At 31 December 2005, $111.8 million had
been drawn down against this facility to fund the US joint venture contribution.

In June 2005, GPT obtained a $868 million Euro 3 year Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility that expires on 30 June 2008. At 31 December
2005 this facility was drawn down to $782 million.

The GPT / Austrak Joint Venture has a $111.4 million (GPT's Share $55.7 million) Bil) Facility to fund the capital expenditure requirements
of Austrak Business Park, Semerton. This facility fs broken up into 3 tranches, a working capital facility of $10 million, a Labelmakers facility
of $16.4 million, and a Coles Myer facility of $85 rnillion which expires on 30 September 2006, 30 April 2006 and 30 April 2007 respectively.
This facility is secured by a mortgage over Austrak Business Park, Somerton. As at 31 December 2005, $33.8 million (GPT's share $16.9
million) has been drawn down, (Dec 2004: $3.2 million (GPT's Share $1.8 million)).
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21. Borrowings (continued)

{e) Interest rate risk exposures

The foliowing table sets out GPT's exposure to interest rate risk, including the contractual repricing dates and the effective weighted
average interest rate by maturity periods.

Exposures arise predominantly from liabilities bearing floating interest rates of which GPT has hedges in place fo convert them to fixed rate
liabilities held to maturity.

Consolidated FIXED INTEREST MATURING IN
Floating
interest 1yearor Overito Over2to Over3t040ver4to5 Overd
2005 rate less 2years 3 years years years years Total
M M $M M M M 3 M
Short and Medium Tem Notes 1,172.0 320.0 300.0 160.0 - 100.0 200.0 2,252.0
Commercial Bills 1,386.1 - - - « - - 1,386.1
Lease fiabifities . . - . - . - -
Interest rate swaps (1,410.0) 695.0 75.0 350.0 - 100.0 150.0 -
Forward start interest rate swaps - {850.0) (625.0) (550.0) - - - {2,025.0)
Forward start interest rate swap maturities - - - 200.0 350.0 375.0 1,400.0 2,025.0
1,148.1 165.0 {250.0} 200.0 350.0 575.0 1.450.0 3,838.1
Weighted average interest rate 4.5% 5.6% 5.8% 5.4% 5.5% 5.7% 5.6%
FIXED INTEREST MATURING IN
Floating
interest 1yearor Over1to Over2te Over3tod Overdfo5 Cverd
2004 rate less 2years 3 years years years years Total
M M M M M M M ™
Short and Mediurn Term Notes 1,522.0 100.0 320.0 300.0 - - 200.0 24420
Commercial Bills 2586.6 - - - - - - 255.6
Lease ligbilities - - - - - - - -
Interest rate swaps (1.475.0) (50.0) 195.0 400.0 550.0 200.0 180.0 -
Forward start interest rate swaps - (450.0) (400.0) (100.0) (150.0) - - (1,100.0}
Forward start interest rate swap maturities - 50.0 - - 250.0 "100.0 700.0 1,100.0
3036 (350.0} 115.0 600.0 850.0 300.0 1,080.0 2.698.8
Weighted average interest rate 4.8% 4.7% 5.8% 57% 5.4% 8.0% 5.6%
() Fairvalue
The carrying amounts and fair values of interest bearing liabilities at balance date are:
2005 2004
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount vatue amount value
$M $M &M bR
On-balance sheet
Non-traded financial liabilities
Short and Medium Term Notes 2,245.2 2,257.8 2,436.2 2,454.2
Commercial Bills and Bond 1,383.0 1,385.2 2571 257.1
3,628.2 3,643.0 2,6833 27113

None of the classes of borrowings are readily fraded on organised markets in standardised form.

Fair value is inclusive of costs which would be incurred on settlement of a liability.

The fair value of borrowings is based upon market prices where a market exists or by discounting the expected future cash flows by the

current interest rates for liabilities with similar risk profiles.
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22. Provisions

Current liabilities
Empioyee benefits
Income tax
Distribution payable

Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits

23. Deferred tax liability

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable fo:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Inventories

Depreciation

Net deferred tax assets

Movements:

Opening batance at beginning of the financial year
Credited/{charged) to the income statement
Acquisftion of subsidiary

Closing balance af the end of the financial year

Consoclidated
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004
$M $M

7.4 -
386 -
133.1 112.8

Parent entity

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

™

1334

M

1129

144.1 112.9

133.1

112.8

3.6 -

0.1 -

0.2 -

(0.1) -
0.3 -
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24. Total equity/net assets attributable to security holders

Net assets attributable 1o security holders

Net assets attributable to security holders at the beginning of the financial year
Finance costs to security holders

Less: finance costs paid

Securities issued

Transfer to equity

Net assets aftributable to security holders at the end of the financiat year

Transfer of net assets attributable to security holders to equity
Opening equity at the beginning of the financial year

Transfer from net assets attributable to security holders

Current year profit attributable to security holders

Movement in asset revaluation reserve

Mavement in foreign cutrency transiation reserve

Distributions paid and payable

Closing equity at the end of the financial year

Total equity/net assets attributable to security bolders represents
Equity / security holder contributions

Realised income entitiement

Unrealised income entitiement

Asset revaluation reserve

Foreign currency transiation reserve

Total equity

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004

Parent entity
31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004

$M $M $M $M
6,074.5 5,308.4 6,074.5 5,308.4
205.5 1,008.4 205.5 1.009.4
(115.0) (443 6) (115.0) (443 6)
- 200.3 . 200.3
(6,165.0) - {8,185.0) -
- 8,074.5 - 5,074.5
6,165.0 - 6,165.0 -
566.8 - 801.2 -
4.7 - - -
13.9 - . -
(377.1) - (679.6) -
6,373.3 - 5.086.6 -
4,598.5 4,598.5 4,296.0 4,598.5
8.8 8.6 8.8 86
1,747.4 1,467 4 1,781.8 1,467 .4
47 - . )
13.9 - - -
6,373.3 6,074.5 6,086.6 8,074.5
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24. Total equity/net assets attributable to security holders
{continued)

Consolidated
31 Dec 2006 31 Dec 2004

Securities Units
Issued securities
Issued securities (fully paid) 2,016,716,610 securities (Dec 2004: 2 016,761,610 units) 4,598.5 4,598.5
Movements in ordinary securities/units:
Number of

Date Details Notes units/securities $M
1 January 2004 Opening units on issue 1,849,716,610 4,400.8
2 Aprit 2004 Proceeds frorm issue of units (i) 67,000,000 200.3

Less: distribution entittement relating to pre-issue {2.6)
31 December2004 Closing units on issue 2,016,716,610 4,598.5
8 June 2005 Proceeds from capital distribution from units ! (302.5)
8 June 2005 Proceeds from ordinary shares stapled to become

stapled securities iii) 302.5
31 December2005 Closing securities on issue 2,016,716,610 4,598.5

For further detail in regard to the stapling of securities, refer note 1(b).

(i) Stapled securities

Each stapled security comprises one unit in the Trust and one share in the Company. They cannot be traded or dealt with separately.
Stapled securities entitle the security holder tc participate in distributions/dividends and the proceeds of any winding up of GPT in proportion
ta the number of amounts paid or securities held. On a show of hands every holder of stapled securities present at the meeting in person or
by proxy, is entitled to one vote. In a poll each ordinary security holder is entitled to one vote for each fully paid security.

Alt securities issued are fully paid.

(i) Issue of units

On 2 Aprit 2004, 87 million units were issued via a private placement (o raise $203 million. Units were ailotted on 8 April 2004 at $3.03 under
the placement, representing a 1.5% discount to 3 day volume weighted average (VWAP} of $3.077. The units were entitied to the full March
2004 quarter distribution and subsequent distributions.

There is no par value.
(iii) Capital distribution

The Trust unitholders received 15 cents per unit of capital distribution lotalling $302.5 million, referred to as the stapling distribution.
Unitholders authorised GPT RE Limited (the new responsible entity for the Trust) to apply the stapling distribution to subscribe for shares in
the Company of $302.5 mitlion. For each unit held in the Trust, unitholders received one share in the Company.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

24. Total equity/net assets attributable to security holders
{continued)

Reserves

Asset revaluation reserve
Foreign currency transiation reserve

Movements

Asset revaluation reserve

Balance at the beginning of the financial year
Asset revaluation arising during the year
Transfer to retained earnings

Balance at the end of the financial year

Foreign currency transiation reserve
Balance at the beginning of the financial year

Currency translation differences arising during the year
Balance at the end of the financial year

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Foreign currency transfation reserve

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Bec 200531 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004
S M M $M

4.7 - - -
13.8 - - -

18.6 - - -

47 - . -

4.7 - - -

13.9 - - -

13.9 - - -

Exchange differences anising on transiation of the foreign controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency transiation reserve, as described
in note 1(1). The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed.

(i) Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment.

Retained profits
Movements in retained profits were as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the financial year

Transfer from net assets attributable to security hokders
Net profit for the year

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve

Batance at the end of the financial year

1,668.5 - 1,566.5 -
189.7 - 2241 -
1,756.2 - 1,790.6 -
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)
25. Key Management Personnel
{a) Directors

The directors of GPT Management Holdings Limited and GPT RE Limited, the responsible entity of General Property Trust ('the Responsible
Entity’), are considered to be key management personnel.

(3 Chairman - non-execulive

Peter Joseph {Chaimnan)*

(i} Nen-executive directors

Malcolm Latham®

lan Martin {appoinied 2 June 2005)
Brian Narris*

Eric Goadwin®

Ken Mass?*

Elizabeth Nosworthy*

(it Executive director

Nic Lyons (appointed 2 June 2005)

* These persons were also directors of GPT Management Limited (now called Lend Lease Funds Management Limited), the Responsible
Entity of General Property Trust until GPT RE Limited replaced GPT Management Limited on 6 June 2005.

The GPT Group (GPT)

All GPT Management Limited directors, executives and employees were paid by Lend Lease Corporation Limited. GPT Management Limited
received a fee for managing GPT. Following unitholders' approval on 2 June 2005, a stapled entity (the GPT Group) was formed on 6 June
2005 by stapling together the units in General Property Trust {Trust) to the shares in GFT Management Holdings Limited (the Company').
The directors, executives and employees from 6 June are paid by GPT Management Holdings Limited, the employer entity for the GPT
Group.

(b) Other Key Management Personnel

In addition to the directors noted above, the following persons were the Key Management Personnel with the greatest authority for the
strategic directien and management of the GPT Group or the mast highly remunerated executives during the financial year:

Name Position Employer

Michael O'Brien Chief Operating Officer GPT Managerment Holdings Limited
Kieran Pryke Chief Financial Officer GPT Management Holdings Limited
James Coyne General Counsel and Secretary GPT Management Holdings Limited
Mark Fookes General Manager Retail Portfolio GPT Management Holdings Limited
Neil Tobin General Manager Joint Venture GPT Management Holdings Limited
Bruce Maorris Hotels & Tourism Portfolio Manager GPT Management Holdings Limited

(¢) Compensation of Key Management Personnel

The following table sets out the compensation for key management personnel in aggregate. Refer to the remuneration report in the Directors’
Report for details of remuneration poficy and compensation details by individual.

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200631 Dec 2004

$°000 $'00C $'000 $'000
Short term employee benefits 5,961 2,605 5,961 2,805
Pest employment benefits 392 133 382 133
Cther Long term benefits 1,888 292 1,886 292
Termination benefits . - - R
Share based payments 21 42 21 42

8,260 3,072 8,260 3,072
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)
25. Key Management Personne! {continued)

(d) Equity holdings of Key Management Personmnel

The following table sets out the equity holdings for key management personnel in aggregate.

Key Management Personnel

Peter Joseph
Malcolm Latham
Ken Moss

Brian Norris
Elizabeth Nosworthy
Eric Goodwin

Nic Lyons - CEO
Michael O'Brien - FM
James Coyne - CS
Kieran Pryke - CFO
Neil Tobin

Bruce Morris

Mark Fookes

lan Martin

26. Remuneration of auditors
Assurance services

Audit services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firn
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the
Corporations Act 2001

Other Assurance Services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit of regulatory returns

AIFRS accounting services

Due diligence services™

Total remuneration for other assurance services

Taxation Services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Expatriate taxation services

FEM AW IR0

As at As at

1 Jan 2005 Purchase Sales 31 Dec 2005

50,000 - - 50,000

13,195 - - 13,185

25,000 - - 25,000

4 087 - - 4087

5,000 - - 5,000

- 108,000 - 10,000

- 50,000 - 50,000

53 5,000 - 5,053

- 5,000 - 5,000

- 3,500 - 3.500

- 50,000 - 50,000
Consolidated Parent entity

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004

$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000

1,260.8 814.2 1,150.8 710.5

46.2 17.2 46.2 17.2

160.0 - 160.0

1,325.0 1,203.0 1,325.0 1,167.0

1,831.2 1,220.2 1,631.2 1,184.2

67.2 - §7.2 -

Other assurance services provided in 2005 were predominanily due diligence reviews on the internalisation and establishment of joint
venture with Babcock & Brown. In 2004 services were predominantly due diligence reviews on Lend Lease Corpaoration Limited's merger

proposal and Stockland's takeover proposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

27. Related party transactions

(a) Parent entity

The ultimate Australian parent entity is General Property Trust (GPT").
{b) Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates

Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out in notes 13, 14 and 15 respectively. Loans with subsidiaries are sef out in
notes 7 and 20 and loans with joint venture and associates are in note 17.

(¢) Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel and their compensation is set out in note 25 Details of the remuneration policy are contained in the
remuneration report within the Directors’ Report.

Included in the note 25(b) in other key management personnel is Elizabeth Nosworthy and {an Martin who are directors of Babcock & Brown,
with whom GPT have a joint venture arrangement. The remuneration they received was transacted at arm's length. Refer to the remuneration
report in the Directors’ report for compensation delails.

(d) Transactions with related parties
Transactions with subsidiaries

The Trust received income from subsidiaries in the form of profit from operations for the period, refer notes 14 and 15 for details.
The following transactions occurred with subsidiaries during the period:

Consolidated Parent entity

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004

$M M $M M

Loan advanced from the Company - - 3025 -
Loan repayments to the Company - - (192.0) -
Loans advanced to subsidiaries - - - 0.8)
Loan repayments from subsidiaries - - 74 -
Loan repayments o subsidiaries - - - (26.5)
Increase in units in subsidiaries - - (353.9) {575.9)
Interest paid on loan from the Company - - {5.1) -
Responsible Entity fees paid to GPT RE Limited - - (12.3} -
Retail portfolio property management fees paid to the Company - - (1.4} -
Rent received from the Company - - 0.1 -
Distributions from subsidiaries - - 360.6 2885

Transactions with joint ventures and associates
The Trust received income from joint ventures and associates in the form of interest on loans and profit from operations for the period, refer
notes 14 and 15 for details. The following transactions occurred with joint ventures and associates during the period:

Consolidated Parent entity

31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004

$M $M ™ M

Investment in Euro JV BGP Investment S.arl (163.5) - - -
Loans advanced to Euro JV BGP Investment S.a.r.l {592.5) - (5%2.5) -
Investment in US JV Babcock & Brown GPT REIT Inc. (24.5) - (24.5} -
Loans advanced to US JV Babcock & Brown GPT REIT Inc. (85.7) - (85.7} -
Distributicns from Euro/US joint ventures 30.8 - 13.7 -
Increase in units in Australian joint ventures {12.2) {5.4) (7.8) 0.7)
Interest income from Australian joint ventures 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1
Distributions from Australian joint ventures 87.8 36.8 45.9 450
Increase in shares in associates (0.9} (1.9) - -
Loans advanced to associates (4.6} (5.0) - -
Loan repayments from associates 3.8 - - -
Interest income from associates 2.0 1.7 - -
Distributions from associates 55 8.4 - -
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

27. Related party transactions (continued)

(e) Terms and conditions

Transactions relating to distributions were on the same terms and conditions that applied to other sharehoiders.

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, except that there are no fixed terms for the
repayment of loans between the parties. The interest rate on loan between the Trust and the Company was 8.83%. Any other loans between
the Trust and controlled entities are non interest bearning with no fixed term for repayment.

Outstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash and callable on demand.

(f) Transactions with Lend Lease Group

The Responsible Entity of the Trust up until it was replaced in June 2005 was GPT Management Limited {now Lend Lease Funds
Management Limited), a wholly owned subsidiary of Lend Lease Corporation Limited.

Details of the Responsible Entity's fee are disclosed in Note 4. GPT Management Limited's immediate and uftimate holding company is Lend
Lease Corporation Limited.

Alf dealings between the Trust and Lend Lease Corporation Limited and its controlled entities and related parties ('Lend Lease') were on
normal commetrcial terms and conditions and material deslings are reviewed by the Audit & Risk Management Committee. All contracts are

subject to commercial appraisal, on a basis acceptable to GPT Management Limited, by an external valuer or a quslified external party
approved by GPT Management Limited.

The following transactions have taken place with the Lend Lease Group up to 2 June 2005:

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004
™ M ™ $M

Capital expenditure in refation to contracts for development,
refurbishment and upgrades 129.5 256.9 325 105.6
Purchase of Darling Park Stage 3 - 30.0 - -
Property management including property maintenance and insurance 13.7 30.0 7.3 16.9
Rental income from Lend Lease Group 0.1 57 0.1 57
Income guaranteed by Lend Lease under development and sale
agreements - 0.2 - -
GPT's share of Associates Responsible Entity fee / (reimbursement) 0.2 (0.8) - -
Agreement with Lend Lease Corporation to provide for a smooth and
orderly transition of business of responsible entity of GPT from GPT
Management Limited to the new responsible entity to be known as GPT
RE Limited. The agreement covered the operational and logistical .
matters for the transition. 16.5 - 16.5 -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

28. Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the

accounting policy described in note 1(c}:

Country of Class of Equity

Name of entity incorporation shares holding
2005 2004
% %

Controlled entities
GPT Hotel Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- Ayers Rock Resort Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
- GPT Hotel (Darting Harbour) Trust Australia COrdinary 100 100
- GPT Hamilton Island Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
- GPT Hotel Management Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
GPT Industriat Trust (formerly known as Wales House Trust} Australia Crdinary 100 100
- GPT Industrial (Somerton) Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
GPT Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
GPT Residential Trust {formerly GPT Office Trust) Australia Ordinary 100 100
- GPT Residential (Rouse Hill) Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- GPT Residential {Twin Waters) Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
GPT Subsidiary Holding Trust Australia Qrdinary 100 100
GEM Retail Property Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- Crown Street Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
- Homemaker Retail Property Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
GEM Commercial Property Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
- Growth Equities 530 Collins Street Trust Australia Crdinary 100 100
- Growth Equities 580 George Street Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- New Property Investment Trust No. 1 Australia Ordinary 100 100
- GEM Allendale Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- GPT Victoria Harbour No 1B Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- GPT Victoria Harbour No 1A Trust Australia Qrdinary 100 100
- GPT Victoria Harbour No 2B Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
- GPT Victoria Harbour No 2A Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
Melbourne Centrat Holdings Pty Lid Australia Ordinary 100 100
- Meibourne Central Unit Trust Australia Ordinary 100 100
Melboumne Central Custodian Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
GPT Property Management Pty Limited Australia Crdinary 100 -
GPT Finance Pty Limited Australia Crdinary 100 100
GPT Nominees Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100
GPT Mafta 1 Limited Malta Ordinary 100 -
- GPT Malta 2 Limited Malta Ordinary 100 -
- GPT Europe S.a.rl Luxembourg Ordinary 100 -
GPT Funds Management Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
GPT Funds Management 2 Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
GPT Management Custodian Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
GPT Investment Trust No 1 Australia Ordinary 100 -
Vayages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- Voyages Lodges Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- Silky Oaks Pty Limited Australia Crdinary 100 -
- Bedarra Hideaway Pty Limited Austraiia Ordinary 100 -
- Bedarra Island Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- Dunk istand Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- lizard lstand Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- Heron Island Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- Brampton (sland Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- Wrotham Park Lodge Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
GPT Management Holdings Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
- GPT RE Limited Australia Ordinary 100 -
(i) The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.

{iiy Entities acquired during the period, including GPT Management Holdings Limited {refer note 1{b}) were at their fair values (refer

note 1(a}). Consideration paid for business combinations were not material efther individually or in aggregate.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)
29. Bvents oceurring after the balance sheet date

Sale of interest in Twin Waters

in October 2005, the joint venture company owned by GFT and Lend Lease, exchanged conditional contracts for the sale of the hotel
component of Twin Waters Resort for $58 million and the management rights to Stage 1 of the residential development for a price up to $1
miltion. Conditions are expected to be satisfied during the first half of 2006 to allow settlement of the sale.

Acquisition of 50% of Highpoint Regional Shopping Centre

GPT has acquired the Highpoint Regional Shepping Centre in Melbourne, the transaction involves the sale of 50% of the asset and the
management and future development rights. The acquisition remains conditional until Myer, who has a first right in refation to the asset, has
detenmined their positicn. However, we anticipate that we will be resolved in approximately a month’s time.

Acquisition of Industrial assets in the Industrial/Business Park Portfolio

GPT has acquired six industrial assets located in Brisbane, Melbourne and Sydney. The assets have been acquired off market through our
relationship with Babcock & Brown with a value of close 1o $100 million,

68




Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

30. Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflows from operating activities

Consolidated Parent entity
31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004
$M M $M $M
Profit for the year 566.8 - 601.2 -
Add: finance costs to security holders 205.5 1,008.4 205.5 1,008.4
Profit for the year after finance costs to security holders 7723 1,009.4 806.7 1,008.4
Fair value adjustments (356.8) (586.7) (394.9) (590.5)
Revenue adjustments 15.2 137 9.0 75
Loss/{gain) on disposal of properties (10.0) {0.9) - -
Amortisation of leasing fees 9.9 058 6.7 03
Net decrease in provisions:
Provision for doubtful debts 0.5 - - (0.2
Interest capitalised {23.5) {20.3) (23.5} (20.3)
Responsible Entity's fee - 1.8 - 0.8
(increase)/decrease in receivables (69.2) (12.7) 0.8 {3.3)
Increasel(decrease) in payables 12.8 (4.7} (82.5) 12.5
Net cash inflows from operating activities 350.9 380.1 322.4 416.2

31. Deed of cross guarantee

GPT's subsidiary Voyages Hotels & Resorts Ply Limited has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with its subsidiaries Voyages Lodges Pty
Limited, Heron Island Pty Limited, Sitky Oaks Pty Limited, Voyages Mountain & Marine Pty Limited, Dunk Island Pty Limited, Bedarra istand
Pty Limited, Bedarra Hideaway Pty Limited, Brampton lsland Pty Limited, Lizard Island Pty Limited and Wrotham Park Station Pty Limited
under which each company guarantees the debts of the others. By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from
the requirement to prepare a financial report and Directors' Report under Class Order 88/1418 (as amended by Class orders 98/2017,
00/0321, 01/1087, 02/0248 and 02/1017) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

The above companies reprasent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purpose of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to the Deed of
Guarantee that are controlfed by Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group'. The following
entities controlled by Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited are not parties to the deed of cross guarantee and are dormant; Voyages Pty
Limited, Destinations & Voyages Travel Pty Limited and Australian Resorts Pty Limited. The Mutitjulu Foundation Limited has no net assets,
or profit and loss transactions for the years ended 30 June 2005 and 30 June 2004.

Even though these entities are excluded from the deed of cross guarantee, the income staternents, balance sheet and cash flow statements
of the ‘Closed Group' are the same as the Voyages Hotels & Resoris Pty Limited consofidated entity’ as disclosed in their 30 June 2005
financial report.

Set out below is a condensed consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits for the year
ended 31 December 2005 of the Closed Group consisting of Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited, Voyages Lodges Pty Limited, Heron
Istand Pty Limited, Silky Oaks Pty Limited, Voyages Mountain & Marine Pty Limited, Dunk Island Pty Limited, Bedarra Island Pty Limited,
Bedarra Hideaway Pty Limited, Brampton Island Pty Limited, Lizard Island Pty Limited and Wrotham Park Station Pty Limited.

68




Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

31. Deed of cross guarantee {continued)

Condensed consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits

Condensed income statement
Profit before Income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Summary of movements in consolidated refained profits
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year

Profit for the year

Retained profits at the end of the financial year

{b} Condensed balance sheet

Gurrent assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Inventories

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments in associates
investments in controlled entities
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Tatal non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Payables

Provisions

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
interest bearing liabilities
Provisions

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabitities
Net {liabilities)

Equity

Contributed equity
Accumuliated losses
Total equity

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
k1)

1.2

(0.3)
0.8

0.9
0.8

1.7
26.1

8.1
468

7.7
8.7
2.0

18.4
65.3
331

4.5
37.8

284
1.3
29.7

67.3

8.0
(10.0)
(2.0
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

32. Earnings per security
{a} Basic earnings per security
Attributable fo equity hofders of the Trust

Basic and dituted earnings per equity holder of the Trust

Basic and diluted earnings per equity holder of the Trust before financing costs attributable to
GPT unitholders divided by the average number of units

Alfributable to security holders of the stapled entity
(Net operating income including book profits divided by weighted average number of securities)

Basic and diluted earnings per stapled security

Basic and diluted earnings per stapled security before financing costs attributable to GPT
security holders divided by the average number of securities

Basic and diluted earnings per stapled security using realised operating income, refer note 3.

{b} Weighted average number of securities used as the denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary securifies used as the
denominator in calcuiating diluted earnings per security .

Consolidated
31 Dec 200531 Dec 2004

Cents

29.2

8.4

28.1

38.3

24.4

2,016.7

Cents

50.3

50.3

222

2,004.8
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33. Financial risk management

GPT's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk}, credit
risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. GPT's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of GPT. GPT uses derivative financial instruments such as
foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out under palicies approved by the Board of Directors. This involves the identification, evaluation and hedging of
financlal risks in close co-operation with GPT's cperating units. The Board approves written principles for overall risk management.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future comrnercial transactions and recognised assets and liabifities are denominated in a currency that is
not the entity’s functional currency.

GPT operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising fram currency exposures to the Euro and US doflar.
Forward coniracts are used to manage foreign exchange rigk.

(i} Fair value interest rate risk

Refer to {d) below.

(b} Creditrisk

GPT has no significant concentrations of credit risk. GPT has policies 1o review the aggregate exposure of tenancies across its portfolio.
Derivative counterparties and cash fransactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions.

(¢) Liguidity risk

Prudent fiquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities.

{d) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

GPT's interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at floating rates expose GPT to cash flow interest rate risk.
Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose GPT to fair value interest rate risk.

GPT manages its cash flow inferest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect
of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Generally, GPT raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into
fixed rates that are iower than those available if GPT borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate swaps, GPT agrees with other
parties to exchange, at specified intervals (mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate interest amounts
calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Oceasionally, GPT alsc enters into fixed-to-floating interest rate swaps to hedge the fair value interest rate risk arising where appropriate.
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34. Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs

(a) Reconciliation of equity reported under previous Australian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP) to equity
under Australian equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS)

(i) Atthe date of transition to AIFRS: 1 January 2004

Consolidated Parent entity
Effect of Effect of
Previous  transition Previous  transition
Notes AGAAP o AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP  to AIFRS AIFRS
M &M M M ™ M
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 44.0 - 44.0 425 - 425
Receivables 46.0 - 46.0 209 - 209
Derivative financial instruments (v) - 136 136 - 136 1386
Other 14.8 (2.4) 12.2 10.3 (2.4) 7.9
104.6 11.2 115.8 73.7 11.2 84.9
Non-current Assets
Investment properties (i) 74789  {12859) 8,183.0 75004  {4.476.3) 3.024.1
Investment in controlled entities (iit) - - - - 3,799.6 3,789.8
Investment in assaciates fit) 6.5 1,183.2 1,188.7 - 868.6 668.6
Property, plant & equipment {vi) - 101.2 101.2 - 8.1 81
Other financial assets {wit), {viii) - 116.6 116.8 - 746 74.6
Other assets {vii), {ix) 1C5.1 {105.1} - 748 {74.6) -
7,580.5 - 7.580.5 7,575.0 - 7,675.0
Total Assets 7,685.1 11.2 7.706.3 7,648.7 11.2 7,658.9
Current Liabilities
Payables 147.3 - 147.3 100.9 - 100.9
Borrowings 775.0 0.1} 7749 775.0 0.0 7749
Derivative financial instruments (v} - 207 20.7 - 20.7 20.7
Provisions 105.3 - 105.3 105.3 - 105.3
1,027.8 20.6 1,048.2 981.2 20.6 1,001.8
Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings 1.352.0 (2.3} 1,348.7 1,352.0 (2.3) 1,348.7
Total Liabilities 2,3788 18.3 2,397.9 2,333.2 18.3 2,3515
Net Assets attributable to security holders (i) - 5.308.4 5,308.4 - 5.308.4 5,308.4
Net Assets 53155 ({5315.5) - 53155  (5315.5) -
Equity
Contributed equity 4,400.8 {4,400.8} - 4,400.8 {4,400.8) -
Asset revaluation reserve {ii) 9071 {807.1} - 9071 (907.1) -
Undistributed income 7.8 (7.6} - 7.6 (7.6) -
Total Equity 53155 (53155} - 53155 (5.315.5) -
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34, Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued0

(a) Reconcifiation of equity reported under previous Austrafian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP) to equity
under Australian equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS)

(ii) At the end of the last reporting period under previous AGAAP: 31 December 2004

Consolidated Parent entity
Effect of Effect of
Previous  transition Previous  transition
Notes AGAAPRP to AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP to AIFRS AIFRS
M M M &M ™ M
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 50.9 - 508 452 - 45.2
Receivables 58.9 - 589 16.5 - 18.5
Derivative financial instruments v} - 11.2 11.2 - 1.2 11.2
Other 13.5 (8.8) 47 10.1 (8.8) 1.3
123.3 2.4 125.7 71.8 2.4 74.2
Non-current Assets
Investment properties (iy 8.866.2 (1.374.9) 74913 8,867.9 (5,218.3) 3,649.6
Investment in controlied entities {iii) - - - - 4,529.1 4,529.1
Investment in associates {iii) 116 1,181.9 1,203.4 - 689.1 £89.1
Investment in joint venture (iv} - 1186 11.86 - - -
Property, plant & equipment {vi} - 164.7 164.7 - 29 28
Other financial assets (vii}, {viii) - 102.7 102.7 - 48.1 48.1
Other assets (vifi), {ix) 96.0 _{96.0) - 50.9 {50.8) -
89737 - 8.973.7 8.918.8 - 83,0188
Total Assets 8,087 0 2.4 9.099.4 8,980.6 24 8,883.0
Current Liabilities
Payables 1921 - 192 1 87.3 - 87.2
Borrowings 10718 (3.8) 1,088.0 1,070.0 (3.8) 1,066.4
Derivative financial instruments (v} - 26.8 268 - 268 26.8
Provisions 1129 - 1128 1129 - 112.9
1,376.6 23.0 1,399.6 1,270.2 23.0 1,283.2
Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings 1,627.0 (1.7} 18253 1,827.0 {1.7) 1,625.3
Total Liabilities 3,003.8 213 30249 28972 218 29185
Net Assets attributable to security holders (i} - 8.074.5 8.074.5 - 8,074.5 6,074.5
Net Assets 56,0934 (6.093.4) - 6.093.4 (6.083.4) -
Equity
Contributed equity 45985 (4.598.5) - 45885 (4,5985) -
Asset revaluation reserve (i) 1.486.3 (1486.3) - 1,486.3 (1,488.3) -
Undistributed income 3.6 (8.6) - 8.8 {8.6) -
Total Equity 60934 (6,093.4) - 60934 (6,093.4) -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
34. Explanation of fransition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs {continued)

(b} Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 December 2004

Consolidated Parent entity
Effect of Effect of
Previous transition Previous  transition
Notes AGAAP  to AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP  to AIFRS AIFRS
M M $M M M $M
Revenue
Rent from investment properiies {xi) 860.6 {13.7) 646 8 3049 (7.5} 267 .4
Interest - Joint venture investment arrangements 40 - 40 40 - 4.0
Interest - Cash and short term money market securities 7.4 - 7.4 33 - 3.8
Distributions from controlied entities, associates and
joint ventures - - - 352.9 - 352.9
672.0 {13.7) £58.3 6656 (7.5) 858.1
Fair value adjustments to investment properties - 597.3 597.3 - 392.2 362.2
Fair vaiue adjustments of controlled entities, joint
ventures and associates - - - 210.1 210.1
Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method 88.3 11.2 99.5 - - -
Net proceeds on disposal of properties 20.5 {19.6) 09 - - -
Other income 108.8 588.9 B97.7 - 602.3 602.3
Total Income 780.8 575.2 1.356.0 665.6 594.8 1,260.4
Expenses
Rates, taxes and other property cutgoings 148.4 - 146 4 708 - 708
Repairs and maintenance 11.0 - 11.0 54 - 54
Provision for doubtful debts 0.1 - 0.1 {0.1) - (0.1}
Audit and accounting fees 0.8 - 08 0.7 - 07
Finance costs fo financial institutions 118.7 3.8 122.5 118.7 38 122.5
Finance costs paid and payable to security holders - 1,009.4 1,009.4 - 1,008.4 1,009.4
Net loss en re-measurement of derivatives to fair value (V) - 8.0 8.0 - 8.0 8.0
Responsible Entity's fee 355 - 355 21.8 - 21.8
Book value of units in listed property trust - - - - - -
Book value of property investments sold 19.6 {18.6) - - - -
Costs associated with internaiisation/merger proposals 18.5 - 16.5 18.5 - 16.5
Other expenses 58 5.8 54 - 5.4
354.4 1,001.6 1,356.0 238.2 1.021.2 1,260.4
Net operating income 428.4 {426.4) - 426.4 {426.4) -
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

34.
{e)

(d)
U]

(i)

(ith)

Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs {continued)

Reconciliation of Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2004

The adopticn of AIFRSs has not resulted in any material adjustments to the cash flow statement.
Notes to the reconciliations

Classification of units/securities

Under previous AGAAP, units issued by GPT were classified as equity on the consolidated balance sheet. At the date of transition and
in accordance with AASB 132 Financial instruments. Disclosure and Preseritation, unitholders' funds met the criteria of a liability. The
effect of this was to recognise a liability atiributable to unitholders for $5,308.4 miilion and a decrease in contributed equity by $4.400.8
million and $907.8 million of retained earnings. At 31 December 2004, the liability attributed to unitholders was $8,074.5 million, a
decrease in contributed equity of $4,598.5 million and retained earnings of $1,479.5 miltion. This adjustment resufted in net assets at 31
December 2004 being zere.

On 2 June 2005, amendments were made to clauses regarding the fife of the trust within the GPT trust deed, resulting in the
reclassification of units from a liability to equity from that date.

During 1 January 2004 to 1 June 2005, when unitholders’ funds were classified a liability, the retum to unitholders was disclosed as
finance costs (comprising amounts paid 1o security holders and undistributed net assets attributable to security holders) on the income
statement rather than as distributions and an increase in retained eamings respectively. The effect of this was at 31 Decemnber 2004
finance costs were $443.8 million and $565.8 million respectively. The significant components of undistributed net assets attributable to
security holders are mostly made up of changes in the fair value of investment properties and derivative financial instruments. The
amendment to the GPT trust deed on 2 June 2005, has resulted in net assets attributable to security holders being reclassified as equity
and the return to unitholders being disclosed as a distribution payable at reporting date

Investment property

Under previous AGAAP, the GPT Group recognised valuation increments and decrements on investment property in the asset
revalyation reserve. Under AASB 140 Investment Property, all movements in investment property are recognised directly in the income
statement.

At 1 January 2004

For the GPT Group at the date of transition on 1 January 2004, the effect of this was to reduce the asset revaluation reserve by $907.1
million and increase opening retained eamings by $807.1 mitlion. There was no effect on total equity. For the parent entity at the date of
transition on 1 January 2004, the effect of this was to reduce the asset revaluation reserve by $307.1 million and increase opening
retained earnings by $307.1 million. There was no effect on total equity.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the net increase in the fair value of the investment properties is $587.3 million. For the parent entity the net increase
in the fair value of the investment properties is $392.2 miltion.

For the year ended 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the net increase in the fair value of the investment properties of $597.3 million has been recognised directly in the
income statement. This includes a revatuation adjustment referred 1o in note 34(xi) in regard to lease incentives $13.7 million. For the
parent entity the net increase in the fair value of the investment properties of $392.2 million has been recognised directly in the income
statement. This includes a revaluation adjustment referred to in note 34(xi) in regard to lease incentives $7.5 million.

Investments in associates and Investments in controlied entities

Under previous disclosure, certain associates or controlled entities which owned investment property were classified as investment
properties in the balance sheet. At the date of transition, these associates and controlled entities were reclassified in the balance sheet
as investments in associates in accordance with AASB 128 /nvestments in Associstes or investments in Controlled Entities in
accordance with AASB 127 Consolidation and Separate Financial Statements.

At 1 January 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $1,183.2 million and increase investments in associates by
$1.183.2 million. For the parent entity the effect of this was to reduce invesiment properties by $4.488.2 million and increase
investments in associates by $668.6 million and investments in controtied entities by $3,799.6 million.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $1,191.2 million and increase investments in associates by
$1,191.98 million. For the parent enlity the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $5218.2 milliecn and increase
invesiments in associates by $688.1 million and investments in controlled entities by $4,528.2 milion.

Under previous AGAAP, investments in associates were equity accounted with movements being recognised against the asset
revaluation reserve. Investments in associates will continue to be equity accounted.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

34.

(d)

Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs {continued)

Notes to the reconciliations (continued)

(iif) Investments in associates and investments in controlled entities {continued)

(iv)

tv

{vi)

For the year ended 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group, income from the fair value adjustment to investments in associates increased by $11.2 million. There is no effect on
the parent entity. For the parent entity, income from the fair value adjustments to investments in controlled entities increased by $210.1
million.

Investments in joint ventures

Under previous disclosure, certain joint ventures which own investment property were classified as invesiment properties in the balance
sheet. At the date of transition, these joint ventures were reclassified in the balance sheet as investments in joint ventures in accordance
with AASB 131 Inferests in Joint Venfures.

At 1 January 2004
There is no effect for or the GPT Group or the parent entity.

At 37 December 2004
For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $11.6 million and increase investments in joint ventures by
$11.8 million. There is no effect on the parent entity.

There was no effect on total or net assets.

At transition date, the directors elected te account for investments in joint ventures at fair value, with movements in fair value recognised
in the income statement. There was no effect on total equity.

Derivative financial instruments

Under previous AGAAP, derivatives were not recorded on balance sheet but disclosed in the notes to the accounts. Under AASB 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, derivatives not meeting hedging criteria are required to be measured at fair value
through the income statement and recognised on balance sheet

At 1 Januvary 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to recognise the fair value of derivatives on the balance sheet as a $13.6 million derivative
financial asset and a $20.7m denvative financial liability. For the parent entity the effect of this was to recognise the fair value of
derivatives on the balance sheet as a $11.2 million derivative financial asset and a $20.7 million derivative financial lability.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to recognise the fair value of derivatives on the balance sheet as an $11.2 million derivative
financial asset and a $26.6 million derivative financial liability. For the parent entity the effect of this was to recognise the fair value of
derivatives on the balance sheet as an $8.0 million derivative financial asset and a $26.8 million derivative financial fiability.

For the year ended 31 December 2004

This adjusiment was recorded as a $7.1 million decrease against opening retained earnings. The movement in the net loss on the fair
value of derivatives of $8.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2004 was recognised directly in the income statement. The value of
the derivative financial asset and derivative financial liabifity in the balance sheet were adjusted accordingly for the respective periods.

Properties under consfruction classified as property, plant and equipment

Under previous AGAAP, properties under construction were included in, and accounted for, as investment properties. At the date of
transition, properties under construction have been reclassified in the balance sheet as property, plant and equipment in accordance
with AASB 140 Investment Property and AASB 118 Property, Plant and Equipment.

At 1 January 2004

For the GPT Group the effect ¢f this was to reduce investment properties by $101.2 million and increase property, plant and equipment
by $101.2 million. For the parent entity the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $8.1 million and increase property, plant
and equipment by $8.1 million.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $184.7 million and increase property, plant and equipment
by $164.7 million. For the parent entity the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $2.9 million and increase property, plant
and equipment by $2.9 million.

There was no effect on lotal or net assets.
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34,
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Explanation of fransition to Austratian eguivalents to IFRSs {continued)

Notes to the reconciliations (continued)

(vii} Loans and unlisted shares reclassified from investment property

Under previous disclesure, loans to 181 Sussex St Pty Lid and investments in unlisted shares were included within investment
properties in the balance sheet At the date of fransition, these loans and unlisted shares were reclassified in the balance sheet from
investment properties to ‘other financial assets’. These loans and uniisted shares will be classified as loans and receivables in
accordance with AASB 138 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and carried at amortised cost.

At 1 January 2004
For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $2.8 million for loans and $8.7 million for unlisted shares
and increase 'other financial assets' by $11.5 million. There is no effect on the parent entity.

At 31 December 2004
For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce investment properties by $2.8 million for loans and $8.7 million for unlisted shares
and increase 'other financial assets’ by $11.5 million. There is no effect on the parent entity.

There was no effect on total or net asseis.

{viii} Loans to Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited

(ix)

Under previous AGAAP, loans to Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited made up of a working capital loan and acquisition lean were
classified as ‘other assets' in the balance sheet. At transition date and in accordance with AASB 132 Financial Instruments. Disclosure
and Presentation, these loans were reclassified to ‘other financial assetls’, classified as loans and receivables and valued at amortised
cost in accordance with AASB 138 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

At 1 January 2004
For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce 'other assets’ by $10.9 million being the working capital loan and increase 'other
financial assets' by $10.8 million. There is no effect on the parent entity.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce ‘other assets’ by $66.6 million being the working capital loan of $18.5 million and
acquisition loan of $48.1 million and increase 'other financial assets' by $66.8 million. For the parent entity the effect was to reduce ‘other
assets’ by $48.1 million and increase 'other financial asseis' by $48.1 million.

There was no effect on total or net sssets.
Loans to associates

Under previous AGAAP, loans to associates were classified as 'other assets’ in the balance sheet. Af transition date and in accordance
with AASB 132 Financial Instruments. Disclosure and Presentation, these loans were reclassified to 'other financial assets’, classified as
loans and receivables and valued at amortised cost in accordance with AASB 138 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

At 1 January 2004
For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce other assets by $19.6 million increase ‘other financial assets’ by $19.6 million. There
is no effect on the parent entity.

At 31 December 2004
For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce other assets by $24.6 million increase ‘other financial assets’ by $24.6 million. There
is no effect on the parent entity.

There was no effect on total or net assets.
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34.
(d)
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Explanation of transition to Australian equivalents to IFRSs (continued)
Notes to the reconciliations (continued)
Borrowings carried at amortised cost

Under previous AGAAP, discounts, premiums and ancillary costs relating to berrowings were recorded as an asset and amertised, and
the principal amount of the borrowing was recorded as a liabifity. Under AIFRS, borrowings are recorded at amortised cost, where the
principal amount is reduced by the amount of their associated discounts, premiums and ancillary costs.

At 1 January 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce "other current assets' by $2.4 million and reduce 'borrowings' both current and non
current by $0.1 million and $2.3 million respectively. For the parent entity the effect of this was to reduce 'other current assets' by $2.4
miflion and reduce 'borrowings' both current and nen current by $0.1 million and $2.3 million respectively.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this was to reduce 'other current assets' by $5.3 milfion and reduce "borrowings’ both current and non
current by $2.9 million and $2.4 million respectively. For the parent entity the effect of this was to reduce 'other current assets' by $5.3
miflion and reduce 'borrowings' both current and non current by $2.9 million and $2.4 million respectively.

There was no effect on net assets.
Rental revenue

Under previous AGAAP, rental revenue was recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis reflecting the payment terms of
the underlying lease. Lease incentives were capitalised into the investment property and not amortised. Under AIFRS, rental incorne
under leases which contain fixed increases will be recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term. Rental income will also be
adjusted for the amortisation of lease incentives, including rent free incentives, over the fease term.

At 1 January 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this, at the date of transition, was to create a lease incentive asset of $56.9 miilion and an impact of
straightlining asset of $0.5 million and to decrease investment properties by $57.4 million. Both of these assets are included as part of
investment properties for disclosure purpeses and as a result there is no impact on the face of the balance sheet.

At 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the effect of this, at the date of transition, was to create a lease incentive asset of $83.0 million and an impact of
straightlining asset of $0.5 million and to decrease investment properties by $83.5 million. Both of these assets are included as part of
invastment properties for disclosure purposes and as a result there is no impact on the face of the bafance sheet.

For the year ended 31 December 2004

For the GPT Group the amortisation of these balances reduced rental revenue by $13.7 million. This was offset by the recagnition of a
revaluation increase of $13.7 million in the income statement to ensure the property remained at fair value. For the parent entity the
amortisation of these balances reduced rental revenue by §7.5 million. This was offset by the recognition of a revaluation increase of
$7.5 million in the income statement to ensure the property remained at fair value.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

35. Segment information

(a) Description of segments

Business segments

The consolidated entity is organised on a global basis into the following divisions by product and service type.

Retail
The retail portfolio consists of regional & sub-regional and community shopping centres and Homemaker centres.

Office
The office portfolio is spread across four capital cities and comprises office space and associated retail space.

Industrial
The industrial portfolio consists of quality traditional industrial and Business Park assets with capacity for organic growth through the
expansion of vacant land.

Hoftet & Tourism
The hotel and tourism portfolio provides investment exposure te the Australian tourism sector and particularly the intemational visitor market.

Residential

The residential portfolio includes masterplanned urban communities which consist not only dwellings but associated social and physical
infrastructure such as learning, retail and community facilities.

Geographical segments

Although the consolidated entity's divisions are managed on a global basis they operate in three main geographical areas:

Australia
The home country of the parent entily is also the main operating entity.

Europe
Comprisas operations carried out in Germany, Czech Republic and ltaly.

us
Comprises 6 retail centres in several states of the US.

80
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35, Segment information {continued)

(b) Primary reporting format - business segments

31 December 2005

Rent from investment properties

Fair value adjustments to investment properties
Revenue from hotet operations

Share of net profits of associates and joint ventures
Unallocated revenue

Total segment revenuelincome

Segment result

Impaiment of investments

Unallocated revenue less unallocated expenses
Profit before income tax

Income tax benefit

Profit for the year

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

Investment in joint ventures

Acquisitions of investment properties
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation and amortisation expense

LHV W) 25017

Hotel and

Retail Office Industrial Tourism Residential  Consolidated
&M M M M ™ $M
4252 188.2 314 347 - 6888.5
127.8 140.3 223 48.2 - 338.6
- - - 1257 - 125.7
497 79.0 {0.3) 17.3 333 178.0
31.3
1,362.1
304.0 228.8 251 76.8 26.7 861.5
{14.4) - (9.7) (11.8) (28.0) (63.7)
(34.4)
566.4
04
568.8
4,805.5 34815 556.1 328.1 438.9 10,118.1
3136
10,431.7
96.4 107.0 (10.4) 3.2 11.1 207.3
3,851.1
4,058.4
207.0 1,128.7 25.1 0.0 725 14333
22.8 - 33.9 28.4 - 85.0
164.3 4.4 83.5 37.2 - 269.4
10.4 4.2 0.6 7.2 - 224
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

35. Segment information {continued)

(b) Primary reporting format - business segments {continued)

Rty e A A AT

File No 34819

Hotel and
31 December 2004 Retail Office Industrial Tourism Residential  Consofidated
&M ™ &M $M $M M
Rent from investment properties 380.7 1785 273 804 - 846.8
Fair value adjustments on investment properties 816.2 {32.5) 39 8.7 - 597.3
Shares of net profits of associates and joint venture
partnership 60.3 36.9 - 1.1 1.2 895
Unallocated Revenue 12.3
Total segment revenuefincome 1,356.0
Segment result 288.5 2257 23.0 617 28 801.7
Unallocated revenue less unallocated expenses (601.7)
Profit hefore income tax -
Income tax benefit -
Profit for the year -
Segment assets 47722 3,0828 330.6 7259 361 8,857 .4
Unallocated assets 142.0
Total assets 9,009.4
Segment liabilities 113.8 338 3.5 83 01 1583
Unallocated liabilities 2,865.6
Total habilittes 3,024.9
Investment in joint ventures 146.2 1,011.7 - 9.4 36.1 1,203.4
Acquisitions of investment properties 20.7 - 18.5 272.5 - 3117
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 180.0 - - - - 180.0
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8.7 8.1 0.1 - - 15,9
(¢} Secondary reporting format - geographical segments
Acquisitions of property,
plant and equipment,
Rent from
investment properties Segment assets Investment properties
2005 2004 2008 2004 2005 2004
M $M M M M M
Australia 689.5 846.9 9,274.2 8.,957.4 354.6 501.7
us - - 738.5 - - -
Europe - - 105.3 - - -
685.5 846.9 10,118.0 8957.4 354.6 501.7
Unallocated assets 313.7 142.0
Total assets 10,431.7 9.099.4
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

35. Segment information {continued)

(d) Notes to and forming part of the segment information

Accounting policies

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity as disclosed in note 1 and accounting standard AASB
114 Segment Reporting.

Segment revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be
allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of operating
cash, receivables, inventories, property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets, net of related provisions. While most of these
assets can be directly attributable 1o individual segments, the carrying amounts of cerfain assets used jointly by segments are allocated
based on reasonable estimates of usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade creditors and accruals.

36. Contingent Habilities

There are no contingencies at balance date.
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Directors’ Declaration
In the directors of the Responsible Entity’s opinion:
{a) the financial statemenis and notes set out on pages 21 to 83 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) complying with the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regudations 2007 and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements; and

(i} giving a true and fair view of the Trust's and GPT Group's financial position as at 31 December 2005 and of its

performance, as represented by the results of their operations, changes in equity and their cashflows, for the financial
year ended on that date; and

(b} there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Trust will be able 1o pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

{c) the audiled remuneration disclosures set out on pages 7 ta 17 of the Directors’ Report comply with Accounting Standards AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures and Class Order 06/50 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission; and

(d} atthe date of this declaration, there are no reasonabis grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group identified in
note 31 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the deed of cross
guarantee described In note 31. :

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief execulive officer and chief financial officer required by Section 295A of the
Corporations Act 2001.

This deciaralion is made in accordance with the resclution of the directors.

Moot

Peter Joseph Nic Lyons "¢ |
Direclor Director

GPT RE Limited

Sydney

23 February 2006
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ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Strest

Independent audit report to the unitholders of CPOBOX20SD
1
General Property Trust DX 77 Sydney
Australia

wWww.pwe.com/au
Telephone +61 2 8285 0000
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited
financial report

This audit report relates to the financial report and remuneration disclosures of General Property
Trust (the Trust) and the GPT Group (defined below) for the financial year ended 31 Decamber
2005 included on General Property Trust's web site. The directors of GPT RE Limited (the
Responsible Entity) are responsible for the integrity of the Trust's web site. We have not been
engaged to report on the inlegrity of this web site. The audit report refers only to the financial
report and remuneration disclosures identified below. H does not provide an epinion on any other
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report or the remuneration
disclosures. If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data
communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the sudited financial report and
remuneration disclosures to confirm the information included in the audited financial report and
remuneration disclosures presented on this web site.

Audit opinion
In our opinion:

1. the financial repori of General Property Trust:

. gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the
financial position of General Property Trust and the GPT Group (defined below) as at 31
December 2005, and of their performance for the year ended on that date, and

. is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2601, Accounting Standards and
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporaticns
Regulations 2001,and

2. the remuneration disclosures that are confained in pages 7 o 17 of the directors’ report comply
with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Relafed Parfy Disclosures (AASB 124) and Class Order
06/50 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Comnmission,

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosures and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statements,
statement of changes in equity, accompanying notes {o the financial statements, and the directors’
declaration for both General Property Trust (the Trust) and the GPT Group (consolidated entity), for
the year ended 31 December 2005. The consolidated entity comprises both General Property Trust
and the entities it controlled during that year, including GPT Management Holdings Limited and its
controlled enfities.

Liability imited by a scheme approved under Profasaional Standards Legislation
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The Trust has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors énd executives
(remuneration disclosures) as required by AASB 124, under the heading "remuneration report” on
pages 7 to 17 of the directors’ report, as permitted by Class Order 06/50.

The directors of GPT RE Limited (the Responsible Entity) are responsible for the preparation and
true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This
includes responsibility for the maintenance of adeguate accounting records and internal controls
that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and
accounting estimates inherent in the financiat report. The direciors are also responsible for the
remuneration disclesures contained in the directors’ report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the unitholders of the Trust.
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide
reasonable assurance as o whether the financial report is free of material misstatement and the
remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and Class Order 068/50. The nature of an audit is
influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent
imitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence.
Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that alt material misstatements have been detected. For
further explanation of an audit, visit our website http:/fwww.pwe com/aw/financialstatementaudit.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory
financial reporting requirements in Austraiia, a view which s consistent with ocur understanding of
the Trust's and the consolidated entity's financial position, and of their performance as represented
by the resulis of their operations and cash flows. We also performed procedures to assess whether
the remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and Class Order 06/50.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

U examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report and remuneration disclosures, and

. assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures usad and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

Our precedures include reading the other information in the Annuail Report to defermine whether it
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

While we considered the effectiveness of management's internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls. '

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or
management.

Independence

in conducling our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian
professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001,

%MM

PricewaterhouseCoopers

RDDeutsch Sydney
Partner 23 February 2006
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This financial report covers both GPT Management Holdings Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of GPT
Management Heldings Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial report is presented in the Australian currency.

GPT Management Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’) is a company limited by shares, incerporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered
office and principal place of business is:

GPT Management Holdings Lirmited
MLC Centre

Level 52

19 Martin Place

Sydney NSW 2000

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of operations and
activities on page 1 in the Directors’ Report, which is not part of this financial report.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 23 February 2006. The Company has the power to amend and re-issue the
financial report.

Through our internet site, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete and availsble globally at minimum cost to the
Company. All press releases, financial reports and other information are available on our website: www.gpt com au.




Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2005

The Directors of GPT Management Holdings Limited present their report on the consolidated entity and the entities it controlled at the end of or
during the period 22 April 2005 to 31 December 2005.
Directors

The Directors of GPT Management Holdings Limited (the Company} at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:

Peter Joseph {Chaimman) {appointed 22 April 2008)
Malcolm Latham (appointed 22 April 2005)
lan Martin (appointed 2 June 2005)
Brian Nerris {appointed 2 June 2005)
Eric Goodwin {appointed 2 June 2005)
Nic Lyons {appointed 2 June 2005)
Ken Moss (appointed 22 April 2005)
Elizabeth Nosworthy {appointed 2 June 2005)

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company during the financial year were:

- investment in income producing retail, commercial, industrial and office park properties; and

- management and administration of the General Property Trust.

The Company operates in Australia.

There has been no other significant change in the nature of the activities of the Company during the year.
Review of Operations and Changes in the State of Affairs

First Financial Report under the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRSs).

This financial report is the first Company financial report to be prepared in accordance with AIFRSs. AASB 1 Firsi-time Adoption of Austratian
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Sfandards has been appiied in preparing these financial statements.

Financial Results
2005
$'000
Loss after tax for the Company 22,237
The GPT Group {GPT)

Following unitholders’ approval on 2 June 2005, a stapled entity (the GPT Group (GPT)) was formed on 6 June 2005 by stapling together the
units in General Property Trust (the Trust) to the shares in GPT Management Holdings Limited. The Trust and the Company entered into the
Stapling Deed (on 2 June 2005) which sets out the terms of the relationship between the entities with respect to the stapled securities. The
Stapling Deed ensures that the entities must cperate on a co-operative basis for the benefit of holders of Stapled Secuwrities as a whole. The
consolidated results reflect the performance of the Trust and its subsidiaries from 1 January 2005 and the addition of the Company and its
subsidiaries from the date of consolidation, 2 June 2005 to 31 December 2005,

In conjunction with the siapling, the Company acquired GPT RE Limited to act as the responsible entity of the Trust following GPT
Management Limited being replaced by GPT RE Limited as the responsible entity of the Trust.

Babeock & Brown joint venture

On 30 June 2005, the Company invested into BGP Investment S.a.r.f a joint venture with Babcock & Brown Limited. The joint venture seeks to
identify and invest in real estate opportunities which offer superior risk adjusted returns, and establish and manage third party funds.
Dividends

The Directors have not declared any dividends for the reporting period.

State of Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company that occurred during the financial vear,
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Likely developments and expected results of operations

Further information on fikely developments in the operation of the Company and the expected results of those operations have not been
included in this report because it would be likely to result in unreasanable prejudice to the Company.

Environmental Regulation
The Directors are satisfied that there are no significant issues that currently have an impact on the Company.
Events Subsequent to Balance Date

There are no significant subsequent events.
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tnformation on Directors

Peter Joseph OAM, B Comm, MBA, FAICD (Chairman)

Mr Joseph is a career investment banker and an experienced company director who has had a close involvement with the BT Financial Group
for 30 years. Mr Joseph was a Director of the respensible entities of a number of BT funds including some of the BT property trusts. Mr
Joseph was also a Director of the Peter Kurts Properties Group for 12 years. Mr Joseph is currently the Chairman of Dominion Mining Limited.
Mr Joseph is also Chairman of the St James Ethics Centre and the Black Dog Institute and, until September 2004, was Chairman of the St
Vincent's and Mater Hospitals in Sydney. In 2000, Mr Joseph was awarded a Medal in the Order of Australia. Mr Jeseph holds a Bachelor of
Commerce degree and a Masters degree in Business Administration. Mr Joseph is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Mr Joseph is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Cemmittee.

Eric Goodwin B.E. MIE Aust CP Eng

Mr Goodwin is a Non-Executive Director of Eureka Funds Management Limited, Lend Lease Global Properties SICAF, Diversified Utilities and
Energy Trust and AMPCI Macquarie Infrastructure Management No 2 Limited. Mr Goodwin joined Lend Lease in 1963 as a cadel engineer and
during his 42 year career with Lend Lease held a number of senior executive and subsidiary board positions in the Australian cperation and he
was the inaugural manager of the group's Asian operations in 1973. Mr Goodwin has extensive experience in design, construction and project
management, and his experience includes fund management of the MLC Property Portfolio during the 1980’s and he was the founding Fund
Manager of the Australian Prime Property Fund. Mr Goodwin {s a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Malcoim Latham AM B.Arch, Dip TP

Mr Latham is currently a director of the Hornery Institute which undertakes projects in severa!l states, skilling people for work and helping
communities improve the places in which they live and work. Prior to this Mr Latham was Chairman of the South Sydney Development
Corporation and Chairman of a joint venture for the redevelopment of the Auckland Harbour waterfront. He has extensive international
experience in urban development. Mr Latham holds degrees in Architecture and Urban Planning and was awarded the Order of Australia in
1990 for his work as Executive Chairman of the National Capital Development Commission, Canberra. Prior to joining the GPT Board, Mr
Latham was a senior executive in Lend Lease Corporation. Mr Latham is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Ken Moss B.E. (Hons), PhD, Hon FIEAust, CPEng, FAICD

Or Moss is a Non-Executive Director of Adsteam Marine Limited and a Director of Macquarie Capital Alliance Group. Dr Moss is Chairman of
Boral Limited and Centennial Coal Company Limited and is & board member of the Australian Maritime Safety Autherity. Prior to August 2000,
Dr Moss was Managing Director of Howard Smith Limited. Dr Moss is the Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Brian Norris B E¢, LLB

Mr Norris is currently a director of Lend Lease Global Properties SICAF, Chairman of Lend Lease Real Estate Invesiments Lid, Asia Pacific
Investment Company Lid and Asia Pacific Investment Company No. 2 Ltd. Mr Norris has had a long association with the Lend Lease group,
including assisting in the establishment and development of Australian, US and Asian-based property investrnent funds. Mr Norris is a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and holds a degree from the University of Sydney. He previously was a director of a chartered
accounting firm specialising in revenue law. Mr Norris is a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Elizabeth Nosworthy AQ BA, LLB, LLM

Ms Nosworthy is currently Deputy Chairman of Babcock & Brown Limited and the Chairman of Commander Communications Limited and
Stanwelf Corporation Limited. Ms Nosworthy is a Director of Ventracor Limited and is an Adjunct Professor of Law at the University of
Queensland and a Coundll Member of the National Gallery of Australia. Previously, Ms Nosworthy was a commercial partner in a national law
firm where she specialised in financing work including infrastructure financing. Ms Nosworthy is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors and has held a wide range of directorships in both the private and the public sectors. Ms Nesworthy is a member of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee.

lan Martin B Ec (Hons), FAICD

Mr Martin is currently a Non-Executive Director of Babcock & Brown Limited, Arge Investments Limited and St Vineent's, and Mater Health
Sydney Limited. Mr Martin is a former Chief Executive Officer of the BT Financial Group and Global Head of Investment Management and
Member of the Management Committee of Bankers Trust Corporation. Mr Martin spent eight years as an economist with the Australian
Treasury, Canberra, and was the inaugural Chairman of the Investment and Financial Services Assoclation. Mr Martin is the Chairman of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Nic Lyons B Comm

Mr Lyons was appointed CEO of GPT in October 2000 and has more than 25 years experience in the property and property funds
management industries in Australia and overseas. His long career in the property industry has included roles with entities such as ING, where
he was General Manager of Listed Property Trusts, and Lend Lease Real Estate Investments where he was CEO ~ Real Estate Investments.
Mr Lyons is a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Commitiee.

Company Secretary - James Coyne BA, LLB (Hons)

Mr Coyne was appointed the General Counsel/Company Secretary of GPT in 2004. Prior to this Mr Coyne held various roles at Lend Lease
initially with the construction, infrastructure and development groups before moving on fo the Real Estate Investments Group in 2000, where he
held Senior Legal and Company Secretarial roles in both the listed and unlisted sectors.




Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Changes to the Board following Internalisation of GPT

GPT Management Holdings Limited was incorporated in 2005 as part of the proposed internalisation and stapling of the General Property Trust
to create the GPT Group. Initial Directors at the time of incarporation were Peter Joseph, Ken Moss and M Latham. Following the decision of
unithoiders to internalise management of General Property Trust on 2 June 2005, the Board of GPT RE Limited and GPT Management
Holdings Limited was constifuted with the Board of GPTML, the previcus Responsible Entity of the Trust: comprising Peter Joseph (Chairman),
Eric Goedwin, Malcolm Latham, Ken Moss, Brian Norris and Elizabeth Nosworthy. lan Martin and Nic Lyons also joined the Board at this time.

Audit and Risk

Nomination and

Board Management Committee Remuneration Committee
Meetings Mesetings Meetings
Attended Meetings Held” Attended Meetings Held" Attended Meetings
Held*
Peter Joseph ' 8 8 1 1 3 3
Eric Goodwin® 5 5 2 2 NA NA
Malcoim Latham 8 8 NA NA 3 3
Nic Lyons * 5 5 NA NA 3 3
tan Martin 5 5 NA NA 3 3
Ken Moss 8 6 3 3 NA NA
Brian Norris 5 5 3 3 NA NA
Elizabeth Nosworthy ) 5 3 3 NA NA

1 Peter Joseph stepped down as a member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 18 September 2005. Prior to 15 September

2005 Mr Joseph was Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

2 Erc Goodwin was appointed as a member of the Audit and Risk Management Commitiee on 16 September 2005,

3 Nic Lyons was appainted as an Executive Director effective on 2 June 2005 and & member of the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee on 16 September 2005.

4 lan Martin was appointed as a Non-Executive Director effective on 2 June 2005 and Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee on 16 September 2005.
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Directorships of Other Listed Companies and Directors Interests in GPT

The following table shows for each Director:

oo ey T AJIrL A Limied
File No 34819

All directorships of other entities that were listed on the Australian Stock Exchange, other than GPT since 31 December 2002 and the
period for which each directorship has been held.

Interests held in GPT as at the commencement of the period and at the end of the periogd.

Interests in GPT at

interests in GPT at

Director Directorship of Listed Entity Period held beginning of the period end of the peried
Peter Joseph Dominion Mining Limited 1980 to present 50,000 50,000
Eric Goodwin Diversified Utilities and Energy Trust NA Nif 10,000
Malcolm Latham Nit NA 13,185 13,185
Nic Lyons Nil NA Nit 50,000
lan Martin Babcock & Brown Limited 2004 to present Nit 50,000

Argo Investments Limited 2004 to present
Ken Moss Adsteam Marine Limited 2001 to present 25,000 25,000

Macquarie Capital Alliance Group 2005 to present

{including Macquarie Capital Alliance

Limited, Macquarie Capital Alliance

Management Limited and Macquarie

Capital Alliance Bermuda Limited

Boral Limited 1988 to present

Centennial Coal Company Limited 2000 to present

National Australia Bank Limited 2000 to 2004,
Brian Norris Nil NA 4,097 4,097
Elizabeth Babcoeck & Brown Limited 2004 to present 5,000 5,000
Nosworthy Commander Communications Limited 2003 to present

Stanwefi Corporation Limited

Ventracor Limited

Prime Infrastucture Management Limited
David Jones Limited

Queenstand Treasury Corporation

2001 {o present
2002 to present
2002 to 2004
1995 to 2003
1891 to 2003
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Remuneration Report

The Directors of the Company present the Remuneration Report for the Company and fis consolidated entities prepared in accordance with
Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the period ended 31 December 2005,

Background

Following Unithalder approval on 2 June 2005, the General Properly Trust (the ‘Trust) internalised its management and GPT RE Limited
replaced GPT Management Limited (now Lend Lease Funds Management Limited (LLFM)) as Responsible Entity of the Trust on 6 June 2005.
Prior to that date Lend Lease Corporation Limited (Lend Lease) set the applicable remuneration policies and paid all the directors, executives
and employees of the responsible entity of the Trust.

This report sets out the remuneration policies that apply to all employees of the GPT Group that have been adopted by the Board following
GPT's internalisation, unless otherwise indicated. Disclosure is also made in respect of GPT prior to its internalisation when the Trust was
managed by GPTML. As a consequence, the specific remuneration details set out in this report comprise:

1. Amounts paid by Lend Lease in respect of the period when GPTML was the Responsible Entity of the Trust.
2. Amounts paid by GPT following the internalisation of management,

The specific remuneration arrangements described in this report apply to the Chief Executive Officer and the key management personnel as
defined in AASB 124 and to the five named executives as defined in section 300A of the Corporations Act. The composition of the group of key
management personnel changed during the year following the internalisation of GPT when a number of executives engaged by Lend Lease
became key management personnel of GPT.

The Nomination And Remuneration Committee:
GPT's Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for:

1. Reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the compensation pelicies (including performance and incentive schemes)
applicable to GPT employees.

2. Reviewing the Chief Executive Officer's performance and remuneration annually, and making recommendations to the Board thereon.
3. Making recommendations to the Board on remuneration policies and packages applicable to Board members.

Further information about the role and responsibility of the Committee is set out in its Charter. The Charter is available on GPT's website
(www . gpt.com au}. Details concerning the membership of the Committee and aftendance at its meetings are set out earlier in this report.

The Chief Executive Officer in turn reviews the performance and compensation of the Senior Executives and makes recommendations on
these to the Committee. The Chief Executive Officer’s recommendations recognise the differing responsibilities and skills of executives as well
as different market influences that may affect their total compensation packages. if endorsed by the Committee, the total compensation
packages for these exscutives are recommended to the Board for approval.

Since 2 June 2005, the Board. through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, has been reviewing GPT's policies and practices in
relation to its compensation framework. The aim has been to create a remuneration system that:

- ls transparent

- Is fair and market compelitive

- Encourages superior performance by aligning rewards with the interests of alf stakeholders

- Atlracts, motivates, retains and rewards talented and skilled directors, executives and employees

- Rewards employees who demonstrate the core values and culture of GPT.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Remuneration - Executives

GPT's Compensalion Policy
GPT's compensation framework is designed to:

- Satisfy the interests of all stakeholders by aligning remuneration with the achievement of strategic objectives — including the achievement
of superior retums for Securityholders.

- Aftract, align, retain and motivate superior talent at all levels by adequately rewarding contribution to value creation and the execution of
GPT's business strategy.

GPT's Compensation Strafeqy
GPT aims to pay market competitive Total Compensation packages made up of the following components:

- Base salary {fixed) - This includes cash, superannuaticn, leave foading, other salary sacrifice items and fringe benefits tax (FBT), and is
generally positioned at market median against comparable industry peers on the basis of annual benchmarking. Base salaries are
reviewed annually, although they may also be reviewed on promotion.

- Short Term Incentives (variable) - Opportunities for short-term incentives are expressed as a percentage of Base salary and determined
by annual performance against agreed financial and non-financial key performance indicaters (KPY's).

- Long Term Incentives - (variable) —~ Opportunities for long-term incentives are determined by performance against KP's and measured
over three years,

Individuals can receive Total Compensation in the top quartile of the market in a particular year only if various financial and non-financial KPI's
are achieved in their Short and Long Term Incentives.

For the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel the variable component of this mix is greater than at other levels of the
business. The foliowing chart shows percentage mix of the fixed and variable components of Total Compensation for the Chief Executive
Officer and other key management personne! (assuming target performance is met and assuming that Securityholders approve the Long Term
Incentive Scheme for GPT at the Annual General Meeting fo be held on 18 Apnil 2008).

Fixed Remuneration Parformance based Remuneration
ST LT

Nic Lyons
Chief Executive Officer 44 % 22 % 34 %
Michaet O’Brien
Chief Operating Officer 50 % 25% 25%
Kieran Pryke
Chief Financial Officer 50 % 25 % 25 %
Neil Tobin
General Manager Joint Venture 83 % 28 % 21 %
Mark Fookas
General Manager Retail 53 % 28 % 21%
Bruce Maorris
Portfolic Manager Hotels 53 % 26 % 21 %
James Coyne
General Counsel/Company Secretary 56 % 22 % 22%

External Benchmarking of Total Compensation

In this context, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is mindful to ensure that market data used fo set executive remuneration
considers GPT's competitors in the LPT sector as well as GPT's peers on the ASX 200, with the greatest weighting being applied to LPT's
sector based comparisons.

For guidance, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and various business-based executives draw on the following data to benchmark
pay:

- Specific external benchmarking conducted by expert, extemal advisors. The Nomination & Remuneration Committee has appointed
Godfrey Remuneration Group Pty Limited to assist in this regard.

- Information available in published job matched surveys of industry peers including the Avdiev Property Industry Remuneration Report and
the Hamilton Pariners Remuneration Survey.

- Commissioned surveys to supplement the published information,
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Performance Measures
Performance is evaluated against both financial and non-financial KPI's.

Performance against financial KPl's is a key driver of reward outcomes in both Short Term and Long Temn Incentives. Financial KPI's that
apply may be a mixture of.

- Financial performance of GPT as & whole against predetermined targets and its industry peers.
- Financial performance of the individual’s portfolio, division, or business unit.

For the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel, the proportion of their Short Term and Long Term Incentive potential
that is weighted towards financial KPI's is high {for the CEO - 80% of the Short Tern Incentive potential and 100% of the Long Term Incentive
potential}.

For Short Term incentives there is also a weighting to non-financial measures that vary between posilions but include matters such as
achieving strategic outcomes, operational improvement, performance enhancement and personal & staff development. The Beard believes that
these performance measures best align executive reward with that of consistently superior Securityholder retums and the prometion of GPT's
values and culture.

GPT's Performance Management System

A uniform petformance management system is used across the GPT Group which provides alt employees with clear financial and personal
performance objectives. Although the performance criteria are different for each executive, the principles are similar and involve assessment of
performance across the following areas;

- Financial {in relation to the individual's business unit and the Group) — achievement of eamings, return on equily and other retevant
financial targets;

- Personal ~ achievernent of personal objectives related to specific non-financial business targets such as achieving strategic outcomes,
operational improvement and performance enhancement and personal & staff development; and

- Values - achievement of performance consistent with the GPT Vaiues ingrained as part of the GPT Group Culture. Failure to perform
consistently with Group Values will remove eligibifity for bonus.

To ensure that the appropriate performance objectives are being set and that there is an alignment of effort with key deliverables of the GPT
Group's business strategy, the Chief Executive Officer's performance objectives are set by the Board annually and from there are cascaded
into the businesses via the performance objectives of all executives and employees.

Short Term incentives (STIs)variable component

A potential STI, calculated as percentage of base salary, is available 1o all executives. The potential STi is, in turn, allocated between financial
and personal goals. The STi percentage, and its allocation between financial and personal goals depends upon each executive’'s ability to
determine particular outcomes of the Group’s objectives as well as the executive's seniority and accountability.

The actual ST) award for an executive is determined by assessment of the executive’s performance against specific objectives. The executive's
performance is assessed relative to various measurement levels (threshold, target and stretch in the case of financial goals). Expressed as a
percentage of the executive's base salary, their STi potential may range from 0% to 100% for stretch performance. No STl award is made for a
particular goal if performance falls below a minimum threshold level of performance. For Senior Executives in FY08, no STI award wilt be
available should the target level of performance ~ which equals delivery of the earmings for the Group as set out in the 2 May 2005 Explanatory
Memaorandum ~ not be achieved.

Once an entitlement is calculated, the award may be received in a number of ways:

- Cash

- Salary sacrificed to superannuation

- Securities issued under GPT's Securities Employee Incentive Scheme (discussed in more detail below).

The table on page 15 shows ST1 payments made for the financial year ended 31 December 2005 to the Chief Executive Officer and other key
management personnel. Amounts shown are broken doewn to show amounts paid by Lend Lease and amounts paid by GPT.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Long Term Incentives {LTis) {variable component)

Subject to Securityholder approval at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2008, the Board intends implementing a long term
incentive (LT} scheme for Senior Executives under the GPT Employee Incentive Scheme. The GPT Employee Incentive Scheme is discussed
in mare detail on page 10.

The LT scheme is designed to:

- Provide Senior Executives with a long-term incentive to create value for Securityholders, thereby aligning their interests more closely
- Provide a means through which Senior Executives can participate, over the fonger term, in the ongaing success of GPT

- Assist in the atlraction and retention of key Senior Executives.

The Fringe Benefits Tax concessional provisions that would be applicable if shares in the company component of GPT were acquired as part of
an employee share scheme, do not apply to the acquisition of units in the trust component of GPT. This means that, unlike most companies, a
fringe benefits tax fiability would arise for GPT if GPT Securities were provided to GPT employees as part of an employee incentive scheme. In
this regard, GPT is in the same position as other stapled entities that comprise shares in a company and units in a trust. GPT's advice was that
as consequence of this, a plan involving loans to acquire GPT Securities would be required.

It is proposed that GPT's LT1 scheme will include a loan to enable nominated employees to acquire GPT Securities under GPT's Employee
Incentive Scheme. The Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, will detenmine those Senior
Executives eligible to participate in the LTI Scheme and, for each participating executive, their potential LTl and foan arount, calculated by
reference lo a percentage of their base salary. Subject to performance over a 3 year period, the LTI award will be applied against the
outstanding loan (after deductions for FBT). The performance measures that will give rise to a LT award will be determined annually and will
be disclosed in GPT's remuneration report to the fullest extent possible.

The loan will be of no fixed term. After deducting amounts for tax on the employee's income, distributions on the GPT Securities will be applied
against the loan. The loan will not be interest free. Interest will be calculated at GPT's funding cost. While the loan remains oulstanding, the
GPT Securities will be held subject to a holding fock and will not be able to be transferred or otherwise dealt with.

LTt awards will be made subject to satisfying specified financial performance measures set annually at the time the LT) is granted, and that are
tested over a three year period. For each of the financial performance measures, performance criteria atso will be determined at the time the
LTl is granted. if below threshold performance for a particular performance measure is achieved at the end of the three-year peried, no amount
of the LT1 allocated to that performance measure would be awarded. Above threshold leve! of performance, pro rata awards will occur up to
stretch outcomes. Where an LT1 award is made, the cost of the loan (equivalent to interest) will first be deducted from that amount. If the LTI
award is insufficient to cover the loan cost, that part of the remaining loan cost will be capitalised and added to the loan amount. Where the LTI
award is greater than the cost of the {oan, GPT will waive an amount of the loan equal to the remainder after deducting the amount payable by
GPT for the fringe benefits tax (FBT). Based on the current levels of FBT, 51.5% would be applied to reduce the loan amount and 48.5% to
pay FBT.

Except in defined circumstances, the loan under the LTI Scheme is full recourse. If the employee leaves GPT, the loan must be repaid (either
by the sale of securities or some other source of funds). In determining any shortfall, profits on each tranche of GPT Securities and associated
loans will be offset against losses on other GPT Securities and their associated loans. At the discretion of the Board the loan and outstanding
interest may be waived in the folfowing circumstances:

- on retirement of the employee;

- death or total permanent disability of the employee;
- redundancy without cause of the employee; or

- takeover

In designing the LTI performance measures, the Board determined that, given the nature of GPT, it was important to devise measures which
provided a direct link to GPT's distributions and their rate of grewth which in turn are the performance drivers of total Securityhelder return. The
Board also considered that some element of external benchmarking was also required. The Board believes that these requirements have been
met through the mix of performance measures that have been adopted for the initial LTI grant.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Subject to Securityholder approval, for the first LT{ proposed {with perfermance to be reviewed based on the 2008, 2007 and 2008 financial
years) the performance measures approved by the GPT Board are as follows:

- Growth in Earnings per Stapled Security (EPS Growth) - 50% of the potential LTI. Growth in Earnings per Stapled Security will be
measured as the percentage increase in earnings per GPT Security. For the Initial LT! this will be measured for the financial years 20086,
2007 and 2008. EPS is the base earnings per GPT Security adjusted for significant items and other items determined by the GPT Board
and as disclosed in GPT’s Statement of Financial Performance for the financial years ended 31 December 2006, 31 December 2007 and
31 December 2008. If EPS growth is below 6.2% on average over the three-year period, no part of LTI available for this performance
measure will be awarded. If EPS growth is above 6.2%, pro rata awards will eccur up to stretch cutcomes (7.5%).

- Return on Confributed Equity (RoE) — 30% of the potential LTI, Return on Contributed Equity measures the total retum on equity
employed and tekes into account both capital appreciation of the assets of the GPT Group and cash distributions of income. If RoE is
below 8.5% on average over the three-year period, no part of the LT available for this performance measure will be awarded. If RoE is
above 8.5%, pro rata awards will oceur up to stretch outcomes (12.5%}).

- Performance relative to Listed Property Trust index (LPT Index). — 20% of the potential LTI. A LPT index award may be granled if GPT
outperforms against the S&P ASX 200 Listed Property Trust Index. Due to the size of GPT within this index, GPT and its performance is
excluded for the purpose of calculating the LPT Index and its performance. Below index performance, no part of the fotal LT! available for
this performance measure will be awarded. Above index performance, pro rata awards will occur up to stretch outcomes (2% out
performance). The Board may substitute anaother index if there is a material change in the composition of the LPT Index during the
measurement period.

Subject to Securityholder approval at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2006 it is proposed that a loan be made to the Chief
Executive Officer and other key management personnel for the purpose of acquiring GPT Securities under the LTI scheme. Further information
on these LT('s is set out in more detail in the Natice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum.

GPT's Employee Incentive Scheme

Subject to Securityholder approval at the Annusal General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2008, the Board intends implementing the GPT
Employee Incentive Scheme (Scheme). The Scheme operates at two levels:

s a General Scheme for all employees (other than Senior Executives who receive a Long Term Incentive); and
¢ Long Tem Incentive (LTI) Scheme for certain Senior Executives - which is discussed above on page 8.
Under the General Scheme, employees will be offered the ability to participate up to a nominated percentage of their Base Sajary (20%).

1t is proposed that the Scheme will comprise a lcan o enable employees to acquire GPT Securities. The reasons for making a loan rather than
issuing GPT Securities to employees is discussed above on page 9 The Loan will be of no fixed term. The Loan will be inferest free — the net
cost of the interest component is a cost to the business of implementing the scheme. The total cost to GPT to service these {0ans is not
significant {approximately $200,000). The Loan must be used to acquire GPT Securities that will be acquired on employees’ behalf by the
Scheme Administrator. Securities in respect of which a loan is outstanding cannot be sold or transferred. Net distributions (deducting amounts
required to pay tax} must be applied to reduce the loan. If an employee teaves GPT, the Loan must be repaid (either by the sale of the
secuyrities or by some other source). The Loan will be non-recourse, however, it is anticipated that under normal market conditions the value of
securities held by employees would exceed the value of outstanding loans by approximately 15% to 20% within 2 years.

Further information in relation te the Scheme is set out in the Natice of Meeting and Explanatery Memorandum.

Service Agreements

Service agreements have been entered into with all employees who transferred from Lend Lease to the internalised GPT and for all persons
employed since that time. ’

Notice periods of one {1} month apply to all these service agreements although the Board has an intention to increase the standard notice
period for a group of the most Senior Executives to a minimum of 3 months. No notice provisions apply where termination occurs as a result of
misconduct or serious or persistent breach of agreement.

Compensation Arangements for early termination of an executive’s contract for reasons outside the control of the individual or where the
executive is made redundant may give rise to a severance payment at law. In the absence of any express entitlement, these payments would
vary between individuals. The Board has approved a policy with respect to severance entitlements and intends clarifying the position for key
management personnel within the GPT Group by establishment of a policy specifically capping the maximum severance payment that would
be made to 12 months base salary. In addition the employee may be entitled (o any shori-term and long-term incentive at the end of the
relevant period {subject to the achievement of key performance indicators that had been set).

Under the existing service agreements there are no eniitlements {o paymenis on resignation, on termination by the Company for poor
performance or for termination for cause.

10




Directors’ Report
For the year ended 31 December 2005

Remuneration Report (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the terms of the service agreements for the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel.

Nic Lyons Michael Kieran Pryke Neil Tobin Mark Fookes Bruce Moris James Coyne
O'Brien
Chief Chief Chief General General Portfolio General
Executive Operating Financial Manager JV Manager Manager Counsel/
Officer Cfficer Officer Retail Hotels Company
Secretary
Date of 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 June 2005 1 Juhe 2005 1 June 2005
Agreement
Term of Open-ended Cpen-ended Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended Open-ended
Agreement
Non- 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months
sclicitation of
other
personnel
Retention Yes seetable  Yesseetable Yesseetable Yesseetable Yesscetable Yesseetable  Yes see table
payable June  on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14
07
Commitment  Yes seetable Yesseetable Yesgseetiable VYesssetable Yesseetable Yesseetable Yes see table
payment on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14 on page 14
Termination 1 Month 1 Manth 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month 1 Month
Notice

QOther Awards - GPT since internalisation

Prior to the internalisation proposal being put to Unitholders, the Board of GPTML (comprised of its Independent Directors) identified certain
individuals who were either critical {0 the internalisation process itself or were critical to ensure that business as usual was maintained for those
parts of GPT's business that were significantly impacted by the infernalisation and for the engoing success of the business as part of a newly
formed independent GPT. In relation to these employees, the Board {comprised of its Independent Directors) agreed 1o

- Aone-off commitment payment made in June 2005 to the individuals concerned.

- Avetention payment to be made in June 2007 should the employee remains with GPT until that time. This payment will not be made if the
individual's employment is terminated prior to 1 July 2007 for miscanduct, gross negligence, materiaf breach of contract, failure to carry out
a reasonable direction or any other circumstances justifying immediate termination.

For key management personnel details of:

- The commitment payment has been included in Table 2 on page 14 under the heading "Short Term Employee Benefits —~ Commitment
Bonus®.

- Amounts allocated to the retention referred to above have been included in Table 2 on page 14 under the heading “Other Long Term
Benefits - Retention”.
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Remuneration Report (continued)

Other Awards ~ Lend Lease prior to Internalisation

{(a) Retention Amounis

Lend Lease made retention awards from time to time if it wished to provide an incentive to certain employees, who were responsible for the
management of GPT, to remain with the Lend Lease Group. These awards were provided by Lend Lease and not by Unitholders. During
2004, following the announcement of the GPT/Lend Lease merger propesal, Lend Lease granted retention awards to a number of key
execufives. These awards were not linked to the success or otherwise of the GPT/Lend Lease merger proposal (that did not ultimately
proceed) but would be payable if the executives remained with the Lend Lease Group for varying periods that expired during 2005. Lend Lease
provided the funds for these awards as part of the separation arrangements that were agreed in June 2005, Details of any retention amount
referred to above for the key management personnel have been included in Tabie 1 on page 14 under the heading “Short Term Employee
Benefits - Retention Bonus™.

{b} Lend Lease Employee Share Plan.

Part of a Lend Lease employee’s total remuneration was made up of an allocation to shares issued under Lend Lease Employee Share Plans.
The amount allocated was calculated as a percentage of base salary and capped at 5% of base salary. Details of any shares issued under
Lend Lease Employee Share Plan for the key management personnel have been included in Table 1 on page 14 under the heading "Equity -
ESP/Other'.

{c) Long Term Incentive

During 2005, certain executives were eligible to receive awards issued by Lend Lease in 2002 under its Long Term Incentive Scheme. Details
of any such long term incentive awards for the key management personnel have been included in Table 1 on page 14 under the heading
“Other Long Term Benefits - LTI Bonus®.

Remuneration - Non-Executive Directors

GPT's Policy

As part of its Charter, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board conceming the remuneration
structure for Non Executive Directors.

The Board has adopted a policy to ensure that remuneration packages for Non Executive Directors are transparent and easily explained while
at the same time enabling the Board to atiract and retain the highest quality candidates. The principal features of this policy are as follows:

- Non Executive Directors are paid one director's fee for participation as a Director in all GPT Group related companies (principally GPT RE
Limited the responsible entity of the General Property Trust and GPT Management Holdings Limited).

- Non Executive Director remuneration is composed of three main elements:
1) Main Board fees
2) Committee fees
3} Superannuation contribulions at the statutory Superannuation Guarantee Levy (SGL) rate.

- Difierences in workloads of Non-Executive Directors arise mainly because of differing involvement in board commitiees, which is in
addition to main board work. This additional workload is rewarded via commiltee fees in addition to main board fees.

- Non kxecutive Directors do not participate in any incentive or performance based arrangements.
- Non Executive Directors are not entitled o any retirement benefits.

- Non Executive Directors remuneration is set by reference 1o comparable entities listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (based on GPT's
industry sector and market capitalisation).

- External independent advice on reasonable remuneration for Non Executive Directors is sought at least every three years. Between such
reviews remuneration will be monitored against market rovements (so as to maintain their competitiveness) as will the time being spent
by Directors in performing their duties. Any increase as a result of such review will be effective as from the 1st of January and would be
advised in the next Remuneration Report.

- The Chairman will be paid a main board fee at a higher rate than other Non Executive Directors to reflect additional workloads and
responsibilities. The Chairman will be paid 150% more than the other Non Executive Directors but wilt not receive commitiee fees.
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Remuneration - Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Amounts payable to Non Executive Directors to 31 December 2005

For the period from 1 January 2005 until 2 June 2005, Non-Executive Directors’ fees were paid by GPT Management Limited {a subsidiary of
Lend Lease Corporation) and not by GPT. Non-executive Directors' fees were set at $60,000 per annum with the Chairman’s fees being two
times the standard fees paid to a Director {$120,000). The Chairman of the Audit & Risk Management Committee received an additional
$20,000 per annum. Cther members of the Audit & Risk Management Committee received an additional $15,000 per annum. With the
intemalisation of GPT these fees were mainfained for the period to 31 December 2005, provided that the members of the newly reconstituted
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (other than the Chairman) received $15,000 per annum.

in addition, Peter Joseph, Malcolm Latham and Ken Moss received additional amounts for the period from 1 January 2005 to 2 June 2005 of
$102,000, $34.000 and $32,000 respectively for considerable additionat work underizken arising from the Stockiand Offer and the
internalisation Proposal, which was ultimately approved by Unitholders on 2 June 2005. These payments were made by Lend Lease as part of
an arrangernent that was agreed at the time of the original GPT/Lend Lease merger proposal in 2004,

Table 4 on page 15, which shows the comparative information for the period from 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004, includes additional
amounts paid to Peter Joseph, Malcolm Latham, Ken Moss and Etizabeth Nosworthy for the work undertaken arising from the Lend Lease
Merger Proposal and the Stockland Offer. These amounts were disclosed in GPT's financial statements for the peried ended 31 December
2004.

Amounts pavable to Non-Executive Directors commencing 1 January 2008

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee commissioned a report on Non-Executive Director remuneration from Godfrey Remungration
Group Pty Limited ("Godfrey”’) in the second half of 2005. The results of this review noted that, in light of the recent change to the structure of
the GPT Group, the increased involvement, level of commitment and responsibilities (including increased legal and regulatory liability now
imposed on directors of listed entities) being requested of the Non-Executive Directors and the competitive nature of the current market, the
remuneration levels of the Non-Executive Directors required amendment.

In this context, the Committee was mindful to ensure that any market data should consider GPT’s competitors in the LPT sector as well as
GPT's peers on the ASX 200. The Committee was also mindful that it is important for alt Securityholders in GPT for the Board to be able to
attract and maintain appropriately qualified non executive directors for a business of the size and complexity of the newly iniernalised and
stapled GPT (iotal assets approximately $10.3 billion - with a core portfolio of $9.4 billion and interests in investments across Europe and in
the US $0.9 billion).

As a result, Non-Executive Directors’ fees have been increased as follows: the Chairman's total remuneration is now $300,000 per annum plus
superannuation contributions at the statutory (SGL) rate (9% capped at $12,138). The main board fees for all other Non-Executive Directors
will be $120,000 per annum plus SGL contributions {capped at $12,138). The Chaiman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is
entitled to an additional $30,000 with members entitled to an additional $15,000. The Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee will be entitled to an additional $20,000 with members entitled to an additional $10,000. These changes took affect from 1 January
20086.

As a Director of GPTML, Brian Norris was entitled {o a retirement benefit from that company equal to the total of the director's fees paid to him
during the three year period piror to his retirement. This amount $211 467 .40 was paid to Mr Norris in 2005 following the intemalisation of GPT.
The amount was paid by Lend Lease not by GPT and is disclosed in Table 1 on page 14 under the heading "Retirement Benefits”.

Proposed Increase in Aagregate Fee Limit

The maximum aggregate amount payable to Non-Executive Directors may not exceed $1.3 million per annum. The aggregate amount payable
to Non-Executive Directors is currently $1,209,534. At current levels there is sufficient headroom within the maximum to provide a modest
increase amounts currently paid to Non-Executive Directors but insufficient headroom within the maximum to appoint a new director.

A resolution will be put to Securityholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 18 April 2008 to increase the maximum aggregale
amount payable to Non-Executive Directors from $1.3 million to $1.45 million. The revised maximum aggregate amount will allow for the
appointment of one further director. Further details concerning this are contained in the Natice of Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum.
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Detaiis of Remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of the key management personnel for the current year and for the comparative
year are set out befow. They are broken into a number of tables. Table 1 shows all amounts paid by Lend Lease for the period between 1 January 2008
and 2 June 2005. Table 2 shows all amounts paid by GPT for the peried from 3 June 2008 to 31 December 2005. Table 3 shows the aggregate of Table
1 and Table 2 (i.e. the total amounts paid to the individuals for the year fromt 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005). Tabie 4 shows the comparison for

the year from 1 January 2004 to 31 Cecember 2004.
Table 1 Remuneration details 1 January 2005 to 2 June 2005

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Personne! of GPT RE Limited paid by Lend Lease when the Responsible Entity for ihe Trust was
GPT Management Limited for the peried 1 January 2006 to 2 June 2005 is set out in the foflowing table:

Share
Othar long term Based
Short term employee benefits Post Employment benefits Termination  Payment
Salary & STl Retention Non Super- Retirement LT
Fees Bonus Benus Monetary annuation Benefits Bonus Retention Total
Key Management Personne!
N Lyons CEO &
Director gppointed
2/6/05 213,858 316,984 384,327 2,739 19,238 - 31,821 - - 6,022 874,985
E Goodwin Director “ - - - - - “ - - - -
M Latharn Director 59,000 - - - 2,250 - - - - - 61,250
K Moss Director 67,333 - - - 3,000 - - - - - 73,333
B Norris Director 31,250 - - - 2,813 211,487 - - - - 245,530
E Nosworthy
Director 31,280 - - - 2313 - - - - - 34,063
P Joseph Director 152,000 - - . 4 500 - - B - - 156,500
| Martin Director appointed 2/6/05 - No benefits paid in this period
M O'Brien CCOC 151,888 147,095 192,201 2,739 17,492 - 26,354 - - 5,895 544 864
K Pryke CFO 122,954 120,868 98,493 2,739 14,273 - 85,966 - - 4,894 450,216
J Coyne Genera/
Counsel/Secretary 93,285 53,900 60,641 64 16,600 . - - - 3,635 222,126
M Fookes
Refait GM - - - - - - - - - - -
N Tobin SV GM - - - - - - - - - - -
B Morris Hotels P - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 922,816 538,745 735,662 8,281 75,977 211,467 144,171 - - 20,546 2,759.666

There were no termination benefits earned during the period.

Table 2 Remuneration details 3 June 2005 to 31 December 2005

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Personnel of GPT RE Limited for the period 3 June 2005 to 31 December 2005 is set out

in the following table:

Share
Other long term Based
Short term employee bensfits Post Employmant benefits Termination  Payment
Salary & Commitment Hon Super- Retirement LTt
Fees STiBonus Bonus  Monetary annuation Benefits Sonus  Retention Total
Kay Management Personnel
N Llyons CEO &
Director
{appointetf 2/6/05) 378,296 115.287 270,157 3,194 23,141 - - 378,218 - . 1,168,274
E Gosdwin
Director 34,385 - - - 3,085 B - - - - 37,480
M Latharn Director 42,761 - - - 3,868 - - - - - 46,629
K Moss Director 45,627 - ~ - 4,128 - - - - - 49,753
B Norris Director 43,144 - - - 3,833 - - - - - 46,977
E Nosworihy
Director 42,981 - - - 3,868 - - - - - 45,848
P Joseph Direclor 68,550 - - - 6,189 - “ - - - 74,738
I Martin Director
(@ppointed 2/6/05) 34,385 - - . 3,005 - - - - . 37,480
M O'Brien COO 280,498 53.816 201,811 3,200 8,924 - - 282,535 - - 830,784
K Pryke CFO 228,085 43,952 164,818 3,200 8,883 - - 230,745 - - 679,683
J Coyne General
Counsel/Secretary 168,016 19,600 122,500 - 8,080 - - 171,500 - - 489,708
M Fookes
Refail GM 237,793 45,804 171,766 3,200 8,924 - - 240,473 - - 707,966
N Tobin JV GM 221,893 38.431 160,129 - 8,796 - - 224 181 - - 653,430
B Morris Hotels
PM 212,138 41,895 153,318 - 8,668 - - 214,642 - - 630,709
Total 2,038,608 358,785 1,244,497 12,794 103,500 - - 1,742,295 - - 5,500,459

There were no termination benefits earned during the period.

#  The amount set out in “Other Long Term Benefits - Retention” represents an accrual for part of the retention award that bscomes payable on 30
Jung 2007. The lotal amounts payable in respect of this retention award (assuming that the executive remains with GPT untit 30 June 2007) is as
follows: N. Lyons $1,350,783, M. O'Brien $1,008,054, K. Pryke $824,088, N. Tobin $800,647, M. Fookes $858,831, B. Morris $766,578 and J.

Coyne $612,500.
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Details of Remuneration {continued)

Table 3 Remuneration details 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005

File vo 34317

Detsils of the remuneration of the Key Management Personnel of the stapled entity for the year ended 31 December 2005 is set out in the

following table:

Key managemsent
Personnel

N tyons CEOQC & Director
{appointed 2/6/05)

E Goodwin Djrector
M Latham Director

K Moss Direcfor

B Norris Director

E Noswaorthy Director
P Joseph Dirgcter

| Martin Director
{appvinted 2/6/05)

M O'Brien COQ

K Pryke CFO

James Coyne General
Counsel /Secretary

M Fookes Retail GM
N Tobin JV GM

8 Morris Hotels PM

Total

Share

Other long term Based

Short term employee benefits Post Employment benefits Payment

Salary & Non Super- Retirement
Fees STIBonus Banus Monetary annuation Banefils LTI Bonus Retention Total

592,152 432,251 654 484 5833 42377 - 31,821 378,218 6,022 2,143,259
34,385 B - ~ 3,095 - - - - 37,480
101,761 - - - 6,118 - - - - 107,879
112,860 - - - 7,126 . - - - 120,086
74,394 - - - 6,646 211,467 “ - - 292,507
74,231 - - - 5,681 - - - - 80,912
220 550 - - - 10,889 - - - - 231,239
34,385 “ - - 3,095 - - - - 37,480
432,386 201,811 394,012 5,939 26,416 - 26,354 282,535 5885 1,375448
351,039 164,818 263,311 5,839 23,156 - 85,998 230,745 4894 1,129,899
261,301 73.500 183,141 64 18,690 - - 171,500 3,635 711,831
237.799 45,804 171,766 3,200 8,924 - - 240,473 - 707,966
221,893 38,431 160,129 - 8,796 - “ 224,181 - 653,430
212,188 41,895 153,316 - 8,668 - - 214,642 - 630,709
2,961.424 398,510 1,880,159 21,075 180,477 211,467 144,171 1,742,285 20546  8.2B0,125

No termination benefits were paid during the period.

Table 4 Remuneration details 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2004

Detsils of the remuneration of the Key Management Persannel of the stapled entity for the year ended 31 December 2004 is set out in the

following table:

Key management
Personnel

N Lyons CEO

€ Goodwin Director

M Latham Director

K Mass Director

B Norris  Director

E Nosworthy Director
P Joseph Direcfor

M O'Brien COO

K Pryke CFO

J Coyne General
Counsel/Secrstary
{appoinied 1 July 2004)
Mark Fookes Retad GM
Neil Tobin JV GM
Bruce Morris Hofels P

Total

Share
Other long term Based
Short tarm employee benefits Poast Emptoyment benefits Payment
Salary & Retention Non Super- Retirement
Fees STiBonus Banus Monelary annuation Benefits LTI Bonus Retention Total
455 632 377,028 - 6,400 38,902 - 212,034 - 12,807 1,102,880
4,000 - - - - - - - - 4,000
132,000 - - - 5,400 - - - - 137,400
140,000 - B - 7,200 - - - - 147,200
80,000 - - - 7,200 - - - - 87,200
135,000 - - - 8,750 - - - - 141,750
258,750 - - - 7,088 . - - - 265,838
339,335 169,137 - 12,233 29,730 - 54,366 - 13.831 619,232
259,253 91,599 - 6,400 22,441 - 25,497 - 10,405 415,585
108,970 28.806 - 75 8,233 - - - 4362 150,446
1,913.440 566,597 - 25,108 133,034 s 291,897 g 41,505 3071550

No termination benefits were paid during the period.
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Details of Remuneration {continued)

Short-term emplovee benefits 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005

AR STV W IS4

A reconciliation of all short-term employee benefits made to the Chief Executive Officer and key management personnel during the financial

year to 31 December 2005 is set out below.

Nic Lyons
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
{CEO)

Nichasl O'Brien
Chief Operating Officer (CO0)

Kieran Pryke
Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Neil Tobin
General Manager JV (JVGM)

Mark Fookes
General Manager Retail (Retail GM)

Bruce Worris
Portfolio Manager Hotels and Tourism [H&T PM)

James Coyne
General Counsel/Company Secretary

Nature of STI Compensation

ST4 Plan Lend Lease

STi Plan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Commitment Payment GPT

STi Plan Lend Lease

ST! Plan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Cormmitment Payrment GPT

. STiPlan Lend Lease

STl Plan GPT
Retention Lend Lease
Commitment Payment GPT

ST Plan GPT
Commitment Payment GPT

ST1 Plan GPT
Commitment Payment GPT

STt Plan GPT
Commitment Payment GPT

ST Plan Lend (ease

STi Plan GPT

Retention Lend Lease
Commitment Payment GPT

Tota! Value of STI payment

316,984
115,267
384327
270,157

147 895
53,816

192,201
201,811

120,366
43,952
98,463
164,818

38,431
160,12¢

45,804
171,766

41,885
153,318

53,800
19,600
60,641
122,500
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Indemnification and insurance of Directors and Officers

The Company intends entering into Deeds of Indemnity and Access in favour of each of the Diractors of the Company indemnifying them to the
extent permitted by law for lesses, Hiabilities, costs and charges incurred as a Director of the Company.

During the financial year the Company paid insurance premiums to insure the Direclors and Officers of the company and its subsidiary
companies. The terms of the contract prohibit the disciosurs of amounts of premium paid.

The jlabilifies insured are for costs that may be incurred in defending ¢ivil or criminal procesdings ihat may be brought against Directors and
Officers in thelr capacity as Direclors and Officers of the Company and its subsidiary cormpanies and any other payments arising from liabilities
incurred by the Officers and Directors in connection with such proceedings other than where such liabilities arise out of conduct involving wilful
breach of duty by the Officers or the improper use by the Officers of their position or of infermation to gain advantage for themselves or
someone else or to cause detriment to the Company.

The Auditors are in no way indemnified out of the assets of the Company.
Non-audit services
During the year PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to Lheir slatufory duties.

The Board has considered tha non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit

services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirements of the Corporation

Act 2001 for the following reasons:

- The Board's own review conducted in conjunction with the Audit and Risk Comimittee, having regard to the Board's policy with respect to
the sngagement of GFT's Auditor.

- The declaration of the independencs provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, as auditor of GPT.

- The fact that none of the nomaudit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers during the pericd had the characteristics of
management or decisfon-making self-review or advocacy.

31 Dec 2005
$
Assurance services
Audit services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Audit and review of financial reports and other audif work under the
Corporations Act 2001 154,668
QOther Assurance Services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Audit of regulatory retums :
Audit of Australian Financial Services License 8,140
Total remuneration for other assurance services 8,140

*  Other assurance sarvices provided in 2005 were predominantly due difigence reviews on the intemalisation and establishment of joint ‘
venturs with Babcock & Brown. In 2004 services ware predominantly due diligence reviews on Lend Lease Corporation Limited's merger
proposal and Stockland's takeover proposal,

Rounding of Amounts

The amounis disclosed in the Directors' Report have been prepared in accerdance with Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian

Securities & Investments Commission, pursuant to which, unless otherwise indicated, the amounts in the Direclors' Report have been rounded

1o the nearest thousand dollars,

PricewaterhousaCoopers have been appointed as auditor of GPT in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act, 2001.

Dated at SYDNEY this 237 day of February, 2008 '

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

7 :
I3
Wy%/
Pster Joseghy’ Nic Lyony )
Director : Director
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Auditors’ Independence Declaration

PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABN 52 780 433 757

Dariing Park Tower 2
201 Sussex Strest
GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney
Australia

WY pwe.com/au

- Telephone +61 2 8266 D000

Facsimile +61 2 8266 999¢

As lead auditor for the audit of GPT Management Holdings Limited for the period ended 31
December 2005, | declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

' a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in

relation fo the audit; and

b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of GPT Management Holdings Limited and the entities it controlled

during the period.

RO Devisch

Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Liability imited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Sydney

23 February 2008




GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Income Statements
For the period 22 April 2005 to 31 December 2005

Revenue

Property management fees

Fund management fees

Leasing fees

Development management fees

Interest income

Qverhead recharges

Distributions from assgociate and joint venture
Revenue from hotel operations

Share of net profits of associate and joint venture accounted
for using the equity methed

Other
Other income

Total intome

Expenses

Salaries

Recruitment

Rent and outgoings

Audit and accounting fees

Costs associated with internalisation
Insurance

Travel & enteriainment

Consultants

Interest

Cost of sales

Impairment of investment in joint venture
Depreciation expense

Repairs & maintenance

Other expenses

Loss before tax

Income tax benefit

Loss for the period
Profit attributable to the members of GPT Management
Holdings Limited

Basic/diluted earnings per share atlributable to the ordinary
equily holders of the company

The above income statements shouid be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Notes
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Consolidated
2005
$°000

3,345
13,004
1,042
4,010
5,570
1,387

125,340
153,688

22,804
138
22,942

178,640

59,277
1,154
37,480
1585
4,854
1,660
4,856
4,085
1,017
24,022
42,325
668
6574
11,485
198,323

(22,683}

445

{22,237)

22,237

Cents

(14.7)

D e Al

File No 34819

4 e LIliiCy

Parent entity
2005
$'000

3,346
10,069
1,042
4,010
5,149
1,387
17,089

42,082

42,085

14,950
738
305

40
4,854
480
1,515
631

42,325
141
1,381
4,308
71,688

(29,573)
870

(28,703}

{28,703)
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Balance Sheets
As at 31 December 2005

Consolidated Parent entity
2005 2005
Notes $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 34,337 14,811
Receivables 6 52,459 26,389
Inventories 7 9,088 -
Total Current Assets 95,885 41,180
Non-current Assets
Investment in controlled entities 8 - 14,551
investment in joint venture 8 134 880 127,135
Investment in associates 10 7,637 -
Other financial assets 11 110,485 110,485
Property, plant & equipment 12 11,015 2,300
Intangible assets 13 7,278 -
Deferred tax assat 14 7,423 5,187
Total Non-current Assets 278,718 256,658
Total Assets 374,603 300,838
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 15 47,386 20,997
Provisions 16 12,410 3,720
Total Current Liabilities 59,786 24,717
Non-current Liabilities
Payables 15 28,420 -
Provisions 16 3,531 2,316
Deferred tax liability 17 211 -
Total Non-current Liabilities 32,162 2,318
Total Liabilities 91,958 27,033
Net Assets 282,645 273,805
EQUITY
Contributed equity 18 302.508 302,508
Reserves 18 2,374 -
Undistributed income 1¢ (22,237) {28,703}
Total Equity 282 845 273,805

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlied entities

Statements of Changes in Equity
For the period 22 April 2005 to 31 December 2005

Total equity at the beginning of the reporting period

Foreign currency translation reserve

Net income recognised directly in equity

Loss for the period

Total recognised income and expense for the period

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders
Proceeds from issue of units, net

Total equity at the end of the reporting period

Consolidated
2005
$000

2374
2,374

(22,237)

(19,863)

302,508

282,645

The sbove statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nofes.

Lompany - GPT RE Limited
File No 34819

Parent entity
2005
$'000

(28,703)
(28,703)

302,508

273,805
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Cash Flow Statements
For the period 22 April 2005 to 31 December 200§

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts in the course of operations ({inclusive of GST)

Cash payments in the course of operations (inclusive of GST)
Interest received

Net cash inflows from operating activities 24

Cash flows from investing activities
Net cash receipt on controf of subsidiary
Payment for controlled entities

Payment for joint venture

Payment for property, plant & equipment
Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of units
Proceeds from related party borrowings

Repayment of related party borrowings
Net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash at the beginning of the reporting period

Cash at the end of the reporting period 5

Consolidated
2005
$'000

119,951
(116,833)
492
3,610

10,150
(4,351)
(169,660)

(2,869)
(166,730)

302,508
7,000
(112,051)
197 457

34,337

34337

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Company - GPT RE Limiteg
File No 34819

Parent entity
2005
$'000

16,668
(8,783)
71
7,656

(14.351)
(169,660)
(2,441
(186,452)

302,508
2,850

{112.051)
193,307

14,811

14,811
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Frie No 34819

Notes to Financial Statements

1.

(a)

(b}

Summary of accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to the period presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial report includes separate financial statements for GPT
Management Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’) as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of the Company and its
controlled entities.

Basis of preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalenis to internationat Financial Reporting
Standards (AIFRSs), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group
Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2007.

Compliance with IFRSs

Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to Intemational Financial Reperting Standards. Compliance with AIFRSs
ensures that the consolidated financial statements and notes of the consclidated entity comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs). The Company's financial statements and notes also comply with IFRSs.

Application of AASB 1 First-time Adoplion of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
These financial statements are the first Company financial statements to be prepared in accordance with AIFRSs.

Accounting for the GPT Management Holdings Limited

GPT Management Holdings Limited was incorporated on 22 Aprit 2005 for the purpose of forming a stapled entity. On € June 2005, a
stapled entity (the GPT Group 'GPT') was formed by stapling together the units in General Property Trust (the Trust’) to the shares in
the Company. For the purposes of statutery reporting, the consolidated entity includes oniy the Company and its controfled entities.

The shares of GPT Management Holdings Limited are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange under the stapled entity code GPT and
comprise of one unit in the Trust and one share in GPT Management Holdings Limited. The unit and share are stapled together under
the terms of the constitution and cannot be traded separately. Each entity forming part of GPT continues as a separate legal entity in its
own right under the Corporations Act 2001 and is therefore required fo cemply with the reporting and disclosure requirements under the
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards.

On implementation, the Trust unitholders received 15 cents per unit capital distribution of $302.5 million, referred to as the stapling
distribution. Unitholders authorised GPT RE Limited (the new responsible entity for the Trust} to apply the stapling distribution to
subscribe for shares in the Company of $302.5 millien. For each unit held in the Trust unitholders received one share in the Company.
The amount of the stapling distribution had regard to: the funding requirements of the Company, funding requirements of the Joint
Venture with Babcock & Brown, the acquisition costs of the Company acquiring GPT RE Limited and Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty
Limited.

In conjunction with the stapling, the Company acquired GPT RE Limited to act as the responsible entity of the Trust pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement following GPT Management Limited being replaced by GPT RE Limited as the respensible entity of the Trust.

As a result of the stapling, investors in GPT will be entitled to receive distributions from each component of the stapled security
comprising distributions from the Trust and dividends from the Company.
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

File No 34819

Notes to Financial Statements

1.

()

i

{it)

fiii)

Summary of accounting poticies (continued)
Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries as at 31 December 2005 and the resuits of
all subsidiaries for the period then ended. The Company and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the
Company.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential vating rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls
another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred 1o the Company. They are de-consolidated from the
date that controf ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Company {refer to note 1(1)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between the Company entities are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the fransaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

Joint ventures

The Company's investments in joint venture entities are carried at cost and accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements. Under this method, the Company's share of the joint venture entities' net profit after tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, and the share of movement in reserves is recognised in reserves in the consofidated balance sheet.

Investments in joint venture entities held by the Company are camied at the lower of the equity accounted carrying amount and
recoverable amount.

All balances and effects of transactions between joint ventures and the Company have been eliminated.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not contrel, generally accompanying a shareholding of
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in assogiates are accounted for in the Company's financial statements using
the cost method and in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The Company’s investment in the associate
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

Under this method, the Company's share of the associate’s net profit after tax is recognised in the consolidated income statements, and
the share of movements in reserves is recognised in reserves in the consolidated balance sheets. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. Distributions and dividends receivable from associates are
recognised in the Company's income statements, while in the consofidated financial statements they represent a return of the
Company’s investrnent and reduce the carrying amount of the investment,

When the Company's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, it does not recognise any further losses, unless it has incurred cbligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Accounting policies of the associate have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Company.

All balances and effects of transactions between associates and the Company have been eliminated.
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controiled entities File 150 3y48§’9PTREL”thd
Notes to Financial Statements {continued)
1.  Summary of accounting policies (continued)

(d) Investment property

Expenses capitalised to properties may include the cost of acquisition, additions, refurbishments, redevelopments, borrowing costs and

fees incurred and are subsequently recorded af fair value at the next reporting date.

Property (including land and buitdings) held for long-term rentat yields and that is not occupied by an entity in the Company, is classified
as investment property. Investment properties owned by joint ventures and associates are not reflected since such vehicles are equity

accounted.

Investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset or where this is not available, an appropriate valuation methed which may include discounted cashflow
projections and the capitalisation method. The fair value reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of current markel conditions. It also reflects any cash outflows (excluding

those relating to future capital expenditure) that could be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's cantying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with

the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Land and buildings (including integral plant and equipment} that comprise investment property are not depreciated. The carrying amount

includes components relating to lease incentives and assets relating to fixed increases in operating lease rentals in future periods.

Changes in the fair value of an investment property are recorded in the income statement.

Some property investments are held in joint ownership arrangements (joint venture operations). The proportionate interests in the
assels, liabilittes and expenses of a joint venture operation have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate

headings.

Land held under an operating lease is classified and accounted for as investment property when the definition of investment property is

met

Investment property held for sale is classified within non-current asset held for sale, under AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and

Discontinued Operations.

(e) Lease Incentives

Incentives may be provided to lessees to enter into an operating lease. These incentives may be in the form of cash, rent free periods,
lessee or lessor owned fitouts. They are amortised over the term of the lease as a reduction of rental income. The carrying amount of the

lease incentives is reflected in the fair value of investment properties.

{fi Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short term money. highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of change in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the

balance sheet.

(9) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair vafue and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for doubtful debts.

Trade receivables are due to be paid in advance of the period that it relates, and no more than 30 days for other debtors.

Coliectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision
for doubtiul trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect ali amounts
due according to the original terms of the trade receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is

recognised in the income statement.
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities File No 34819

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

1.

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

(b} Inventories

(k)

"

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis of
weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company's share of the net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill acquired in business combinations is not
amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impaimment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it
might be impalred, and is carried st cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains or losses on disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity soid.

Investments and other financial agsets

Financlal assets are classified as loans and receivables - loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and arise when the Company provide money or services to a debtor with
no intention of selling the receivable.

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Under this method, fees, costs, discounts
and premiums directly related to the financial assets are spread over its expected life.

Property, plant & equipment

Office fixtures, fitlings and operating equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
direclly attributable to its acquisition. Cost may alse include transfers from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's camying amount or
recegnised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance coste are charged to the income
statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assels is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their expected useful lives, as foliows:

- Motor Vehicles 4~ 7 years
- Office fixtures, fitings and operating equipment 5~ 15 years

An asset's residual value and useful life is reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the income
statement.

Acquisition of assets

The purchase method of accounting is used fo account for all acquisition of assets (including business combinations) regardiess of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.

ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value
of the Company’s share of the net identifiable assets acquired represents goodwill (refer to Note 1(i}). if the cost of acquisition is less
than the fair vaiue of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement, but only
after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of net assets acquired.

Cost is measured as the fair value of the assetls given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus
costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Where seitfement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amount payable in the fulure is discounted to its present value as at
the date of exchange.
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

1.

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

{m) Income tax

(n)

(o)

(9]

The income tax expense and revenue for the reporting period is the tax payabie on the current period's taxable income based on the
national income lax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities atiributable to temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax
losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are
recovered or liabilities are settied, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The
relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax
asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business
combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred fax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and {ax bases of
investments in controfled entities where the Company is able to controt the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised indirectly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

The Company and its wholly owned Australian contreiled entities have not implemented the tax consolidation legistation.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement

over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the consolidated entity has unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Segment Reporting

A business segment is a group of assels and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a
particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided {o the consolidated entity prior to the end of the reporting period
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

1.

{o)
{i)

{ii)

(r)
(1

(1)

(i)

(iv)

(s)

®

Summary of accounting policies {continued)
Foreign currency
Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Company entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates (the functional cumrency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Australian Dolfars, which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of period-end exchange
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Transtation differences of non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of hisltorical cost are converted using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are fransiated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Exchange differences arising on monelary items that form part of the net investment in a foreign
operation are taken to the profit and loss in the Company and against a foreign currency translation reserve on consalidation.

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries. annual leave and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of
reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the
amounts to be expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumuliated sick leave are recognised when leave
is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.

Long service leave

The liahility for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected
future paymenis to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projecied unit credit
method. Consideration is given o expect future wage and salary levels, experience of empleoyee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to
maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Retirement benefit obligations

Alt employees of the Company are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death from the GPT Group Superannyation Plan. The
GPT Group Superannuation Plan has a defined contribution section within its plan. The defined contribution section receives fixed
contributions and the Company’s legal and constructive obligation is limited to these contributions. The employees of the Company are
all members of the defined centribution section of the GPT Group Superannuation Plan.

Contributions to the defined contribution fund are recognised as an expense as they become payable. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

Profit-shanng and bonus plans

The Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an ocutflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of the obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihcod of an outflow with respect to any one item in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Dividends

A provision for dividend for the amount of any dividend declared, determined or publicly recommended by the directors on or before the
end of the reporting period is recognised in the balance sheet in the reporting period in which the payment remains cutstanding.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

1.

CH

)

{w)

{x)

Summary of accounting policies {continued)

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Increase in costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, fram the
proceeds.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received ar receivable.

Dividend and distribution income is recognised when declared. The Company's share of net profits from joint venture entities is included
in the consclidated income staterment and has been separately disclosed. Revenue notl received at balance date is included as a
receivable in the balance sheet.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to securityholders of the Company, by the weighted average
number of ordinary securities (WANQOS') outstanding during the reporting period, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary securities
issued during the reporting period.

As there are no potential ordinary shares or securities, diluted eamings per secunty is the same as basic earnings per security.
Rounding of amounts

The financial report of the Company has been prepared in accordance with Class Order 98/0100 issued by the Australian Securities &

investments Commission, relating to the 'rounding off of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been
rounded off in accordance to the Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

29




GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

2, Dividends paid and payable to sharehclders

No dividends have been paid or declared for the reporting period.
3. Expenses

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation
- Plant and equipment

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Audit services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit work under the Carporations
Act 2001

Other Assurance Services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm

Audit of regulatory returns

Total remuneration for other assurance services

Consolidated
31 Dec 20605
$'600

569
869

3,842

154,668

8,140
8,140

;’9” L RE Limiteg

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$'000

141
141

849

39,623
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

4. income tax benefit
{a) Income tax benefit

Current tax
Deferred tax

{b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable
Loss before income benefit
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%

Tax effect of amounis which are permanent differences in calculating taxable
income:

- Overhead costs

- Impairment of investment in joint venture

- Share of net profits of associate and joint venture accounted for using the equity method
- Distribution from joint venture

Difference in overseas tax rates
Income tax benefit

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$'000

(6.977)
7423
446

{22,683)
8,805

(327)
(12,698)
8.738

518

(72)
446

File No 34819

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$'000

(4,317)
5187
870

(29,573)
8,872

(359)
(12,698)
5127

942

(72)
870
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GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand

Cash at bank and on hand

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$°000

34,337

File No 34819

~ parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$'000

14,811

Cash ail bank is at floating interest rates between 2.55% and 5.2%. These batances are at call. Cash on hand is non interest bearing.

€. Receivables

Trade receivables

Provigion for doubtful receivables
Dividend receivable from joint venture
Other debtors

Prepayments

7. [Inventories

General supplies - at cost
Food and beverage - at cost
Retail - at cost

Other - at cost

There have been no wiite-downs of inventories to net realisable value during the
reporting period.

8. investments in controlled entitles
GPT RE Limited

DPT Operator Pty Limited
Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited

28,288
(495)
17,089
6.141
1.436
52.459

985
2,296
3,248
2,562
9,089

8,634

17,089
56

580
26,369

10,000
200
4,351
14,551
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Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

9. Investment in joint venture

European Investments
- BGP Investment S.a.r.l.

(a) Joint venture

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$°000

134,880
134.880

File No 34819

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$’'000

127,135
127135

The Company has entered into a joint venture with Babcock & Brown to identify and invest in real estate opportunities which offer superior
risk adjusted returns, and establish and manage third party funds. The Company has a 50% participating interest in a new global property
vehicle domiciled in Luxembourg, with an initial focus on Europe but encompassing other markets. lts key activities will inciude selective
investment, active portfolic management, investment in development projects and property funds management. On 31 December 2008, the
Company invested in BGP lnvestment S.a.rl with equity of $97.6 million, with the joint venlure having investments in seven seed assets
located in Germany and the Czech Republic. Since entering into the joint venture the Company has made further investments of $49.3
miltion and $22.4 million for the additional investment in real estate opportunities. The Company’s interests in the assets employed in the
joint venture are included in the consolidated balance sheets, in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1{c), under the

following classifications:

Share of joint venture assets and liabilities
Current assets

Non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Tatal Habilities

Net agsets

Share of joint venture revenue, expenses and results
Revenue

Expenses

Profit before income tax

Share of joint venture commitments
Lease commitments

Cansolidated
31 Dec 2005
$'600

221,800
936,793
1,158,593

141,878
881,835
1,023,713

134,830

127,567

(122,195)
5,372

27,842
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10.

Information relating to associates is set out below:

Investment in associates

Name of entity

Uniisted
Holding Investment Property

Kings Canyon (Watarrka) Resort Trust

Ownership
Interest

2005
%

48

Consolidated
31 Dec 2006
2000

7,637

File No 34819

Parent entity
31 Dec 2006
$'000

The associate’s principal activity is managing the botel resort and is incorporated in Australia with a reporting period of 30 June.

{b) Movements in carrying amounts

Carrying amount at the beginning of the reporting period

Acquisttion of asscciate
Share of profits after income tax

Carrying amount at the end of the reporting pericd

(c¢) Share of associate’s profits or losses

Profit before income tax
Income {ax expense
Profit after income tax

(d) Summarised financial information of associates

31 December 2005

Kings Canyon (Watarrka) Resort Trust

{e) Share of associate's expenditure commitments

There are no capital commitments for associate.

11.

Other financial assets

Loan to related party

General Property Trust

7.294
343
7,637

490
{147}

343

The Company’s share of:

Assets Liabilities  Revenues Profit
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
10,577 3,283 3,238 343
Consolidated Parent entity

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2006
$'000 $'000
110,485 110,485
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Office
fixtures,
Computers fittings Total

$'000 $°000 $'000
12. Non-current assets - Property, plant and equipment
Consolidated
Period ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount - - -
Acquisition of controlfed entity 1,580 7,225 8,815
Additions 1,407 1,622 3,029
Disposals - (160) {180)
Transfer from investment properties - - -
Transfer from assels held for sale - - -
Transfer from investment in associates - - -
Revaluations - - -
Depreciation charge {155) (514) {689)
Closing carrying value 2,842 8,173 11,015
At 31 December 2005
- Cost 2,997 8,687 11,684
- Accumulated depreciation {155) (514) (6689
Net book amount 2,842 8173 11,015
Parent
Period ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount - - -
Additions 1,357 1,084 2,441
Disposals - - -
Transfer from/(to) investment properties - - -
Transfer from/(to) assets held for sale - - -
Transfer from investment in associates - - -
Revaluations - - ~
Depreciation charge {1058) (36) {141}
Clasing carmrying value 1,252 1,048 2,300
At 31 December 2005
- Cost 1,357 1,084 2,441
- Accumulated depreciation (105) {36) {141)
Net book amount 1252 1,048 2,300
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»

13. Intangible assets

Period ended 31 December 2005
Opening net book amount
Acquisition of subsidiary

Closing carrying value

At 31 Decembher 2005
- Cost or fair value
- Impairment

Net book amount

Consolidated
Goodwill*
$'000

1,278
7,278

7,278

7,278

Fae N0 2461y

Parent
Goodwill*
$'000

Goodwill was recognised when the Company gained control over Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited an 30 June 2005. Goodwilt was
calculated as the difference between the consideration paid to date and the fair value of assets as at the date of control.

14. Deferred tax asset

The balance comprises temporary differences aftributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
- Doubtful debts

- Employee benefits

- Meals and entertainment

- Overhead costs

- Depreciation and amortisation
- Other accruals

- Other provisions

Net deferred tax assets

Movements:

Opening balance at 22 April 2005
Credited to the income statement
Transfer of employee leave balances
Acquigition of subsidiary

Closing batance at 31 December 2005

Consolidated

31 Dec

2005
$°000

25
2921

489
142
3663
178
7.423

4,592

808
2,023
7,423

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$'000

4,378
808

5,187

36




GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)

16. Payables

Current

Trade payables and accruals
Cther payables

Current tax liability

Loans from controlled entities

Non-Current
Loans from related party

16. Provisions

Current
Employee benefits
Other provisions

Non-Current
Employee benefits

17. Deferred tax labilities
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
- Inventories

- Depreciation

Net deferred tax assets

Movements:

Opening balance at 22 April 2005
Credited to the income statement
Acquisition of subsidiary

Closing balance at 31 December 2005

Lomipdlly - Ul RE LIAUES

File No 34819

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$'000

43,782
3804

47,388

28,420

28,420

7.388
5022
12,410

3.531
3,531

116
g5
{77)

77}
288
211

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$°'000

12,408
2,231
3.508
2,830

20,887

2,885
825

3,720

2,318
2,318
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Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
Shares
$'000
18. Contributed equity

lssued shares (fully paid) 2,016,718,610 shares 302,508

Movements in ordinary share capital:
Date Details Notes Number of shares $'000
22 April 2005 Proceeds from the issue of shares {it) 2.016,716,610 302,508
31 December 2005 2,016,716,610 302,508

(iy Ordinary shares
Crdinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dlstnbutxons and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the
number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll
each unit is entitled to one vote. The issued ordinary shares have no par value as at 31 December 2005.

(it} fssue of shares
On 6 June 2005, General Property Trust unitholders received 15 cents per unit capital distribution of $302.5 million, referred to as the
stapling distribution. Unitholders authorised GPT RE Limited {the new responsible entity for the Trust) to apply the stapling distribution to
subseribe for shares in the Company of $302.5 million. For each unit held in the Trust unitholders received one share in the Company.
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19. Reserves and retained profits

(a) Reserves

Foreign currency transiation reserve
Movements

Balance 22 April 2005

Currency translation differences arising during the period
Balance 31 December 2005

(b) Refained profits

Movements in retained profits were as follows:
Balance 22 April 2005

Net profit for the period

Balance 31 December 2005

{c) Nature and purpose of reserves

File No 34819

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$'000

2,374

2,374
2,374

(22,237)
{22,237)

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$'000

(28,703)
(28.703)

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlied entity are taken 1o the foreign currency transiation reserve, as described

in note 1(q). The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed.
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20. Key Management Personnel

(a) Directors

tie No 34819

The directors of GPT Management Holdings Limited at any time during or since the end of the reporting period are:

(i) Chairman - non-executive
Peter Joseph (Chairman) (appointed 22 April 2005)

{i) Non-executive directors

Malcoim Latham {appointed 22 April 2005)
lan Martin {appointed 2 June 2005)
Brian Norris {appointed 2 June 2005)
Eric Goodwin {appointed 2 June 2005)
Ken Moss {appointed 22 April 2005)
Elizabeth Nosworthy (appointed 2 June 2005)

(i}  Executive director

Nic Lyons (appointed 2 June 2005)

(b} Other Key Management Personnel

In addition to the directors noted above, the following persons were the Key Management Personnel with the greatest authority for the

strategic direction and management of the consolidated enlity or the most highly remunerated executives during the financial year:

Name Position

Michael O‘Brien Chief Operating Officer

Kieran Pryke Chief Financial Officer

James Coyne General Counsel and Secretary
Mark Fookes General Manager Retait Portfolio
Neil Tobin General Manager Joint Venture
Bruce Morris Hotels & Tourism Portfolio Manager

{c} Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Employer

GPT Management Holdings Limited
GPT Management Holdings Limited
GPT Management Holdings Limited
GPT Management Holdings Limited
GPT Management Holdings Lirnited
GPT Management Holdings Limited

The following table sets out the compensation for key management personnel in aggregate. Refer to the remuneration report in the
Directers' Report for details of remuneration policy and compensation details by individual.

Short term employee benefits
Post employment benefits
Other Long term benefits
Termination benefits

Share based payments

31 Dec 2005 31 Dec 2004 31 Dec 200831 Dec 2004

$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
5,961 2,608 5,961 2,605
392 133 392 133
1,888 292 1,886 292
21 42 2 42
8,280 3,072 8,260 3,072
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20. Key Management Personnel {continued)

(d} Equity holdings of Key Management Personnel

The following table seis out the equity holdings for key management personnel in aggregate.

As at As at
1 Jan 2005 Purchase Sales 31 Dec 2005

Key Management Personnel
Peter Joseph 50,000 - - 50,000
Malcolm Latham 13,185 - - 13,195
Ken Moss 25,000 - - 25,000
Brian Norris 4,097 - - 4.097
Elizabeth Nosworthy 5.000 - - 5,000
Eric Goodwin - 10,000 - 10,000
Nic Lyons - CEO - 50,000 - 50,000
Michael O'Brien - FM - - - -
James Coyne - CS - - - -
Kieran Pryke - CFO 53 5,000 - 5,053
Neil Tobin - 5,000 - 5,000
Bruce Morris - - - -
Mark Fookes - 3,500 - 3,500
{an Martin - 50,000 - 50,000
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21. Commitments

Expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

Payable:
Within one year

Later than one year but not later than five years

Later than five years

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$'0600

44,163
110,356
53,235

207,753

Company - GPT RE Limited
File No 34819

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$°000

2,417
8,114

10,631

Of the total operating lease commitments, $55.6 million relates to an operating lease with SEA Island Holdings for the use of Lizard Island,
The calculation is based on the current monthly rental. The rentat payment increases every 2 years by the rate of CPl in Brishane, which
has not been reflected in the above disclosure. This operating lease also requires the payment of 10% of all beverages scld and 20% of all
accommodation and meal revenue to SEA Island Holdings, payable on a half yearly basis. These amounts have not been included in the

$55.6 million commitrnent.

Babcock & Brown venture

The above commitments include capital expenditure commitments of $27,800,000 relating to the Babcock & Brewn Venture {refer to note 9.

22. Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the

accounting policy described in note 1{c):

Name of entity

Controlled entities

GPT RE Limited

GPT Property Finance Pty Limited
GPT Malta 1 Limited

- GPT Malta 2 Limited

- GPT Europe S.arli.

DPT Operator Pty Limited

Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited
- Voyages Lodges Pty Limited

- Silky Oaks Pty Limited

- Bedarra Hideaway Pty Limited

- Bedarra Isfand Pty Limited

- Dunkistand Pty Limited

- Lizard Island Pty Limited

- Heron istand Pty Limited

- Brampton Island Pty Limiled

- Wrotham Park Lodge Pty Limited

*»

Country of
incorporation

Australia
Australia
Malta
Malta
Luxembourg
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austratia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

The proporticn of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.

Class of shares

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Equity holding *
2008
%

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

42




GPT Management Holdings Limited and its controlled entities

Notes to Financial Statements {continued)
23. Related party fransactions
(a) Parent entity
GPT Management Holdings Limited ('the Company’) is the ultimate Australian parent entity.
{b) Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Assaociates

Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set out in notes 8, 9 and 10 respectively. Loans with subsidiaries are set cut
in notes 11

{c) key Management Personnel

Key management personne! and their compensation is set out in note 25. Details of the remuneration policy are contained in the
remuneration report within the Directors’ Report.

Included in the note 20(c} in other key management personnel is Elizabeth Nosworthy and lan Martin who are directors of Babcock &
Brown, with whom GPT have a joint venture arrangement. The remuneration they received was transacted at arm’s length. Refer to the
remuneration report in the Directors’ report for compensation details.

{d) Transactions with related parties

Transactions with Subsidiaries

Consolidated Parent entity

31 Dec 20605 31 Dec 2005

$°000 $'000

Loan advanced to the Trust (302,508) {302,508)

Loan repayments from the Trust 192,623 192,023

Loan advanced from subsidiary - 3,000

Loan repayments to subsidiary - (150)

Overhead revenue received from subsidiary 1,387 1,387
Transactions with joint venture and associate

Investment in Euro JV BGP Investment S.a.rl {163,534) {163,534)

Dislributions from joint venture 17,088 17,089

Distributions from associate 343 343

{e) Terms and conditions
Transactions relating to distributions were on the same terms and conditions that applied to other sharehoiders.

The loan receivable from the related party aitracts interest at the rate of 6.83% per annum with no fixed term for the repayment of the
loan between the parties. The loan payable to a refated party altracts interest of 7.65% per annum. The loan is repayabie on demand but
it is not expected to be recalied.

OQutstanding balances are unsecured and are repayable in cash and cailable on demand.
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24, Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

Loss for the reporting period

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Costs associated with internalisation
Impairment of investment in joint venture
Share of net profits of associate and joint venture accounted for using the equity method
Distributions from joint venture

Foreign exchange loss

Overhead recharges

Interest on related party loan

Increase in receivables

Increase in payables

Net cash inflow from operating activities

28. Business Combination

(a) Summary of acquisition

Consolidated
31 Dec 2005
$'000

(22,237)
669
4,851
42,325
(22,461)
3,180
(1,387)
(5,077)
(38,053)

Company - GPT RE Limited

File No 34819

41,800

3,610

Parent entity
31 Dec 2005
$'000

(23,331
141
4 851
42325
(5.372)
(17,089)
3.180
(1,387)
(5.077)
(8,535)
18,250
7,956

On 20 June 2005 the Company acquired 100% of the issued capital of Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited and its controfled entities

(Voyages Group).

The acquired business contributes revenues of 31258956879 and a net profit of $812,985 to the consolidated entity for the period 1 July

2005 to 31 December 2005,

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration
Fair vaiue of net identifiable assats
Goodwill

{b) Assets and liabilities acquired

Cash

Trade receivables

nventory

Prepayments

Investments

Plant and equipment

Deferred tax asset

intangible assets

Trade creditors and accruals
Provisions

Loan

Provision for employee benefits
Net identifiable liabilities acquired

$'000
4,351
(2,927)
7,278

Acquiree’s

Carrying
amount Fair value
$'000 $'000
10,150 10,150
11,296 11,286
8,265 8,265
3,535 3,535
7.293 7,283
8,815 8,815
3,906 3,806
1,673 1.673
{29,072} (29,072)
(4,252) {4,252)
(21,420) {21,420)
(1,116) {1,118)
(2.927) (2,927)

The goodwill is attributable to operating lease rental of the hotels the Voyages Group manages being paid to a related party within the GPT

Group.
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26. Deed of cross guarantee

The Company's subsidiary Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with its subsidiaries
Voyages Lodges Pty Limited, Heron Island Pty Limited, Silky Oaks Pty Limited, Voyages Mountain & Marine Pty Limited, Dunk Island
Pty Limited, Bedarra Island Pty Limited, Bedarra Hideaway Pty Limited, Brampton Island Pty Limited, Lizard Island Pty Limited and
Wrotham Park Station Pty Limited parties under which each company guarantees the debts of the cthers. By entering into the deed, the
wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under Class Crder
98/1418 (as amended by Class orders 98/2017, 00/0321, 01/1087, 02/0248 and 02/1017) issued by the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission.

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purpose of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to the Deed of
Guarantee that are controlled by Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’. The following
entities controlled by Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited are not parties to the deed of cross guarantee and are dormant; Voyages
Pty Limited, Destinations & Voyages Travel Pty Limited and Australian Resorts Pty Limited. The Mutitiulu Foundation Limited has no net
assets, or profit and loss transactions for the period ending 31 December 2005.

Even though these entities are excluded from the deed of cross guarantee, the income statements, balance sheet and cash flow

statements of the 'Closed Group’ are the same as the Voyages Hotels & Resorts Pty Limited consclidated entity’ as disclosed in their 30
June 20085 financial report.
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26. Deed of cross guarantee (continued)

Set out below is a condensed consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits for the
reporting period ended 31 December 2005 of the Closed Group consisting of Voyages Hotels & Resoris Ply Limited, Voyages Lodges
Pty Limited, Heron Island Pty Limited, Sitky Oaks Pty Limited, Voyages Mountain & Marine Pty Limited, Dunk Island Pty Limited, Bedarra
Island Pty Limited, Bedarra Hideaway Pty Limited, Brampton Istand Pty Limited, Lizard Island Pty Limited and Wrotham Park Station Pty

Limited.
Consolidated
For the period 1 July to
31 Dec 2005
$'000
{a} Condensed consclidated income statement and a summary of movements in consclidated retained
profits
Condensed income statement
Profit before income tax 1173
Income tax expense (360)
Profit for the reporting period 813
Summary of movements in consolidated retained profits
Retained profits at the beginning of the reporting period -
Profit for the period 813
Retained profits at the end of the reporting period 813
(b) Condensed balance sheet
31 Dec 2005
Current assets
Casgh and cash equivalents 11,769
Receivables 26,053
Inventories 9,089
Total current assets 46,811
Non-current assets
lnvestments in controlled entities 7,837
Property, plant and equipment 8,304
Deferred tax assets 2,467
Total non-current assets 18,408
Total assets 85,319
Current liabilities
Payables 33,084
Provisions 4,601
Total current liabilities 37,685
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities 28,420
Provisions 1.215
Total non-current liabilities 28,635
Net (liabilities) (2.011)
Equity
Contributed equity 8,000
Reserves {10,011}
Total equity (2011
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27. Earnings per share
(a} Basic earnings per share

Net operating income including book profits divided by weighted average number of units

Weighted average number of ordinary units on issue during the reporting period used in the
caleulation of basic eamings per unit - (thousands)

{b) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic
earnings per share - (thousands)

Adjustments for calculation of diluted eamings per share:
lssued capital

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the
denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share ~ (thousands)

e A ML L LHICU

File No 34819

Consolidated
31 Det 2005
Cents

14.7

151,250

2,016,610

2016810
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28.

{®)

{c)

Financial risk management

Market risk

Foreign exchenge risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Company cperates internationally and is exposed ta foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures to the Euro.

Price risk
The Company is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Company and classified on the
balance sheet either as available-for-sale or at fair vaiue through profit or loss. The Company is not exposed to commodity price risk.

Fair value interest rate risk
Refer to note (d) below.

Credit risk

The Company has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to cusiocmers with an appropriate credit
history. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The Company has policies
that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution.

Liquidity risk

Prudent fiquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underying
businesses, Group Treasury aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping commitied credit lines available.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Company has no significant inferest-bearing assets, the Company's income and operating cash flows are substantiaily
independent of changes in market interest rates.
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28.

(a)

{i

(i)

(i)

(b)

()

(i)

Segment information

Description of segments

Business segments

The consolidated entity is organised on a global basis info the following divisions by product and service type.

Corporate office
The corporate office consists of different departments who manage assets for the GPT Group.

Hotel & Tourism
The hotel and tourism portfolic provides investment exposure to the Australian tourism sector and particularly the international visitor
market.

Joint venture
Comprises operations carried on in Germany, Czechoslovakia and italy. The retail and industrial pertfolios operate in these countries.

Geographical segments
Although the consolidated entity’s divisions are managed on a global basis they operate in two main geographical areas:

Austratia
The home country of the Company is alse the main operating entity.

Europe
Comprises operations carried on in Germany, Czechoslovakia and italy. The retail and industrial portfolios operate in these countries.
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29. Segment information {continved)

Primary reporting format - business segments

31 December 2005

Management fees
Revenue from hotel operations

Share of net profits of associate and joint venture
accounted for using the equity method

Interest - Cash and loans
Other income
Total segment revenue/income

Segment resuit

Impairment of investment in joint venture
Profit before income tax

Tax expense

Net profit for the period

Segment assets
Unalfocated assets
Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

Investments in associates and joint venture parinership
Acquisitions of property, pfant and equipment
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Notes to and forming part of the segment information

Accounting policies

ety dhane® BN NE AR A S SR 20 SV VR LAY

File No 34819
Corporate Hotel and Joint

Office Tourism Venture Consolidated
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
20,359 - - 20,359
- 125,340 - 125,340
- 343 22,461 22,804
5,357 213 - 5,570
2,567 - - 2.567
28,283 125,886 22,461 176,840
{3.992) 1,173 22.461 18,642
- - (42,325) (42,325)
{3.992) 1.173 (19,864) (22,683)
807 {361) - 446
(3.185) 812 {19,864) (22,237)
176,015 83,708 134,880 374,603
176,015 83,708 134,880 374,603
26,138 85,822 - 91,958
26,138 85,822 - 91,858
- 7,637 134,880 142 517
2,441 9,243 - 11,684
141 885 - 1.106

Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies of the entity as disclosed in note 1 and accounting standard AASS

114 Segment Reporting.

Segment revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are those that are directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion that can be
aliocated to the segment on a reasonable basis. Segment assets inciude all assets used by a segment and consist primarily of operating
cash, receivables, inventories, property, plant and equipment and goodwill and other intangible assets. net of related provisions. While most
of these asseis can be directly attributable to individual segments, the carrying amounts of certain assets used jointly by segmenis are
allocated based on reasonable estimates of usage. Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other crediters, employee benefits and

provision for service warranties. Segment assets and liabilities do not include income taxes.

30. Contingencies note
There are no contingencies at balance date.
31. Events occurring after balance date

There are no significant evenis occurring after balance date.
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Directors’ Declaration
In the directors’ opinion:
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 19 10 50 are in accordance with the Corporations Acl 2007, including:
(i) complying with the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2007 and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements; and
(if) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2005 and of its
performance, as represented by the results of their operations, changes in equity and their cashflows, for the financlal
period ended on that date; and
{b) there are reasonable grounds io believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

{c} the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 6 to 16 of the Direclors' Report comply with Accounting Standards AASB 124
Releted Party Disclosures and Class Order 06/50 issued by the Australian Securities and investments Commission; and

The direclors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financlal officer required by Section 285A of the
Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with the resolution of the directors.

peler 335@/ 4 Nic Lyon
Director Direstor  \

GPT Management Holdings Limited

Sydney
23 February 2008
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Independent audit report to the shareholders of GPO BOX 2650
SYDNEY NSW 1171
GPT Management Holdings Limited DX 77 Sydney

Www.pwc.com/au
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000
Facsimile +51 2 8266 9999

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited
financial report

This audit report relates fo the financial report and remuneration disclosures of GPT Management
Holdings Limited (the company} and the GPT Management Holdings Group {defined below) for the
financial period ended 31 December 2005 included on the company's web site. The company’s
directors are responsible for the integrity of the company's web site. We have not been engaged to
report on the integrity of this web site. The audit report refers only {o the financial report and
remuneration disciosures identified below. It does not provide an opinion on any other information
which may have been hyperlinked toffrom the financiat report or the remuneration disclosures. f
users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from efactronic data
communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial report and
remuneration disclosures to confirm the information included in the audited financial report and
remuneration disclosures presented on this web site.

Audit opinion
In our opinion:
1. the financial report of GPT Management Heldings Limited:

. gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the
financial position of GPT Management Holdings Limited and the GPT Management
Holdings Group (defined below) as at 31 December 2005, and of {heir performance for
the period ended on that date, and

. is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations
Regulations 2007;and

2. the remuneration disclosures that are contained in pages 6 to 18 of the directors’ report
comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Relafed Parly Disclosures (AASB 124) and Class
Order 06/50 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report.

Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosures and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statements,
statement of changes in equity, accompanying noles to the financial statements, and the directors’
declaration for both GPT Management Holdings Limited (the company) and the GPT Management
Haldings Group (the consolidated entity) for the period ended 31 December 2005. The
consolidatad entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that period.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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The company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and executives
{remuneration disclosures) as required by AASB 124, under the heading “remuneration report” on
pages & to 16 of the directors’ report, as permitted by Class Order 06/50.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of
the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for
the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent
and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the
financial report. The directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contzined in
the directors’ report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the
company. Cur audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to
provide reasonable assurance as {o whether the financial report is free of material misstalement
and the remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and Class Order 06/50. The nature of an
audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the
inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive
evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have been
detected. For further explanation of an audit, visit our website

hitp:/fwww pwe comfaul/financiaistatementaudit,

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory
financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of
the company and the consolidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as
represented by the resulfs of their operations and cash flows. We alse performed procadures to
assess whether the remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and Class Order 08/50.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

. examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosuras in the financial report and remuneration disclosures, and

. assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.

While we considered the effectiveness of management's internal controls aver financial reporting
when defermining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurance on internal controls.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or
management.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence reguirements of Austratian
professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2007,

ﬁlwmw

PricewaterhouseCoopers

RD Deutsch Sydrey
Partner 23 February 2008




The GPT Group
ASX Announcement & Media Release

GPT ANNOUNCES CONDITIONAL ACQUISITION OF

AN INTEREST IN HIGHPOINT
SHOPPING CENTRE

17 February 2006

GPT today announced the exchange of confracts for the purchase of a 50% interest in
Highpoint Shopping Centre, Melbourne, one of Australia’s leading regional retail centres. GPT
has also exchanged contracts to acquire the management rights to the Centre. The transaction
will compiete if Myer Limited (ACN 004 143 238) does not exercise any right of first refusal over
the 50% interest (“Condition”).

GPT has the capacity to fund the acquisition, which will be neutral in terms of GPT’s current

distribution forecasts, through existing debt facilities.

Further information regarding the terms of this acquisition will be provided after the Condition is

satisfied.

ENDS

For further information please contact:

Nic Lyons Donna Byrne

Chief Executive Officer Head of Investor Relations
0401 719 898 & Corporate Affairs

0401 711 542




